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27117~

27122 % Opening Statement of Mr Freemam.

Exhibit Ne.l5, Treaties Governing lamd iarfare. Frem the
Hague Convention of 1907 it was stated that the govermment which has
the prisoners of war is charged with their maintemance. Iam the
27123 absence of a special agreement between * belligerents, POW's shall
be treated as regards beard, leding and clothing, on the same foot-
ing as the troeops of the government which captured them,

27124 From the Geneva Conventiom * it was stated that POWS shall
be ledged im buildings or barracks with all pessible guarantees of
hygiene and healthfulness. Juarters must be protected from dampness,
sufficiently heated and lighted. All precautions must be taken
against fire, 4&s te dormitories, the total surface minimum cubic
amount of air, arrangement and material of bedding shall be the same
as fer troops at base camps of the detaining power. The food ratiom
shall be equal in quamtity and quality te that of troops at base camps.
Prisoners shall receive facilities for preparing additional foed which
they might have, A sufficiency of potable water shall be furnished.
Use of tobacco Shall be permitted. Friseners may be employed in
kitchens. &ll cellective disciplinary measures affecting foeod are
prohibited,

Clething,linen and footwear to be furnished by the detain-
ing pewer. Replacement and repairing must be assured regularly.
Laborers must receive werk clethes as required. Canteens shall be
installed in all camps where prisoners may obtain at local market
price food preducts and erdimary sbjects.

The centracting parties recegnized that the regular
applicatiem will find a guaranty in the possibility ef cellabeora-
tien of the pretecting pewers; the protecting peswers may besides
their diplematic persennel appaint delegates from among its ewn nat-
jenals or from matisnals ef other mewtral pewers, who must be sub-
ject to the approval ef the belligerent near where they exercise
their mission.

Representatives of the pretecting pewer or its accepted
delegate shall have access to places occupied by POWS and may
interview them, generally without witnesses, persenally er through
interpreters,
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27126 #The convention is te become effective six months after

the deposit of at least two instruments of ratificatien and shall
become effective for each contracting party six months after the
deposit of its instrument of ratification. Frem the date it be-

comes effective 1t shall be open for adherences by any country whe
did net sign the conventien,

ndherence shall be given by written netification address-
ed to the Swiss Federal Council and shall take effect six menths
after the date of their receipt. The Swiss Federal Ceuncil shall
communicate adherences to the governments of all cesuntries en

whose behalf the convention was signed eor netification of adher-
ence made, ‘

# state of war shall give immediate effect to ratifica-
tions deposited and te adherences netified by belligerent powers
prier te or after the outbreak of hostilities; cemmunication ef
ratification er adherences received frem pewers at war shall be
made by the Swiss Federal Ceuncil by the msst rapid methed,

Exhibit 1490, agreement of Japan, stated that Japan
. strictly obse ves the Leneva Cenvention of July 27 1929 relative
te the “ed Cress, but did net yet ratify the cenventien relating
te treatment of prisoners of war of July 27, 1929, It is there-

fere not beund by the said cenventiem but will apply mutatis

gutandis the previsions ef the cenvention te U.S. POWS in its
pewer,

Exhibit 1496 stated that it would apply mutatis
nutandis the provisions of the Geneva Convention to British,
Canadian and #“ustralian POWS umnder its control.

Exhibit 1471, statement of living conditions in Japanm

27128 as against those in america stated ®# that the Foreign Ministry assur-

ed that Japan would do all in its power to extend good treatment

but it could not offer a standard of living equal to that of the

U.9., because conditions were so different. Japanese people are

poor and contented with little which glves rise to difficulties

concerning treatment of foreign internees. Non-interned Americans'
situation good according to their own statement.
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page 4169

Direct Examination of MATSUMOTO,Shun-Ichi
by Kr.Freeman,

* The witness identified Exhibit 3039 as his affidavit
and verified it. The affidavit stated ¥ that the witness was
employed in the office of the Director of the Bureau of Treaties
from Sept 1940 to Uct 1942, After the Pacific war broke out,
matters concerning POWS as well as civilians held in the theatre
of operations were under the control and charge of the Army and
Navy; civilians of enemy countries interned in Japan were under
that of the Home Ministry, and those in overseas territories,
were under the kinistry of Overseas affairs, In this connection
lirison business with foreign countries transacted through the

Foreign Ministry was carried out chiefly by the Bureuu of Treaties
until Nov 1 1942,

When war broke out, TOGO expressed to the foreign Min-
istry his hope that civilian internees and prisoners of war might
be treated with humanity and lenience. Pointing out the possible
fate of several hundred thousand Yapanese in enemy countries would

be affected by treatment in Japan of POWS he urged them to take
all possible steps for realizing his hopes., They transacted
business as he wished in their contact with officials of other
government offices concerned,

Om Dec. 27,1941 % the United States addressed an inquiry
through the Minister of Switzerland to the Japanese Government re-
garding the Treaty of 1929 for treatment of priscners of war.

The United States being a signatory inquired whethe: the Uspamese
Government intended to abide by the convention during the war
despite it not having ratified it, Japan had been a signatory
to the Hague Convention. That had in the appendix seventeen
stipulations regarding POWS. In accordance with TOGO's opinion
that Japan should out of humanitarianism, abide by the Gensva
Convention which expressed in fullest detail the stipulations of
the Hague Convention, to the maximum extent that circumstances
permitted, the witness discussed the matter with UEMURA, director
of the PON Information Dureau, and other army and mavy officers.
¥ As a result a reply was made to the U.S, in accordance with the
answer of the war kinistry that although Japan had not ratified
the conventiom and was not bourd by it, she would apply it
mutatis mutandis with regard to American POWS,
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27139 CROSS- EXAMINATION BY TIIE TRIBUNAL

under the jurisdiction

d, from the standpoint
rmosa were under the
er his ministrye.

atated that internees were
was concerne

in Korea and FO
nistration was und

The witness
of the Home Minister, SO far as Japan
of police control. Foreign internees

27140 * overseas Minister, pecause such admi

According to Japanese law, POWS in Japan proper were under the
war Minister's juriadiction. and civilian internees and PO'/s in panchuria

' pere under the ranchukuo government jurisdiction. POY in overseas
countries like Formosa were under the jurisdiction of the military there,

and consequently were under the var Ministry.

Af ter November, 1942, matters relating to POvs and internces
were handled within the Foreign office by the office handling matters
relating to foreign reaidents with the protecting powers. LY relations
between the provisi d those of the Geneva convention,

ons of domestic law an
% the witness neant that when the question arose in Jopan as to the

tein aspects to Japanese

27141
Convention's ratification, it was found. that cer
1aw would have 1O be revised, else it would be impossible to ratify the
conventione.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FREEMAN .
27142 # The witness stated that the jlome Minister was in control of
the police for Japan propers and POWs were under the jurisdiction of the
per was in the

' ylar Minister. Jurisdiction over the Kempeitai in Japan pro
var Minister's nands, but the witness did not kmow concerning jurisdiction

in outside territories.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF KUDO, TADAO,
By W. Frceman.

* The witness stated that he lived in Kamakura, and identified
exhibit No. 3040 as his affidavit, and verified it. The affidavit stated
that the witness was Chief of the Third Section of the Treaty pureau,

from January 8 to october 31, 1942. The section was concerned chiefly

with the business of international cooperation, including conferences,
treaties, etc. Vhen he was Section Chief, contact of the Foreigmn
Ministry with foreign countries in connection with PO

WS and internees
was transacted chiefly in his section. It was his superior's desire
that PO

Ws be treated as leniently as possible to lessen their diffi-
culties, to say nothing of the observance of treaties to which Japan
was a party. Foreign Ministry officials, although without authority,
actually, to deal with the matters, exerted efforts to realize the
desires of the Foreign Minister and other superiors.

The Ministry received inquiries and protests from Switzerland
or Argentina acting for the U. S. or Britain in connection with poyw
treatment, * and these representations were sent to the authorities
without delay, and on receipt of the information from them never
failed to transmit them to the countries concerned. When the witness
vas in charge of these matters, treatment was good, often ideal, and
few camplaints or protests were received. This was probably due to the
war being in its earlier stages, and food and clothing were substantial.
As to POV treatment in occupied territory, some protests were received,
but replies came from authorities concerned to the effect that fair and
equitable treatment was given, and the Foreign Qffice having no means
of investigating, they could only believe the reports.

They endeavored earnestly and sincerely to lessen the diffi-
culties of POWs as far as possible, and incidents dealt with by the
Ministry when the witness was in the Treaty Bureau * was a request of
the International Red Cross Committee in the middle of February, 1942,
that its delegates be allowed to visit internment camps. The Treaty
Bureau conveyed the request to the war Minister and others, and as a
repult the visits were allowed. The witness listed eleven visits, four
10 camps for POWs and seven to camps for civilian internees.

* The witness recalled also that Swias representatives visited
camps occasionally, although he did not remember details. The above list
was of visits during his time, but he understood that other Red Croass,
as well as protective powers, made visits from time to time thereafter.
The Railway Ministry issued free tickets and other facilities to Red
Cross delegates, in accordance with the Foreign Ministry's request.
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Visits to internment camps in occupied territories were not
permitted by the military while the witness was in office, for these
regions constituted an operational theatre. The Ministry requested the
authorities concerned to be as lenient as possible in POW treatment
in Japan proper, and were always told that treatment was good and equit-
able. * Red Cross delegates, after visits in the camps mentioned,
reported conditions good, favorable, or excellent.

TOGO informed the Swiss Minister of the food ration supplied
to the internees in Japan on February 13, 1942, to show internees were
receiving better food than the Japanese generally. It was a statement
regarding present conditions, and not a future commitment. Regarding
POY treatment in occupied territory, the Ministry had little knowledge.

“when an inquiry or protest was recceived, it was sent without
delay to the authorities concerned asking for necessary information,
and on receipt of the reply it was sent to the countries concerned.
The witness recalled that communications of this nature were made on
POY conditions in Guam, Wake Island, and the Philippines. #* Informa-
tion received was promptly transmitted to the countries concerned.

The Ministry, without means of investigation, had to rely upon such
information, and could do nothing further than to draw attention to
the authorities to the need of according fair and equitable treatment,
especially considering the residence of Japanese in enemy countries.

Nothing was known with respect to ill-ireatment of PQWs in
occupied areas unless they were informed by the military or adversary
belligerents. As to POWs on Wake, inquiries were received from the
Swiss Minister at the beginning of 1942, but they were inquiries about
conditions and not protests, and they did not fail to tranamit them
to the proper authorities, and on receipt of a reply immediately sent
information to the Swiss Minister. A further commnication was made
to him on Agust 10. #* It was not known at all that ill-treatment
was carried out there, as testified by Mr. Steward. The "Bataan Death
March" was also unknown then. As for the Thai-Burma Railway, the matter
was solely the Army's concern, and no plan of its construction or of
PO labor there was heard while the witness was in the Bureau of
Treaties.

Concerning relief of POWs early in 1942, the British proposed
to send a Red Cross ship from Australia to bring goods to the POV at
Hong Kong and Singapore. The U. S. Red Cross made a similer proposal
for American POYWs at various places in Bast Asia. The Foreign Ministry
approached the Navy, but they maintained that the safety of navigation
could not be guaranteed because of the war situation in the Southwestern
I—Bcific-
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'I'tfey exerted themselves successfully to receive food, medicine,
and other goods, taking advantage of the voyages for diplematic exchange
whigh were being arranged between Japan, U. S., and Britain. * Certain
ships transported the goods of about 4,500 tons, and they were distrib-
uted to the POWs through the Red Cross in jJapan, Shanghai, and Tiong Kong,
and at Singapore and Mpnila where no military officials were stationed.

Regarding the exchange of information concerning POWS on
December 9, 1941, the Geneva Red Cross committee notified Japen that the
Central POW Information Dureau would act as intermediary for POW
information of both belligerents, and requested Japanese cooperation.
The Foreign Minister notified compliance, and from that time on, efforts
were exerted with the competent authorities of the POW Information
Bureau, Jjome Ministry and Communications, to offer all information
obtainable to the Geneva Bureau as quickly as possible. * They rendered
services so that similar information might be supplied to the Swiss and
Argentine representatives acting as protecting powers. Delay in
supplying information took place in some cases, but they were told that
it was due to the difficult conditions in the areas of military operations
and to communication difficulties with remote regions, and not to bad
faith.

The Foreign Ministry informed the Swiss Minister that, regarding
the U. S. civilian internees, they were ready to reply to every individual
inquiry after full investigation, and requested the names of persons of
whom information was required. This suggestion was made to conform more
fully to the desires of those concerned to speed investigation.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MORNANE.

* The witness stated that he ceased to have any connection
with these matters from October 31, 1942. Regarding complaints received
prior to that time, he stated that such matters were referred to the
Second Section of the Treaty Bureau, which sent them to the office
handling matters relating to Japanese nationals in enemy countries
presided over by Minister SUZUKI. They would not send them direct to
the War Ministry from the Foreign Office. SUZUKI handled a good deal
of the business, but the witness did not kmow its extent. The witness
did not know as to what particular ministries complaints would be sent,
because when he was transferred to SUZUKI'S office he had no concern,

3 and did not know what happened to any document after 1% left his
office.

He did not mean in his affidavit that replies were received
from SUZUKI's department. With regard to POW, they were received from
the POV Information Dureau, and with regard to civilian internees from
the Home and Overseas Ministries. This did not mean that although he
did not make the request directly, but through SUZUKI. the POy Informa-
tion Bureau and others replied directly to the Foreign of fice and not
through SUZUKI. SUZUKI's office had not been thus created.
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The SUZUKI referred to was Minister Plenipotentiary, who is
now Director of the Central lLiaison Qffice in YOKOHAMA, and not the
accused.

* The complaints were addressed to the Foreign Minister Dy
the protecting powers. There were very few of them. After receipt,
they were sent to the department concerned, namely the POW Information
Bureau. Jle did not think there were protests regarding civilian
internees.

As to how he knew the treatment was fairly good, often ideal,
that was reported to the witness frequently by officers in charge, and
circumstances in those days with regard to food were good, and the Red
Cross never said conditions were bad,

“hen asked whether complaints were sent direct to the Foreign
Office to the POW Control Bureau, or through the Var Ministry, the
witneas said that when matters * were not important most of them were
sent to the POV Information Burean. * Important matters were referred
to the War Vice-Minister, but he did not remember concretely what kind
of messages were sent. The witness had no definite recollection of what
important matters were. He thought that some matters had been sent
during his time to the Vice-Minister of War, but didn't remecmber.

With regard to information regarding Weke, that was sent to
the POW Information Bureau, because this was only a request for
# information. The POW Information Bureau was under the War Ministrie's
Jurisdiction.

The witness did not remember clearly whether, in regard to
Red Cross visits tc intermees, that the people held there included those
exchanged on diplomatic ships in 1942. He thought it was around June
when the ships left. He based his information regarding the Red Cross
visit to jiong Kong in May 1942, on what he received from the POV
Information Bureau in reply to an inquiry by him made recently. This
inquiry was not made at the time, but recently.

+ [le heard of this Hong Kong visit while at the Treaty Bureau
and again recently from the POW Information pureau. #* The Red Cross
told him of conditions at the Argyle Street Camp in Hong Kong. He did
not hear at that time that conditions were bad or that food was inade-
quate. The witness stated he had not recently consulted PQ Information
Bareau records. With regard to civilian internees, his depcsition was
based upon memory, and also a reference published by the Red Cross
Commi ttee.
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Wwith regard to PowWs, it contained information from the Red
Cross Committee, such as a report published regarding the visit made
27163 to the Zentsuji Camp, on March 12, * With regard to Hong Kong, he did
not get any Red Cross report. He based his understanding concerning
Red Cross visits after he went out of office on an order from fricnds

employed by the Committee, who were Swiss.

He did not hear that they had any great difficulty visiting
the cemps, nor that they were not allowed to visit them. These Swiss
' were Mr. Pestalozzi and Billfinger, of the Red Cross International
Commi ttee.

27164 * yhen replies as to POW conditions were delay, further
requests were made to the officers in charge at regular conferences
held with the POW Information Bureau. All matters with regard to
jnformation were handled by his section. There wWas no case in which
no information was received. It was only replies on requests for

information being delayed.

7e recalled receiving on May 26, 1942, with regard to iWake,
a request of the Swiss Minister. [e did not know that on the 27th of
July, 1945, the Swiss Minister again asked for the same information,
27165 because he was not in office at that time. * The witness said he

remained in the Foreign Office, but no longer handled matters of that

kind, and left the Foreign 0ffice lasti year. To give his evidence, he
. discussed some matters with Foreign office colleagues. The only matier

quoted here is the passage referring to wake Island. Ile did not know

anything about the final action.

27166 #7ith reference to information only, some were sent directly
by him, and others were sent by the Director of the Treaty Bureau.
The witness simply did what he was told, and up to Qctober, 1942, had

received very few camplaints.

Attencion of the Court was called to Exhibit No. 2034, 2039,
and 2040 to 2053.

The witness stated there was no case where a file of inquiries
made by the War Ministry was asked for by the Foreign Ministry. They
had no authority to malke such request.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FREEMAN.

27167 # The witness knew that the POW Information Bureau was under
the control of the War Minister, but did not know whether it was an
independent bureau.
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Red Cross Inspection of

Exhibit NOe 3014-A, 8 geport of the
27169  POW camps , stated » that on a visit to camp Sumiro Jogakuin in Tokyo on
mpy 16, 50 Allied citizens Wero found, two-thirds of whom were local
missionaries, who arrived at the camp. which was aatablished on December
8. The telegraphic message described the very galubrious camp situation
and the excellentd lodging and ' All the internced were
made to have a medical examination,mﬂnthly. and in case of need were
sent to public hospitals. catholic and protestant religious gervices
es had a library with newspapers, and other

were held, and the interne
amsements. None was indigent among them.
. 27170 * The commander of the service of the foreigners of the
good treatment to the internees, vho were
¢ discipline and morale.

Me tropolitan Police gave
represented bY four men, Who maintained excellen
The camp Was exemplary s
was about calls to the
From the delegation in changhai, it was repo
safe and sound and interne

treated well. AlsO, about
vg, and 200 letters from them sh

internces

esire expressed DY the
frequently.

and the sole d
which they wished more

outside world,
rted that o7

d in the gniversity
13,000 civilians

corregidor were
owed treatment

where they were
gt. Thomas
£ life excellent.

nurses from
of Manila,
were interned 1n
and conditions ©
1t was reported that Camp No. 2
seashore on artificial ground.
and comprised 27 Allied
The building was two-
' storied. Treatment, discipline, and morale were good. The delegate
n 3 rnees, aquffering from depression. The

delegate visited Camp NO- 1, in' southern yokohama , which
Treatment, discipline, and morale there

From the delegation in Japan,
of yokohama, visited May 30, was on the
well-ventilated,

27171 = It was well-drained, Suny.
citizens. It was opened on pecember 19, 1941.

sheltered 52
were good.
on June 11 the camp of shiroyama, Nagasaki, was visited, where

25 Allied citizens viere found. The camp was on top of & hill. dreinecd
well, with an excellent climate, and enjoyed the fertility of the
country. preatment, morele, and discipline were good , and no complaints
27172 were heard. 7 1t was pointad out that they desi
cards, and play-things, and the Japanese Red Cross was trying
them. The delegate concluded that the camp was excellent.

was visited.

shima prefeciuroc.
n and ihree

There were 18 wome
a town where 1D 1935 en pamerican
climate was salubrious, the
good morale reigned, and
a sympathetic
comradeshlpe

cn June 13, Camp Miyoshi, [iro
was opened pecenber 13, 1941 .
It is aituated in
a sanatorium. The
, and well-?entilateﬁ.
delegate. The cannAnder,
nd their spirit of

The camp
men jnterned there.
mission established
buildings golid, suny
no complaint was made to the
man, was satisfied with the discipline a
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v Treaty on POW.

on June 19 the Sendai Camp was visited. It was opened on
December 9, 1941. 22 U. S. citizens had vacated it two days before
the visit, on their own demand. The interned are lodged in a neigh-
boring house, while there remained in the camp 28 Allied citizens.
The camp is in a wood in the midst of Sendai. Food was abundant and
conditions were very favorable.

From the delegation in Japan, information was provided on the
camp at Zentsuji, in Novémber, 1942. The camp was established in 191}
to lodge POWs, and accammodated again to such purpose after its abandon
in 1919. It was wooden, and not surrounded by barbed wire. Us. Se,
British, and Australian POWs were there at that time. The interneces
named 1t the University of Zentsuji, because of the courses of comnerce,
engineering, * stenography, navigation, Japanese, which were given by
the prisoners themselves. Theatrical performances took place weekly,
and a conference on Thursday evening. Religious services were ccle-
brated by Anglican and Protestant clhaplains, and health service was
secured by U. S., British, and Jnpanese physicians.

2xhibit No. 3042«A, excerpt from the Red Cross International
Review from January to July, 1942, stated » that since the conflict has
extended to the Pacific Area, the Committee has, as it has done for
other belligerents, placed the services of the Central POV Bureau at
the disposal of belligerent states, asking them to exchange through the
Central pureau lists of information of PQWs, and so far as possible,
on civil intemees. The commnication was sent to the y. S., Jepan,
the Netherlands in london, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominican Republic,
cuatemala, Haiti, Honduras, Nicaragua and Salvador, Britain, Australia,
Canada, and South Africa. Ry January 12, answers were received from
U. S., Japan, Guatemala, [miti and Nicaragua, who declared themsclves
ready to proceed on exchange of information.

#+ From the delegation in Japan, information was reccived
that Guam and Wake POWs expressed gratitude for the good treatment
accorded to them. On March 12, a POW camp was visited situated in a
plain between pine-covered hills. The climate was healthful, and there
vere no diseases. The size of the camp was three hectares, and it
contained two wooden army barracks capable of receiving several hundred
prisoners.

* The Court's attention was called to exhibits 1639, 1640,
2038, 2035, 2036-A, B, and C, and the evidence of Stewart at page
14911 to 14937.

Exhibit No. 3043, commnication from the Vice=-Minister of
the Navy to the Vice-Minister of Foreign Affairs, in reply to letter
of August July 27, 1929, stated that as a result of study on the treaty,
the nNavy Minister reached the conclusion # that it was advisable to
refrain from recommending to the Throne ratification of the (Gencva
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expect to become POWs, but the

onsidered in the same way.
Although the treaty appears reciprocal

in form, in substance it is
unilateral, causing obligations on the Ja

panese side only. The treaty
guarantees lenient treatment, hence in case the enemy attempts to make
air raids considering that they would become prisoners after achieving
their aims, the Trange of action of the enemy's planes might be doubled.
It is feared the

extent of air raid danger would be enlarged, bringing
disadvantages to Japanese naval operations.

' The provisions allowing third povers to interview Poys without
27180 observers was harmful militarily. i

necessitating amendment of the various
naval laws and penal codes.

Revision is not advisable in the light of
the principles of the laws, the purpose of which is t0 maintain dis-
cipline. 0On these grounds, it was belioved better not to recammend
ratification,

Exhibit No. 3044, the Army's reply concerning ratification,

27181  showed that = the Army was agreeable to the articles relative to
27182 * treatment of sick, but opposed ratification concerning treatment of
POVWs., :

1965, the official Regulation

: of the war
Ministry on Treatment of pows, it

was stated that the director

?
management of the
27183  camp. under the supervision of the
conmander.

POW, as defined here, is any enemy combatant who has fallen
into the power of Japan, or any other who is to be accorded PO
treatment by virtue of treaties. W8 should be humanely treated and

not insulted or maltreated. He should be given appropriate treatment
according to his rank. This rply to persons not truth-
fully answvering questions regarding name and rank, or to anyone guilty
of any other offense. PO:is should be controlled according to army

27184 Tegulations, and not by * He should enjoy

arbitrary restraint,
religious freedom, ceremonies of his owm

and may participate in
denomination, so long as discipline and public morals are not
bre judiced,
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A PO not on parole, captured before succeedi
should be subject to disciplinary punishment.
in escaping and is reca
for a previous escape.

ng in escaping,
daen he initially suceceeds
ptured, he should not be liable for any punishment

27185 * Al Army or garrison Camander administrating a poy Canmp,
shall establish standing orders for the camp and report to the yar
Minister and to the Director of the POV Information Dureau. Since
rostal matter sent to or by POws are exempt from charges by international
agreement, the camp administrator should provide for adequate procedures
through arrangement with local post offices. Regulations for PO
administration should be established by the chief camp administrator, and
should be reported to the ar Minister and to the Director of the POy

Information Bureau. Extreme eare and stringent rules should be adopted
azainst the danger of fire at camps.

27130 * After internment, the camp commander should record t
nationality, unit, rank or status, and state of health of the pov and
réport to the Director of the PO Information Bureau. An infirmiary,
including a recrcation roam, should be established for the examination
and treatment of POYs who do not need hospital treatment. lospital
wards shall be attached to the camps when necessary, where patients
requiring admittance should receive treatment. mards shall be.furnished
with medical supplies, clothing, bedding, ete. Medical services for the
7ards should be rendered by staff members of the nearest army hospital.

he name,

In cases of necessity, Japanese Red Cros
* render medical services under a medical officer.
provided for, the treatment of dispatched poys
the camp commandant who dispatches themn.
inspeet and examine dispatched prisoners wh

s relief squads may
Unless otherwise
should be determined by
The commandant should

en necessary.

27167

Many prisoners transported to Japan recently have taken ill

or died, and quite a few have been incapacitated for further work due

to inadequate treatment in transport. fThe unit was therefore instructed

to rigidly enforce the rules regarding the sclection of Poys to be sent

tC Japan, medical examinations, distribution of medical personnel,

necesgsary medicine during transiit, provisioning, administration during
271838  transit, * facilities to be provided at ports of call, supply of eclothing,

etc.

ldedical treatment of POy patients was generally o be rendered
at an infirmary at the camp. POV patients requiring special treatment,
or having contagious diseases, maey be admitted to an army hospital by
arrangemcnt between the camp commandant and the director of the nearest

army hospital. ‘then this cannot be done, treatment may be in the care
of any local civilian physician.
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Army internces shall be treated with justice, considering their

customs and manners, and no insults or maltreatment shall be imposed.
Generally, all army internees shall be treated without distinction as
to their former status.

The army internment camp shall be in buildings adequate to
prevent escape, * and adequate for the maintenance of health. Quarters
for army internees should be separated into those for men, and for
women and children. Purther separation should be made according to
nationality, age, etc., but members of the same family may be allowed
to live together. After intermment, the camp commandent should immed-
iabely divide each nationality group into groups of men, wanen. and
children, and should report to the Var Minister and to the purezu.

i

he same procedure shall apply after release of internees.

Medical treatment shall be rendered at the camp. and adequate

medical supplies shall be furnished. If there is a POW cawp or branch

in the vicinity, medical treatment * can be given at infirmories there,
Generally, army internee patients requiring hospitalization shall be
recelved in a district hospital, the hospital attached to the camp,

or a hospital at a camp branch.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF ISHII, MASAMI,
By Mr. Freeman.

* The witness identified exhibit No. 3045 as his affidavit and
verified it. The affidavit stated » that the instruction attached hereto
vas drafted by the witness by direction of General TERAUCIII, Commander of
the southern Army, and Lt.-Gen. TSUKADA, his Chief of gtaff, and approved
by them. On November 20 TERAUCHI called a meeting of all coamnanders
under his comnand, including Gen. KAWAGUCHI of the attached corps, and
transmitted this instruction. The comander read the instruction to then,
and had it printed and handed to them afterwards. The witness was in
attendance on the ocecasion.

* The instruction states that TERAUCIII had been appointed
Commander of the Southern Army, and was anxious to discharge the heavy
responsibility, depending on the loyalty and bravery of his commanders
and men. (QOfficers and men should grasp the war's true meuaning, impress
their responsibility on their minds and do their best.

Both the Army and Navy have always been on good terms and in
close cooperation, and should prove their true strength and accomplish the
aim of the present campaign in the shortest time, never losing the belief
that Japan can never lose the war. They should appease and enlighten
innocent local peoples by showing the virtues and dignities of the
Jaopanese army through their behavior, and should refrain from violence.
They should especially exercise self-reatraint and fight bravely in view
of the hot climate and prevailing * pestilence at the front.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MORNANE.

# The witness stated that he was a colonel, and staff officer
in the Southern Army. The authority of the Coomander of the Southern
Arny extended over FIC, Siam, Malaya, Sumatra, Java, NEI, British Borneo,
and the Philippines. @General YAMASHITA was then Comuander of the 25th
Army, which was part of the Southern Army.

* The work of the witness involved operations. In the course
of his duty he never learned that 5,000 chinese had been arrested in
Singapore about February 21, 1942, nor had he ever heard it At that
time he was in Saigon, at General TERAUCHI's headquarters.

[N —————
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27196 Exhibit No. 3046, an amendment to Article 2 of the regulations
+ dated April 9, 1942, stated that Article 2

27197  concerning POY treatment,
Control Bureau should transact

of the regulations provides that the POV
business regarding POWs and internees. The 3COpe of sugdh business
general plans for treatment, such a3

included matters concerning
accoamodations, diseipline, exchange, release, punishment and general
rnees, matters concerning POW labor,

allowances of POWs and inte
correspondence, punishment, and labor and correspondence of civilian

internees.

jon from the Ad jutant's of fice
atated that it was
the Sulef

LaNce

to the FOW Control Bureau, dated November 22, 1942.
it had decided to entrust o

sent to inform the Bureau that
of the POV Centrel Bureau the decision on matters of mino: 3mpor
g9  concerning * pecomaodation, handling. allowences, transfer. 1abor and

panistment of PQUs at the front.

. 27198 » Exhibit No. 3047, a notificat

matters concerning correspondence ,
and matters of minor amportance concerning granting to foreimmers eniry
of PO camps, and i 1itary detention houses. were entrusted to them.

g o AT A F

relief of POI3 and anternees
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF SUZUKI, KUNJ 1 : |
BY MR. FREEMAN N
272201 e witness identified Exh, No. 3048 as his affi- E
27202 davit and verified it. The witness stated * that on Sept. 29, ki

1042 he attended, as chief of the War Prisoners' Camo, the
yaint edvuecation of the newlvy-appointed chiefs of the FOW
Cames 23 ' o omamA_ (4in the Record this name appear
5 KAM 1! tval Turesu, who read TOJO's

s tru L ’ i - nary *l:ll'jh '11 Nas pres “n ": & EHJ:I‘iUR;‘;
extlainad , rospect of treatment of FOWs 1t was natuf-~
4 b Y i -y i . - o S = N i . v de =
2}l thal ' i thiual to Tigrnregus exccution according to

the rules tc carry out Japan'e impartial attitude but Uhey
muat supervise them rigidly in so far as they did not become
irtuman, This meant that the treatment of POWs should be

carried cut according to the POW Treatment Huls. POWs: must bLe
sreated with benevolence and never insulted or {il-treated,
Great care, however, must be taken so that no antoward tnci-

dent * should happen. Refraining from hotn warm treatment
and 111 treatment was essential, War prisonsrs shiculd not be
jdle even one day, but their labor and skili wmust be used to

Mo
~
ro
‘_'Il
Lat

inereasze production. This means that the entire nation cf
Japan is striving according to its abllitles to inc
duction to overcome shortages of labor. FOWs snoo
render service to increase production, filling 1In
age of labor in accordance with their health, ability and
ski1l, It is not good for POWs to be forced To work with
out consideration for health, ability or skill. Technical
experts should be given the oprortunity to display thelr
27204 special skill and kept away from fatigue werk, ¥ The pres-
snt war will not be easy and will be long and they must
therefore make reasonable and efficient use of FlWs, re-
fraining from force and impatience. The¥y wust take thelr
health and ability into eonsideration and allow reasonable
holidays. If they are mistreated and become 11l or dle,
i+ will be unfavorable to Japan. UEMUEA emphasized the
cardinal principle of impartiality in teeating POWs. He
ztated that TOJC's instruction was nothing but an snlarg-
ment of this principle, UEMURA told the witne:s that the
chiefs of the POW Camps know that POWs shculd be fairly
reated, according to the Treatment Rule a2nd T0JU = | s
structions. They must be cautious of things wnich attract
27205 public attentiocn. * They must not cause feelings unfavor-
aple to POWs among the people who are having trouble in
getting dally commodities, by making it appear that nris-
oners zet too good treatment but they should aiways be
treated justly. Recently, one of the municipal sssembly
KV«

P Tol had seeén

_wen had asked why meat was given to POWs. ;
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pork being transported for POW food. UEMURA had also seen

+ cases of this kind, They should bear in mind not to ex-

cite the Javanese people without reason. The witness
therefore put into practice the principle that there was
a difference between the way Japan, Europe and American
countries treat POWs * due to different ideas as to POWs,

In Europe and America POWs are treated asz honor-
able prisoners, while in Japan they are treated with sym-
pathy and pity, as pitiful prisoners. 1In Japan it is the
greatest disgrace to be taken prisoners but as to enemies
who surrender it is thought to accord with the spirit of
"Bushido", that they be treated with benevolence and pity.
The words in the instruction that they should try to make
the people of occupied areas know the superiority of Japan
and to believe that it is the highest honor to be Japanese
subjects meant the Jananese are to display thelr excellent
character and not insult POWs.

Foreigners and some Japanese think that Japan 1s
inferior in a moral sense., They must know that the Japa-
nese * are not inferior in morality and Justice through
the fair treatment of POWs.

The witness discharged his duties for a year and
a half and did his best to observe UEMURA's explanation
and the War Prisoners Treatment Rule.* To drive home
TOJO's instructions, he often summoned the Chiefs of the
Branch Camps to call their attention to it, and always
inspected where POWs were working so that they would not
be subjected to unreasonable labor. He never found any
prisoners forced to labor in disregard of rank, health
or ability.

In food rationing, he gave more than the fixed
quantity which was 420 grams for officers and 570 for
others. The figures varied from 650 to 786. All POWs,
officers and other ranks, got the same ration. Compared
with the Japanese ration at the time, even the minimum
quantity to POWs was 110 grams more than was allotted to
Japanese heavy workers., In addition the POWs were given
per day a rice ball * of 70 grams so that their food was
never less than 720 grams, Food for the sick was the most
worrisome problem. They were given best quality bread,
and those in serious condition were given milk and eggs
in a small quantity which was not supplied to the sick
among the Japanese, even to pregnant women.
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As to officer labor, the witness permitted them to
arrange the prisoner mail. The senior officers distributed
the business among the other officers and they were all glad
to work, At some branch camps they did voluntary farming,
rabbit raising, fishing or gardening. This was a consola-
tion or an amusement rather than labor. There was no camp
* where officers engaged in the same kind of work as others.

Some baseball, volleyball, checkers, cards and
rusical instrument equipment were sent by the Red Cross and
distributed to the branch camps and used freely.

The witness permitted those who wished to buy mus1i -
cal instruments and they organized a brass band, giving a
concert on Christmas 1943,

At the end of 1943 TOJO visited the Tokyo FOW Cam
without notice. He inspected the camp and gave prize money
because of his satisfaction over the arrangement.

CROSS~-EXAMINATION BY COL, MOCRENANE

The witness stated that UEMURA, as head of the PQv
Control Bureau, could give directions or orders to the wit-
ness, but not in his capacity as Chief of the POW Informa-
tion Bureau., UEMURA never gave orders in his capacity as=
Chief of the Information Bureau. They did carry out his
instructions of September 29, 1942, At the time of the in
structions * the witness had two camps under his superin-
tendency, one in Tokyo and the other at Kawasaki. At the
end of the year he controlled five in Tokyo, Kawasaki, Yoko-
hama, Naocetsu and Mizushima,

The witness carried out frequent inspections in
camps near Tokyo, but went to distant camps once or twice
a year, There was no absence of opportunity for the peopnle
to complain. They had the opportunity. They would have had
to make their complaints in the presence of the staff of the
prison camp. However, when the witness inspected various
places, the senior * POW officer came along and had the op-
portunity of speaking directly but only in the presence of
a member of the camp, They did not speak to him directly
about violence,

The witness stated he knew a man by the name of
KURIYAMA but had not heard directly that he ever hit anybody.
He did hear that he reprimanded orisoners. He never told
KURIYAMA directly or alone that he was not supposed to hit
orisoners. The witness stated that he remembered making a

f




NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD Page 4187
DEFENSE - Division V - Pacific

POWs

SUZUKI - Cross

Page
27214

27215

27216

27217

27218

27219

statement in September 1946 to Captain Phelps under oath and
that he had initialed * each page of the statement. When
asked whether he had not then said that KURIYAMA often hit
prisoners, the witness said he would correct his previous
statement and accept the statement that he made to Captain
Phelps. He had heard that KURIYAMA often hit prisoners. He
heard this when he was in Shinagawa Camp in 1942 from ONISHI,
an interpreter,

He cautioned KURIYAMA and told him not to be rough
or 111 treat POWs.* KURIYAMA only replied yes to the witness'
advice., He had heard that KATO was rough with prisoners at
the Tokyo POW Camp sometime after August 1943. This was the
first time he had heard this, This was learned by Major
HAMADA and he strictly warned KATO and then reported to the
witness. The witness did not talk to KATO directly and did
not do anything at that time.

KATO had inflicted some wounds on a POW and the
witness thought he had committed an offense and therefore »
made an inquiry of the Legal Affairs Section of the Eastern
Army to find out if an offense had been committed and if KATO
would have to be court martialed. He subsequently had no
further complaints about KATO's conduct toward POWs.

The witness had KATO return to Tokyo Camp not only
because he was rude toward POWs but also to Japanese and
employees. The witness thought it improper to have him stay
at Hitachi and therefore recalled him. He thought 1t improper
to have him continue direct contact with POWs,

The witness stated he knew a Lt. HAYASHI * who was
stationed in the 2nd Branch Camp in Yokohama. The witness
frequently warned him about the treatment of POWs by his
subordinates. He told him what he had testified to in his
affidavit. He told him this even before HAYASHI's subordin-
ates were ill-treating POVis. Later he learned that these
subordinates were mistreating POWs.

The witness knew Sgt. WATANABE, who served under
him at Omori Camp.* He had mistreated POWs in the winter of
1943, He had never received an official report, but in a
conversation the witness learned that WATANABE conducted him-
self quite roughly. The witness then cautioned Capt. NEMOTO
to guide and direct WATANABE properly. He had never since
then received an official report to the effect that WATANABE
was rough. The witness stated he had spent a good deal of
time giving evidence at Yokohama on the minor war trials *
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and a number of men under his command have been convicted and
sentenced to death., * The witness stated he did not know how
many deaths occurred in camp 1-D in Tokyo in the witner of
1942 and 1943. While Area Commandant, he investigated every
month the number of men who died in his camps. *

The witness stated he had no recollection of the
death rate at the time of TOJO's visits to his camps. With
respect to the ill, the witness ordered their rations reduced
by one-third, according to orders received from the Eastern
Army around March 1943. At that time, General NAKAMURA was

in charge of the Eastern Army. *

The witness did complain to the POW Information

Bureau because they sent men in poor condition to a cold
area. He complained to General HAMADA, The witness stated
that he did authorize his staff to take Red Cross goods sup-

plied for the use of POWs.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FREEMAN

The witness stated he authorized his staff to take
Red Cross supplies * because of a lack of wisdom and virtue,
He stated that the reduction in food to the sick also applied
to sick Japanese soldiers., From 1942 to 1944 the approximate
number of POWs in camps under his command was 4300, He had
signed this affidavit on July 1, 1947 * and had never been
questioned by anyone since making it. He is presently con-

fined in Sugamo.
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27229 The witness jdentified Exh. 3049 as his affidavit
and verified it. * The affidavit stated that the instructions

27230
of June 3, 1942 for 1abor-duty for officer and warrant officer
POWs, Exh. 1961, were made with the desire of having POWs work
voluntarily, and they took the POW's health into consideration
and did not mean compulsory labor. They {ssued from the Di-
rector of the Control Bureau to the Army and Garrison comman-
. ders who controlled the camps, but was not directed to the
27231 heads of the camps.* The words ''that proper guidance be

" pefers to the. camp heads as leaders, but does not

rendered
nstructions were {ssued

directly point to the POWs. The 1
personally by the directore.

On June 25, 1942 the War*hinister gave instructions

to the newly-appointed heads of camps, and again on July 7,
1942, These {nstructions were made out by UEMURA, then di-
{nitiative.

rector of the POW Control Department, on hls own

They were both read by UEMURA at the meeting of the heads of
27232 the camps at which TOJO and KIMURA were not present, * The

witness attended these meetings and he read TOJO's instruc-

tions as proxy. He stated that POWs must be handled with

justice, not pampered, and not permitted to eat the bread of

idqleness. Efforts should be made to demonstrate to the

. natives Japanese superiority.
CROSS -EXAMINATION BY MR. TAVENNER

As the witness recalled, the first conference was
attended by the prospective commandants who were to go to
Korea and Formosa and the second was attended by those who
were to go to the Philippines, Java and Siam. Generally the
same instructions were read and discussed at both. These

27234 were TOJO's instructions * put he did not attend.

whether the instructions directed the

use of white POWs for menial labor to impress the natives,
the witness stated that manual labor was not clearly stated
or expressed, but instructions were given that various meas-
ures be taken to demonstrate the Japanese superiority. There
. was no idea expressed in the text that it was intended to de-
grade and humiliate whites. Nothing clearly was stated at the
time, What was sald was that two things could be considered

to demonstrate Japanese superiority to the natives., The first
27235 was to demonstrate Japan's moral * superiority by Justly

treating POWs., The other was that in the past Japanese had

worshipped Europeans and Americans but the Japanese have cap-

+ured white POWs and have now attained the status when they

When asked
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PAGE could use white POWs and the result was that Japanese superi-
ority could be shown to the natives by using the POWs before
the natives. The resuvlt generally could mean that they were

: to be used in connection with menial tasks in such a way as

27236 to humiliate them., That was the result. * The idea that no
one was to eat the bread of idleness was added to this and
both of these together was the result stated.

General UEMURA was the commanding officer and was in
charge of leading the discussion before the camp commanders.
He frequently said things to show that he was proud of this
plan to use allied prisoners and strongly advocated it. His
' immediate superior was TOJO,

POWs in Japan and in the operation theaters were
27237 used to expand war production.* They were used to construct
roads, railroads, and in loading and unloading freight and
ships, He would classify this work as common hard labor, the
kind usually known as coolle labor work. Rather than say that
the primary purpose was to demonstrate Japanese syperiority,
the first and primary purpose was to expand productilon.

Exh. 3050-A, excerpt from Army Regulations relative
27239 to labor of POWs, stated * that the labor imposed on PoWs
shall not be too heavy and should not be such as to disgrace
the positions, military or civil, which they hold ir their
country or which relate directly to plans of operation against
their country.

' Exh, 3051, Notice from the Vice-Minister of War to the
27242 Units concerned, stated (Mareh 3, 1944) * that the use of
POWs for labor has been stressed before. Although it has
helped to increase the fighting strength and produced other
good results,theirhealth condition is hardly satisfactory
due to inevitability of shortage of materials. Their high
rate of death must be brought to our attention, In the light
of recent enemy propaganda, if the condition contimues to
exist, Japan cannot expect world opinion to be what 1t wishes
and this would be an obstacle to the moral warfare. It is
absolutely necessary to improve the health of the POWs to
use them satisfactorily to increase fighting strength. In
view of this they were requested and instructed to take cer-
27243 tain measures for prompt improvement of POW health.* Although
efforts must be exerted to utilize space on ships in trans-
porting POWs, it is necessary that the purport of Despatch
No. 1504 of 1942 be thoroughly understood.

Food and clothing should be supplied to POW=s accord-
ing to the degree of their labor. Dispensaries <hould be im-
mediately established to give satisfactory treatment. For
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this purpose necessary funds, materials and sanitary supplies
cshould be preccured or delivered on request. Efforts should be
made to fully utilize medical personnel among the enemy and
also they should request the War Minister to have Army medi-
cal officers serve concurrently at POW camps * To increase
the rate of laboring POWs statistically, they should avoid
using sick POWs who need rest or to give heavy labor to pa-
tients or those physically weak, Attention should be brought
toc sanitary care and consideration given to the physical con-
dition of each POW in light of the climate, and if necessary
individuals should be confined in different places alternate-
ly or transferred to i{ncrease their efficiency.

Relaxation should be considered so long as secur-
ity and control permit. If the health condition gets worse
due to inadequate care, an order of suspension or restric-

tion of employment of POWs will be issued.
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Direct Examination of YAMAMOTO,Chikao
by Mr.Roberts

The witness identified Exhibit 3052 as his affidavit and
verified it. The affidavit states that the witness * was Chief of
First Section, Administrative Division, Lept. of Naval Aeronautics
from September 1941 to December 1942; Chief of First Section, Naval
Dept. of Imperial Supreme Hqrs from Jan 1943 to Dec 1944; and Chief
of Staff, 10th Air Fleet and Commandant 72nd Air Squadron from Jan

1945 to the end of the war.

From Jan 1943 to Dec 1944 he was in charge of matters
concerning overall operations of the navy under the Chief of the
First Div, Naval Dept of Imperial Supreme Hqrs. He had to direct the
members of the section in drawing plans and drafting orders and
directions for overall operational conduct.

# He handled such matters both exclusively for submarine
operations and for overall operations including submarine warfare,
He participated in the overall operations since the latter part of
March, 1943, the third phase of the campaign. The submarine war-
fare could be broken down to three periods, The first was from
late March 1943 to October 1943. The operational pelicy for this
period was destruction of maritime traffic as in the prior period.
Cooperating with the German submarines in operation in the Indian

Ocean area and supply to outlying bases,

# The results of the operations led them to believe that
submarines could be used better against enemy sea traffic than against
naval forces. Increased enemy aircraft activities in the Solomon
Islands and Habaul areas made surface supply more and more difficult,
compelling the use of submarines to transport supplies, Such
supplying by submarine was later extended to New Guinea, the Mandated
Islands and the aleutians, causing numerous submarines to be diverted
from traffic destruction, leaving only a scant force of submarines

for that purpose.

The plan for this minor period was given to YAMAMOTO,
Isoroku, commander of the Combined Fleet, by Chief of Staff NAGANO
March 25, 1943. The witness himself participated in drafting the
directive,

The second period began in Vctober 1943 with an unaltered
principle in operation.
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27255 The coming of German submarines into the Indian Ocean
hewever, required demarcation of the German and Japanesze submarine :
field of speration. This was indicated by an order of NAGANO to <
Adm, KOGA, commander ef the Combined Fleet, October 4y 1943, This
operetional agreement set 70 degrees longitude as the line. Frior
to this date nothing wa=z shown to the units concerning this matter.

It was probably not deemed recessary to issue the directive until
German submarine activity was actually in the Indian Ocean slthough
the agreesment was already concluded.

The witness drew up the directive,

27256 The third pericd started sugust, 9L, ® There was ne

\ alteration in principie by directive. :
tightly occuplied with operations in the Fhilippines to divert
submarines for ses traffic destructism and sabrarines engaged in

traffic destruction in the Indian Ucsan and Yacific Ocean were
withdrawn,

The navy nzd becowea tas

-
-

. 4 Staff Lirective 209 was absut te be
delivered to LMAMOTO from NAGANO. The item for coeperation with
Cermany was {irst inserted ia this directive because it wss ex-
pected that both wouid start operatiens shortly in the Indian
Ocean in eccordance with the military sgreement,

Jn Kerch

- Y 0y
a .;E‘.'

It was not until Uctober 4 1943 that operatiornal units
were first instructed in the matter because there had beea no
necessity,

27257

*During his tenure as chiel of the Firat Sectism peo
Japanese Navy officer in Germany or any German offic

cial had ever
netified Tokyeo cof Germany's request for cooperstion in submarine
warfare, He

nad never heard that Germany requeated Japan in 1943
te admpt the pelicy eof kiliing all perasns on beard allied vessels
except & few for information, The Japanese navy never sdopted such
4 primciple. It is a matter of course that there was strict

obeervance of interpational law and high regard te human lives which
guided the navy,

In the staff directive of November 30,
27258 #60 of March 1, 1542 * warmed that in

ample time faor suf
and passengsars

(741 and dirsctive
carrying sut submarine warfare
ficient retiremert should be glven te crew members
upless circumstances stherwise dictated,




NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD

September 2 1947

DEFENSE - DIVISION V = PACIFIC Page 4194
POWS (YAMAMOTO - Direct)

page
#
27259
27260
&
27261

The humanitarian spirit of the Navy remained unchanged.

Subua:laes in the Indian Ocean operated under the command
of the South-Western Area Fleet from July 1942 to October 1943.
At that time the 8th Submarine Squadron joined full forces and both
were placed under the command of the Bth Squadron which was under
the command of the South-destern irea Fleet. Since August 1944
every submarine of this squadron was diverted te cther area from the
Indian Ocean,

The submarines in the Facific Ocean from 1942 to 1944 were
* commanded by the Sixth Fleet., This included the First Submarine
Force as of March 20 1943. There was no direct connection between
the first Submarine Squadren and the Submarine Force in the Indian
Ocean, Although beth the Sixth Fleet and the SW Area Fleets were
under the combined Fleet, neither of the submarine forces had anything
in common on matters pertaining to command.

¥ The forcew of the SW Area Fleet were based at Fenang and
eperated in the indian Ocean and from October, 1943, only east of 70
degrees Bast longitude. The forces of the Sixth Fleet were based at
Truk with the Pacific Ocean as the field of actionm.

MITO became cemmamder of the Yirst Submarine Squadren en
March 29 1943 but was succeeded by Adm. KOUDA and the sguadron was
ordered to the Nerth Facific and assigned to duty in the Kiska-aAttsu
area in the middle of ~pril.

The witness had never seemn top secret Irirst Submarine
Squadren Urder #2 issued March 20, 1943.

CROSS~-EXAMINATION by C~PT. ROBINSON

% The witness stated he did not know that submarines in the
Indian Ocean fellowed the Germam palicy im the destructien of ship-
wrecked survivers. He had never heard that the Nicelett was sunk om
July 2 1944 in the Indian Uceam and that many other allied vessels
were sunk there and their crews machine-gunned and passengers destroy-
ed. He did once hear that the United States, Britein and Hellamd and
others protested against such tactics. He had heard nothing definite.
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written erders by eral instructisms te destrey shipwrecked sur-
vivers. In regard to the pretests that were made, he believed
they were taken up by the cempetent section ef the navy and his
suberdinates would investigate reperts coming im from varisus
maval umits, reperting time and place, -if the time and place
ceincided with those set ferth im the pretest, His subsrdinates
had made such imvestigationms. However, he had never had any re-
pert made to him that as a result of these investigatioms there
was am actual case in which time and place did ceincide.

* He again repeated that he had never heard ef any
incidents where ships were sunk and crews destroyed by such tac-
tics., He stated that the 16th Squadren mever had any submarines
under it, He believed that Adm. * TAKASU was in cemmand ef the

Seuthwest Area Fleet in February 1944 and he believed that Adm.
SAKONJI was in cemmand of the 16th Squadren.

When asked whether the SW Area Fleet and the 16th Squad-
ren held a cenference at Femamg February 23, 1944, at which they
made plans for operations in the Indiam Ocean, he stated that

Imperial Gen. Hgrs had ne knowledge of such conferences held by
cemmanders in these areas,

When asked whether it was pessible that arders ts sub-
marine commanders might be passed on erally as had been done by
the Germans, the witness stated since ns reperts were submitted as
to what erders er imstructions the local cemmanders gave their
subsrdinates, based on orders from Imperial Headquarters, he did met
knew what erders they actually gave, Hewever, althsugh mest erders
givem by lecal cemmanders were in writtem ferm, seme were givem
erally. Im erder te explain the srders of the' local cemmamders
the Chief of Staff weuld give eral explanatiems with them., But

these eoral explanatiens weuld custemarily be distributed later im
writtea ferm.

% He repeated that he had mne kmewledge of the PENANG
meeting on february 23, 1944,

#The witness stated that he had net heard ef the sinking
of the British ship BEHAR and the executiem of 65 of its survivers
and he had never heard of Dritain's pretest.
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* The attention of the Tribunal was called to Exhibits
2104, 2087 and 2088 and the testimony of McDougall at page 15109.

¥ Exhibit 3053-A - Directive of Imperial Headquarters
referred te in the affidavit stated bases situuated at the very
head of the front. lines should be supplied.by submarines or like
combatant vessels if occasion deminded and every possible assistance
should be made in transferring supplies to &any units disposed on
outflung pesitions,

# Exhibit 3054-4, Staff Ulrective #60 - Imperial General
Hqrs, dated March 1, 1942, stated that in the operations by sarface
craft, it should be made a rule that such attacks should be preceded
if possible by due visit and search &nd every endeaver made to rescue
lives if circumstances warranted the sinking of the vessels,

As a rule hostile vessels should be captured and brought
te a port of Japan proper whenever possible, ihen this is not feasible
captured vessels should be made to sail to the nearest friendly port
or be destroyed after proper measures are taken for persennel and
carge.

As a rule persons of armed forces, including civilians,
armed men, mariners; technicians, impertant gevernment efficlals,
who beleng te enemy countries and the Chiang Kai-shek regime shall be
taken priseners of war,

* Exhibit 3055 - Mavy regulation for treatment of POWS
dated Feb,17,1904,-« &s amended 1941, stated that * in case a POW
is guilty ef disebedience, he may be confined and beund if necessary.
If he attempts to desert, arms may be used to prevent it if necessary.
A POil whe attempts to desert or disebeys shall be subject te disciplin-
ary punishment which shall be effected according te the regulatiens
# of the Naval Disciplinary Punishment Ordinance which shall be en-
forced by the chief of naval officials then in charge of the interm-
ment of said POW.

The naval cemmandant shall deliver FOWS with their roster,
POA journal and other articles kept under custedy, and inventory of
such articles to a naval station or closest naval cuthority., If a
POW dies during the delivery, roster, perscnal belongings and all
other documents shall be delivered,

1
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Naval stutions or other naval authorities on receiving
POAS shall detain them in any temporary camp available having
adequate facilities to prevent them from desertion until transpor-
tation or redelivery is possible.

*Commanders of stations or other autherities shall hand
over at designated places the POWS under their care together with
the other items to the army authorities who are teo receive the
POWS .

Exhibit 3056~ Report en POW Administration made to SCAP
by the Tokyo Central Liaison Uffice, stated that in principle all
POIS captured by the navy were to be hianded over to the army.

* bBut until such time there were cases of temperary naval super-
vision in improvised camps; where the POWlS were placed under
regulations of war based on intermational agreements, to be treat-
ed the same as regular POWS,

The organizatiem having the pelicy making or administrative
autherity over such POAS were the party designated by the cemmander
of a Major or Minor Naval Statien or eperational forces, who was
usually the cemmander of the defense area in question. This comman-
der in turn designated wnether party, usually a junier efficer and
interpreters and ether civilian employees.

* The designated cemmander performed direct supervisien
over the camp under orders from the commander of the statien or
eperational force, The junier officer carried out actual manage-
mert under orders from his cemmander and the interpreters and others
worked under him. The designated commander issued instructions for
the direct supervision of the camp while the junior officer establish-
ed necessary regulations fer supervising FOWS in a temparary camp,
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* Direct Examination of TOMIOKA, Sadatoshi
by Mr. Reberts,

The witness identified Exhibit 3057 as his affidavit
and verified it. The affidavit stated that from October 1940%
te January 1943 he was Chief of the First Section Naval General Staff.
From then to Nov.5 1944 he was at sea, After Dec 1944 he was
Chief of the First Division, Naval Gen, Staff until the end of the

war,

* As chief of the First Section he was under the cemmand
of the First Division. He took charge of general military opera-
tions and his dutles were te cemmand the section and plan general
military eperations and draft orders and instructiens regarding
the operations.

In Yctober 1942, he sent Lt.Com. OKADA to Kwajalein and
other places. In Uctober 1942 it was decided to organize a combined
inspection party of the army and navy te inspect frong lines, mainly
te re-examine the defense projects in the Pacific Ocean area. They
were to go the the Marshalls, the Marianas, the Carelinas, the
Solomons, New Britain Island etc, The witness sent Com., OKADA as
a4 member of the party. OKiDA was suberdinate to the witness and
was in charge of defense preparations.

Com . NaKAQO, of the Navy Ministry, went with OKADA as a
specialist. The witness gave orders te CKiDA as Chief of the First
Section, The witness persenally and directly gave the duties to
the members of his section when they were sent eut . OKAD. was ne
exceptien, The First Section did not handle POWS and the witness
gave ne erders or instructiens en them, st that time he did net
knew that adm. ABE, ¢ emmander of Kwajalein Island held POWS,

He knew by reperts that there were POWS in Truk and in Habaul but
ceuld net recall anything absut the fact that ABE stated that OKiDA
teld him that the dispesitien eof central autherites was te execute
priseners when they were captured and net send them to Japan,

They never knew about this., adv. sBE's statement differs
greatly with the Navy's official forms fer ferwarding erders which
were usually issued in the form of telegrums or decuments and net
by eral orders. There is ne such thing as ferwarding an erder
srally threugh a third persen. He alse did net knew ef any case
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when an order or instruction was forwarded directly to a unit
under the command of a naval fleet from the Naval General Staff
without first going through fleet headquarters.

* The 6th Naval Base Corps was stationed on Kwajalein
and Rear Adm Koso ABE was the commander. The unit was under the
over-all command of Vice Adm INOUE, Commander of the 4th ¥leet.

Under ne circumstances would orders be sent directly
to the commander of Kwajalein from the Naval General Staff. Such
orders from the General Staff are sent to the Combined Fleet and
are forwarded normally to units in its command as orders from
Fleet Headquarters. Exceptions are made when such orders are
concurrently sent to headquarters of the Combined Fleet and to
headquarters of the Fourth Fleet. There is no precedent when an
order was sent directly from the Naval Gen. Staff to the Commander
of the 6th Naval Base Corps or when headquarters of the Lth Fleet
merely acted as intermediary in communicating an order to the
commander of the 6th Naval Base Corps.

#The navy minister never gave direct orders to a member
of the Staff.

OKiDa returned a month later after completing the mission
and the witness received his report. There was nothing about POWS
in Kwajalein in it. OKADA was killed in the Philippines on Dec,

6, 1944 and NAKAO was also killed May 16, 1945,

The witness had participated in planning submarine
operations and drafting orders from November 1941 to January
1943 and from December 1944 to the end of the war.,

# Submarine warfare fell roughly into three stages -
the period when they worked havoc on communication coordinating
with fleet operations; the period when major force was devoted to
destruction of communication lines and the period when they menaced
comminication lines as well as supplied the advanced bases.

% The first period was from Dec.8 1941 to June 1942, This
policy was made known to YAMAMOTO, chief of the Combined Fleet by
NAGANO in Ipstruction #15 which pointed out the course of submarine

operations in relation to general sea warfare at the outbreak of war,
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This was drafted November 30, 1941 by the Chief of the First Div-
ision, Naval Gen. Staff in the event war broke out with the United
States, Britain and Helland in the near future. The ‘plan attach-
ed importance to offensive operations in the southern regions

in the Pacific Ocean area. The primary object of the submarine
warfare was to watch and pursue U,S, fleets movements and the
destruction of communication lines was secondary,

Especially the line in the Indian Ocean had been instruct-
ed to strengthen activities after operations in the south had
reached a certein stage, In destroying communications t}e feeling
of the Japanese Mavy to respect human lives and abide by law and

regulation was clurified in instructions of Nov 30 1941 and March
1 1942. This pelicy was never altered,

The second period was from June 1942 to March 1943 and
placed primary importance on destruction of maritime communication
lines, In the first stage offensive strategy in the south reached
& definite stage and importance was then attached to destruction
of communication lines. Cruisers and other surface craft were
employed with submarines to tle this and confuse the enemy .

% The bulk of submarine ferce was allecated for this
purpese, Main water areas for such attacks were the ssutheastern
coast of africa and the northwestern part of the Indian Ocean, the
eastern coast of asustralia and Cook's strait area.

In the Facific Ocean emphasis was laid on destroying
communication lines by blockading communication between the U.S.

and hustralia, These operations were made known to YAMAMOTO by the
Chief of Staff on June 22 1947 in Instruction 07

The third stage was based on a policy issued March 25 1943.
This was planned and approved by the witness' successor YAMAMOTO
Chikae as Instruction 209. This erder emphasized ¥ destruction eof
maritime communication lines, supplying advanced bases by part of
the submarine forces and performing ceordinated operations with

German submarines in the Indian Ocean.

Annihiliation of crew members of enemy vessels was never
planned or indicated by Imperial Hgrs except for
to obtain informatioen,
in

a few necessary
If it had been it would have been recorded
the files. This was against the spirit of the Japanese Navy,
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The Germans never made such a request when the witness was
at. the Naval Gen, Staff. He hud never heard of the first submarine
erder *# issued by the Commander of the {irst Submarine Fletilla en
March 20 1943, : :

%It was indicated in Imp.Hqrs Naval Cemmand Inst. 15
issued Nov 30 1941, that it was lawful to attack unarmed enemy mer-
chant ships only in waters 300 nautical miles from the enemy ceast-
line and i the area between Hawaii and the west coast of the U.S,
mainland, In other cases, unless circumstances were unaveldable,
time must be given for the crew and passengers te seek safety.

as for dealing with shipping of neutral ceuntries, in-
structions were given to taoke measures as provided in international
law with the exception of the four nations ef Panama, MNorway, Denmark
and Greece,

In Instruction Ne .60 issued March 1 1942, they were instruct-
%*ed as sat ferth above in Exhibit 3054-4A,

Exhibit 3058-A, Naval General Staff Directive 15, Movember
30, 1941, frem NuGANO te YAMAMOTO, stated that in case war breaks sut
with the United States, Britain and Helland the pelicy in the anmex
will be the guide to the cenduct of sea cemmunicatien destructiem ¥
warfare {or the Lime being.

Lxhibit 3059 - Certificate stated that the erigimal ef
%* jnstructions, Navy Department, Imperial Hgrs were in the custedy
of the ~djutants' Office, Navy Dept., Imperial ligrs, but were lost
in the airraid of May 25, 1945.

a set of copies were kept at the rirst Dept of the Naval

Gen Staff in lieu of the eriginal., DBut Instructions #1 and #35
were destroyed in the air raid.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY CaPT ROBINSON

The witness stated that the first sectien of the General
Staff had no knewedge that Adv, ABE held POWS in Kkwajalein or that
ABE had asked navy hqrs at Tekyo te take those priscners to Tekye.
That section did nst handle POW affairs,

2
\
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POWs were handled by the Navy Ministry. The First
“ectien handled sperational plans.

The presence of POWS at Kwajalein and other islamnds had
nething te de with their preblem of defense. POAS were te be
handled in accerdance with set regulation., He could net state
whether the reasens given by lecal island cemmanders feor executing
POWS was that they censtituted a defense preblem which required
their executien.

“He did remember repesrts abeut FOWS at Truk and im
Rabaul but could net remember all the reperts ceming in frem all
areas of fighting., Reparts en FOWS came in attached te fighting
reperts but sometimes they did net come with cembat reperts.”

He did not knew whether Navy Hgrs received sdmiral
ABE's repert of the execution ef fliers at Awajulein.

The witness stated he knew nothing about what happened
in 1944. OSince he left his post in January 1943 he knew nothing
of what occurred after that date, including the First Submarine
Force erde:r issued March 20 1943.

The attention of the Tribunzl was called to Exhibits
2055~a and 2055-C with respect teo instruction * #15 ¥ What he
sald with respect to is was based on his recollectisn,

mxhibit 3060-a, Directive 282, Imperial Gen Hgrs,
Naval Vept stated * that in executing submurine eperatiens they
should adhere teo the fact that the boundary between Japan's sub-
marines and Germany's submarines is set on the lengitudinal line
of seventy degrees east generally, the east side of it being
allecuted to Yapan and the west te Germany., In case of necessity
they can operate irrespective of the boundary.

The submurines eperating in the Indian Ucean are for-
bidden te make any anti-submarine attack.

* Exhibit 3054-B, Directive of Imperial General Hgrs,
Naval Department, shewed revecation ef ordar #60,
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF OHASHI, TATSUO
by Mr. Roberts.

The witness identified exhibit No. 3061 as his affi-
davit, and verified it. The witness stated that after the
surrender he was a Reserve Rear Admiral. From May 1942 until
December 1943 he served as commander of the Rio de Janeiro
Maru. which was a diesel-engined passenger transport of
10,000 tons, capable of 16 knots. The Navy conscripted the
ship and converted it into an auxiliary submarine tender.

It was a two-masted, single funnel ship, passenger type. The
masts and funnel were green, the rest grey. Such colors were
adopted to avoid long-range detection by enemy submarines.

In April, 1942, she salled to Kwajelein for the Midway opera-
tion, and in June returned to Sasebo. She left Sasebo for
Penang in July, and was attacked by an enemy submarine off
FIC and damaged. She entered Singapore for repairs, and on
completion sailed for Surabaya 1n December 1942.

*+ From January to October 1943 she was occasionally
engaged in transport duty, with Surabaya as a base. As
Surabaya was a submarine base, unless submarines required ad-
vance bases there was no need for tenders, but there was a
shortage of ships, and that was why she transported personnel
and military supplies, including weapons and ammunition. She
operated in Java, Borneo, Celebes, New Guinea, Anbon, the
Philippines, Sunda, Timor etc. She never transported
patients. The first time they touched on Anbon was the middle

of January 1943, and he thought they touched there about

twice between that time and March the same year. They stopped
at Anbon for local transportation of personnel and supplies.

* They always anchored at Anbon for a day or two.

He could not remember whether POWs were used by the
local troops for loading freight, and they never took patients
aboard at Anbon. The crew was approximately 300, and the
necessary personnel were armed.

In April, 1942, the ship was under the direct
command of the Combined Fleet, and belonged to the 5th Sub-
marine Squadron. After June 1942, she was attached to the
5th Submarine Squadron. In September, 1943, she was made an
auxiliary transport, and was sent back to Japan for refitting.
* He heard that she was sunk in Truk in 1943.
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The Rio de Janeiro Maru never assumed Red Cross
insignia while the witness was aboard. When he read in the
papers that an Allied POW testified that the ship had used
Red Cross insignia at Ambon, he wondered how such a mistake
had been possible. There was no hospital ship by the name
Rio de Janeiro Maru.

There was no cross-examination by the prosecution,
but the attention of the Court was called to pages 13,990 to
14,023 of the record.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY THE TRIBUNAL.

27322 ¥ The witness stated that the Rio de Janeiro had
transported POWs, and he believed it was June or July 1943.

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROBERTS

The witness stated that they had originally planned
to transport POWS from Makassar to Surabaya, but before entering
the harbor they found that it had been mined and changed course
and landed in Batavia.

27323 * There was nothing to indicate on the ship that
she was carrying POWs.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF OKOCHI, DENSHICHI
by Mr. Roberts.
27324 * The witness identified exhibit No. 3062 as his

affidavit, ang after corrections verifled it, The witness
27325 * stated that he was a former Vice Admiral, and on November

2, 1944, arrived in Manila as Commander of the Southwestern

Area Fleet, and as Commander of the Third Expeditionary Fleet.

By the latter part of December, 1944, the greater part of the

naval and air forces had been lost. After that he took command

of the remnants of the naval units ashore., 1In the Philippines
even these units were soon placed under Army command for land
Operations. He merely directed ang Supervised personnel

affairs.

In January, 1945, when U, 3. forces landed at
Lingayen, he left Manila on the 5th and moved to Bagio, due
to circumstances arising from the need of taking command of
27326 over-all military operations, = The Naval forces left in
'anila were placed under the command of General YAMASHITA

for land operations from January 6. The Witness was only able

to give indirect moral eéncouragement, for he no longer poss-
essed command over these forces.

All communications between his forces and the Manila

forces were by wireless. and the efficiency of the wireless
became greatly deereased, but still continued. The progress
of the Manilag battles was reported to the witness, as well
as to YAMASHITA. From the information received, he was able
to picture the disturbed situation of the Japanese in Manila
when the U, §. beseiged the city. Enemy shelling and bombing
were extremely intense, and the whole area was completely
devastated. Guerrilla activities were intensified,

27327 * Ammunition ran short.

Thus, externally, they faced the gunf'ire of the
U 8, forces, and internally were harrassed by guerrillas,
The forces were evidently fighting under great difficulties.
About February 20, communication with Manila was cut, and he
Judged the entire garrison had been killed. Details as to
internal conditions of their units were entirely unknown, and
the witness hag never dreamed of the SO-called "Manila
atrocitiegn, About April 23 B message from the Navy Vice-
Minister was received, which said that Spain hag severed
diplomatie relations on the ground that Japanese troops
massacred Spanish nationals at Manila. Report was requested.,
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This was the first time that the witness felt that
some incident had occurred. Since all personnel involved had
been killed, there was no way to conduct an investigation,

He inquired of YAMASHITA's headquarters. but they cabled a
reply to the effect that they knew nothing about the incident.
* He learned about particulars of the incident for the first
time from the indictment against YAMASHITA.

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. OKAMOTO,
Counsel for MUTO.

The witness stated that he knew YAMASHITA's opera-
* tions policies immediately after the landing of U. S. troops
in Manila. * The witness stated that he expressed an opinion
concerning strategy to YAMASHITA about February 10, 1945,
+ He felt it was useless to continue such fighting, and sent
his Chief of Staff to YAMASHITA and ask for the withdrawal of
the Manila garrison. The Chief of Staff returned and said such
orders had already been issued.

The strength of the Navy unit when the right of command
was delegated to the Army was 20,000, and that of the Army
unit * two battalions.

THERE WAS NO CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE WITNESS.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF ARIMA, SHIZUKA,
by Mr. Roberts

* The witness identified exhibit No. 3063 as his
affidavit, and verified it. * The witness stated that he had
held various posts in the Navy Medical Department, and from
November 1943 was Chief Medical Officer of the First Fleet, and
on May 9, 1945, became Chief of the First Section of the Medical
Bureau.

Authority for the handling of POWs was in the hands
of the Army, and the Navy was not supposed to keep and manage
them. The Navy had no special stock of medical goods for POWs.
When the Navy interned POWs temporarily between their capture
and transfer to the Army, the unit in charge of their manage
ment was supplied with medical stores for the total number of
soldiers in the unit and prisoners, and all medical treatment
was carried out without discrimination. Seriously ill prisoners
were allowed to enter a Navy hospital exactly as the Japanese.
The Navy neither treated them particularly warmly or especially
cold. Medical treatment was carried out strictly and fairly
in accordance with Navy Regulations for POWs.

It was a fundamental principle of the Navy to keep
medical stores for a period of a year for peacetime national
defense, regardless of the enemy or duration of the war. The
outbreak of the war found them provided with t!is quantity.
They had no particular instruction to take steps concerning
medical stores to wage war for four years against U. S.,
Britain, and Holland. They learned about the outbreak of the
war and its scale only from * news reports, and they faced
the war unprepared..

As to the disposition and numerical increase of
surgeons and medical men to take care of the increased number
of POWs, the number of men in a unit temporarily caring for
POWs was increased, and steps to increase the number of
doctors was taken, but because of the rapid increase in the
Army and organization of troops after the outbreak, the
increase of doctors could not meet the need.

A plan for distributing medical materials providing
for supply of basic quantity for the total number of the unit
plus estimated quantity, was adopted in accordance with the
Account and Supply Regulations of Medical Stores. The person
responsible for distribution was the Chief of the medical
stores section of the navy hospital bureau.
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officer of the hospital

f the medical officer. It
here was no stock. At
not arrive because of
the front were

Otherwise, the apothecary
ship supplied them at the request ©
was impossible to supply stores when t
distant places supplies sometimes did
sinking. If communications and traffic on
stopped, 1t was impossible to supply them.

The chain of command concerning medical business
in the navy included the chief of the medical bureau, who was
assistant to the Naval Minister and commanded hils subordinates

{ndirectly in the name of the Minister. Commanders of Naval
Districts. guard districts and fleet headquarters were under
the control of the rinistry, and each of their staffs included

a chief medical officer.

Under thre commander-in-chief * there were warships,
units, schools, naval hospitals. Temporary managecment was done
by them. POWs needing medical treatment were received into the
unit infirmary. The person responsible for their treatment
was the infirmary surgeon in charge of the infirmary, directly
subordinate to the commanding officer. [e received orders from
the unit commander, and sometimes recelved suggestions from his

superior medical officer, but they were not commands. The
ceriously ill among the POYs in the infirmary were transferred

to navy hospitals, just as the Japanese.

ngs, clothes, and labor. the
Vedical Fureau paid particular attention in the early days of
the war * to tropical problems, and later to the maintenace

of nhysical strenzth of the soldiers in the homeland. BY
they exerted themselves

scientific research and war-time study,
but it was most diffi-

to put theilr conclusions into practice,
cult to carry out. The national strength was insufficient to
meet the demand. When penicillin was needed, they could not

use it, as the small quantity on hand could be used only for
clinical study. They had only a test tube of DDT as study
material, and could not use it universally.

The death of POWs from diseases in Japan was a grave

matter. but many Japanese soldiers died from diseases also.

+ After 1944 the ration for soldlers deteriorated until it
dropped below 1500 calories. There was no heat 1n winter.
warm baths became impossible, clothes and bedclothes were
wanting. and maintaining body warmth was impossible. As a
result a disproportion arose between calories absorbed and
consumed per day, resulting in loss of physical strength and

nourishment.

Concerning dwelll
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Illness seldom broke out among older soldiers, but
often broke out among the young men not accustomed to military
life. This physical weakness caused many to suffer from
pneumonia and dlarrhea, and their convalescence yas retarded.
Tre Navy called it prostration from inability to adjust oneself,
and distinguished it statistically from malnutrition in the
overseas war front. .

.27343 * The number of cases of this disease was more than
6,000 in the Navy alone, of which more than 500 died. It was
inferred that the actual number was more than 10,000, of which
more than 1,000 died. Erroneous diagnoses called these cases
pneumonia or diarrhea, but they were actually complications of
the disease.

The difference in resistance to bacteria in the case
of foreigners must be kept in mind. The witness could not make
out a scientific conclusion of the comparative ability of war
prisoners and Japanese to resist disease, but from study and
experiment on animals and epidemiological observation., animals
brought up in favorable environment have less resistance to
bacteria infection than those in a natural environment. Men
exposed to bacteria from childhood in an unfavorable environ-
ment have greater resistance than men from a favorable environ-

27344 ment. * It could be inferred that POWs were more susceptible
E to bacterial infection than the Japanese. POWs also suffered
from spiritual restlessness, inability to climatize, unfamil-
iarity with Japanese food, difference in customs. lack of
communication due to the language barrier.

It 1s possible to infer that patients took a longer

27345 time to recover from diseases. * It often happens that when
persons who have lived in a favored district where there are
few TB bacteria come to a city in contact with people with
active TB, they fall 111 suddenly and die shortly., but persons
who lived 1n a city from childhood and often resisted TBE
infection fall i1l and pass into a chronic state and their
convalescence 1s better.

When a tribe from a malarial area becomes immune
raclally from malaria for a long period, they seldon die from
acute malaria, but when temperate zone inhabitants who have
never been infected with malarial protozoa enter a malarial
area they are immediately attacked by acute malaria and their

27346 * condition grows worse. In the case of dysentery the same
tendency may be observed.
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Japan's sanitary environment must be regarded as a
reason for weakening the prisoners' resistance. Japan's
climate i1s sub-tropical in summer, and tke winters are severely
cold. Ever a person living in Japan from childhood would have
trouble until be became climatized, and many weak persons are
attacked in their childhood by various diseases and die. During
wartime, even Japanese accustomed to Japanese food were un-
satisfied due to the shortage of food materials. Owing to
the lack of chemical fertilizers, human manure was used for the
cultivation of vegetables, and the density of parasites inside
the bowels was raised. Resistance of tke Japanese to disease
was lower, and cases of dynsntery, typhoid, pneumonia, and
tuberculosis increased. He was afraid that a large number of

* health troubles arose among the POW coming to such an
environment.

The difficulty in understanding medical English in
Japan was a considerable handicap in the treatment of POWs.
Even the Japanese, except physicians, do not understand the
difficult medical terms in the Japanese language. In inter-
preting them into English even a professional would find
himself unequal. Education of physicians was of the German
school, and Army and Navy surgeons were quite ignorant of
medical English. It is inferred that if POWs complained about
their illness, the Japanese did not understand the details,

and the POWs often failed to understand what the Japanese
doctors meant in giving advice.

THERE WAS NO CROSS-EXAMINATION OF THE WITNESS.

* Exhibit No. 3064, a reply dated December 6. 1945,
to SCAP, from the 2nd Demobilization Ministry in answer to an
inquiry regarding the sinking of merchant ships in the Indian
Ocean dated November 19, 1945, stated * that with regard to
such cases, protests were filed during the war by the respec-
tive governments except for the Norwegian S. S. Scotia. At
the time of the protest, the matters were investigated through
reports and telegrams and persons returned from the operating

areas. No positive results were obtained, and the governments
were notified. !

Almost all Japanese submarines operating in the
Indian Ocean were lost, and there were few survivors. Because
of the destruction of relative records, the renewal of the
survey had become very difficult, and accurate results could
not be expected. They had conducted their investigation upon

the inquiry of crew survivors and of those occupying key posts
in submarine warfare.
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* There were nine submarines operating in the
Indian Ocean during the period when the merchant ships
described in the protest were sunk. Their duties lay in
destroying communications, reconnaissance, and supplying
German submarines, but priority was given to the reconnoiter-
ing of such areas as Maldive Islands, Chagos, Diego Suarez,
Mombasa, Aden Bay, and northwestern Australia. These duties
caused submarines to operate all over the Indian Ocean.
Excent for one, all the submarines had been reported as missing
and its commander was killed. Accuracy cannot be guarantéed,
but the movements of the submarines have been described based
upon memories of crew survivors, on the attached chart.

* During that period, a considerable number of German
submarines were engaged in destroying commerce in all spheres
of the Indian Ocean. Since the summer of 1943, the dividing
line between the GCerman and Japanese operational area and the

limits of the periods of operations was rescinded on the desire
of the German Navy.

The only thing is to make a comparison between the

movements of the Japanese submarines and the date and place.of
the sinking of each steamer, as is done in Table No. 2. By the
table they can identify no submarine which may be suspected of
the sinkings, with the exception of three. * These three with
thelr crews failed to return to their base, and thus there is
no means to continue the investigation further. As to the

Scotia, information concerning the date and place of sinking
will be revealed as soon as possible.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF TAKATA, TOSHITANE
by Mr. Roberts.

27354 * The witness identified exhibit No. 3065 as his
27357 affidavit, and

27358

27359

27360

after correction verified it. * The affidavit
stated that he held various

posts in the Navy. and from November
15, 1940, to July, 1942, held the post of Chief of Section One
of the Naval Affairs Bureau, and had charge of matters relating
to armament ang administration. After that he was a staff :
officer of the Third angd Combined Fleet, and Assistant Chief
of Staff of the Naval Combine

d Forces. From May 1945 to the
end of the war he was Deputy Director of the Naval Affairs
Bureau, and had

charge of matters relating to preparation for
war. '

Section One handled naval preparat
relating to general administration, *
warships, vessels, units,

and duties; the organizati

ions and matters
matters relating to

offices, and organization of schools
on of warships, ships and units and
service duties; naval discipline and public morals; maneuvers,
censorship, ceremonies, etiquette, regulations on uniforms;
all their war supplies in general, and matters relating to
martial law and defense.

to POVs., * When asked if there we
that POW matters come..: under the jurisdiction of the Naval
Affairs Bureau. the witness

administration.
of various POW r

ork was undertaken by
Section One, and for that

purpose regular personnel assigned.

With respect to handling of POWs as a matter of
international routine, Section Two acted as the reception. The

standard of rulés and customs upon which POWs were handled was
based on International 1law. to the

Regulations pertaining
* treatment of POWs provided

for the procedure for the time
between capture by the navy and turning them over to the Army,
Since the Meiji Era there wer

€ various regulaticns pertaining
avy's turning over the POWs,

amps under the control of the

and they were interned
in POW e

War Ministry,
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On October 7. 1940, rules of naval warfare were
promulgated, and provided that during wartime the Japanecse
warships may capture prisoners at sea and take all necessary
measures against enemy hostility. With respect to matters
which are not provided for, the principle of international
law shall apply. The Japanese Navy had been given lectures

27361 * on international law at various schools, and speciallsis
in international law were sent to the fleet and gave lectures

thereon. :

There were two civil officers in the Navy conversant
with international law. attached to the secretariat ol the
Navy Minister. They handled matters relating to international
relations, and their opinions were not only respected, but if
it became necessary one of them or a specialist was dispatched
to the fleet to give necessary advice on a question ol inter-

national law.

After the outbreak of the China Incident. tle Navy
¥inistry frequently issued reference books etc. to naval units
in connection with international law. He listed varicus books

27362 distributed on international law. * Among these book: ware
contained various treaties and advisory matters relat:.ng to

PO%WVs.

The Navy Minister had authority to make rul-s for
the administration of POWs, and drafted rules and regulations
relating to POWs. The directors of the Naval Affairs ureau,
Accounts and Supplies and Legal Bureau, Military, and l‘edical
Supplies Bureau, were aldes to the Navy Minister 1in Ul s
connection.

The commanders of the naval stations, guardships, and

27763 fleet, * were in a position to enforce the administration of
POW on the basis of these regulations. When POVWis were czptured
the necessary regulations concerning their administration were

fixed.

The witness stated the Navy Ministry was not consulted
by the General Staff in connection with operation orders, nor
ever consulted with regard to submarine operations. /ith regard
to matters concerning POWs 1in operational zones, 1n case of
actual engagement or emergency, the matters were disposcd of

27364 as operational matters. * When Japanese troops were uctually

subjected to enemy attack, the administration of POWs was
disposed of as an operational matter.
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The witness said that Wake was occupied on December
23, 1941, The number of prisoners was unexpectedly large,
although he did not remember the number. Soon after the
occupation, the Wake Commander telegraphed to the Commander of
the 4th Fleet and the Commander of the Combined Fleet, and at
the same time sent information to the Navy General Staff, Navy
Ministry. The garrison commander on Wake during the witness'
tenure as Chief of Section One was Captain KAWASAKI, who was
* under the command of Vice Admiral INOUYE, commander of the
4th Fleet., It was decided to transport the POWs on Wake to
Japan and deliver them to the Army. In the early part of
January, 1942, the Nitta Maru was sent to Wake and the POWs

placed on board.

It was inconvenient from the supply viewpolnt to leave
large numbers of POWs on mid-ocean islands, and it was better
to send them quickly to Japan. This was a naval administration
matter. Whether or not to send the ship was an operational
matter. The Nitta Maru therefore had to be considered both

administratively and operationally.

* The witness recalled the Mobilization Bureau drew
up the plans of movements of the Nitta Maru. after the approval
of the section concerned, and the Navy Minister issued the
command for its movement. The Nitta Maru arrived in Jarpan
about the middle of January, but on army request POWs were
placed temporarily in a prison camp 1ln Shanghai, and were
transported to Woosong direct from the Nitta Naru. Not all
the POWs on the Nitta Maru were from Wake. He recalled that
those transported were a considerable number, but he did not

know how many.

At the time the Nitta Maru reached Wake they received
a telezram from the commander on the spot, saying that there
were many POWs whose transfer * was difficult on account of
1llness, but there were a large number who wished to voluntarily
remain there. The Navy Minister studied the problem of supply
and international law. The international law speclalist advised
that the POWs could remain after voluntarily signing a contract
and agreeing to work not connected directly with combat. They
answered by cable to such effect. He recalled that they received
instructions that as far as those who were ill and could be
removed, and those who had completed their work and desired to
go to Japan, they could be transferred as soon as transportation

was avallable.
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The contracts signed by the POWs who remained had
not reached Section One at the time of the witness' resigna-
tion, which was July 14, 1942, He did not recall any report,
except for an episode, concerning the Wake Island POWs who
remained. * This episode was that the occupation force on
Wake discovered huge amounts of construction materials and
engineering machinery and construction engineers, together
with precision construction machinery. They tried to use
them and operate the bulldozers, but could not do so. One
of the American engineers, by sign language waved aside the
soldiers and smilingly operated the bulldozer. Tre story was
that this was the motive which prompted some of the POWs to

remain.

The witness did not know anything about the fact
that several POWs on board the Nitta Maru were executed en
route from Yokohama to Woosung between the middle and end of
January 1942. There was no reply, and he did not recall
hearing of any subsequently.

With respect to the meting out of punishment to
POY¥s, there was a law called the POW Punishment Law and also
the Navy Court Martial Law, and other regulations. If it was
a disciplinary measure, the commander who had the prisoners
interned apnlied navy disciplinary regulations. In the case
of a penal measure, the naval authorities investigated as
a prosecutor and turned over the case to the nearest court
martial prosecutor for trying. At the Time, the witness knew
nothing of the detailed regulations for the punishment of
POWs established by the commander of the Nitta Maru, and did
not become aware of it until recently.

Commanders of the Fleet and Minor Naval Stations who
received POWs set up camps pursuant to regulations for the
treatment of POWs. * The Ofuna temporary prison camp was
established by the Yokosuka Naval Station. The witness learned
of 1t for the first time when the station submitted papers to
the Ministry requesting appropriations for its construction.

It was a short time before he resigned as Chief of Section One.
The witness received no reports during his tenure regarding
protests of the POWs at Ofuna who were mistreated and driven

to hard labor, or that patients were not given adequate medical
treatment, and he had not heard it from other sources.
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CROSS-EXAMINATION BY COMMANDER COLE.

* The witness did not recall the approximate date
on which Ofuna Camp was established. He stated that it was
possible that Ofuna Camp could have been established without
the approval of the Naval Affairs Bureau. According to POW
regulations, chiefs of naval units in whose hands fell,
and various naval station commanders receiving POWs were
empowered to set up provisional camps. When buildings in
existence were used as camps, it was not necessary to consult
with the Naval Affairs Bureau beforehand.

* Since there were not adequate buildings at Yokosuka
Naval Station, they desired to build extra ones and needed
appropriations. The Naval Affairs Bureau handled this matter
only to the extent of approving the appropriations. The witness
had no clear recollection when the request for appropriations
for the Ofuna camp reached the Navy Ministry. He did recollect
a report from his subordinate that a request for apmropriations
had come from Yokosuka Naval Station after they had already
* begun building a temporary camp. The Navy Ministry did
provide funds for the establishment of the camp.

The witness could not recall receiving any reports
covering the number, names and rank of the POWs at Ofuna Camp.
He believed it exisfed until after the war.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF YAMAMOTO, YOSHIO,
by Mr. Roberts.

* The witness identified exhibit No. 3066 as his
affidavit and verified it, * The affidavit stated that
instructions concerning the handling of POWs were issued by
the Navy Ministry by telegram and correspondence. They were
directed to Headquarters, Naval Base, Minor Naval Stations,
and Fleet. The originals were in the custody of Section One,
but were all lost by air raid fire.

He could recall that instructions issued in December
1941, provided that supervision of POWs was to be in Army
hands. but the Navy was to administer them until turned over
to the Army. This was set forth in the regulations concerning
POWs. * As POWs were captured in the southern zone from
January 1942 to February, instructions were issued to send
them to Japan. As there were quite a number of deaths at
Sasebo temporary prison camp from December 1942 to the spring
of 1943, orders were issued to the Sasebo Naval Station to
investigate the state of affairs, and attention was called to
the accommodations and food situatilon.

In October, 1943, a directive was issued to transfer
to the Army a considerable number of prisoners from Sasebo.
In December, 1944, instructions were issued to survey and
report on the condition of POWs outside Japan. The condition
of them was to be reported in accordance wilth the regulations,
but due to difficulties encountered in traffic and communications
many reports did not reach Tokyo and caused office routine to
bog down. * Instructions were then sent to make a survey, but
reports still did not arrive.

In March, 1945, it was instructed that 1if POWs were
interned by troops stationed abroad they should turn them over
to the nearest army units as quickly as possible. POWs captured
by the Navy were stationed at Wake, Rabaul, Ambon, Macassar and
Haiphone. Most of the Wake POWs were sent to Woosung, Shanghai,
in early 1942, and one portion was later sent to Japan and
delivered to the Army. and a small portion remained to engage
in engineering. He understood that the POWs in Rabaul were
sent to Japan and turned over to the Army. He did not know
whether there were prisoners held in other areas, as there were
no reports. * He had not received any reports that POWs in
those areas had been mistreated.
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* He d1d not know that the U. 8. on August 21, 1943,
sent a 113t with the names of 400 prisoners on Wake whose
whereabouts were unknown. He received no information concern-
ing various inquiries made by the U. 8. regarding the tidings
of prisoners on Wake between October 1943 and July 1945. He
did not recall any other inquiries regarding the Wake POWs
other than the reply to the inquiry * from the Japanese office
that there were a few prisoners remaining on Wake. A report
came directly from the commander of the Wake garrison to the
4th Fleet, and at the same time a telegraphic report came to
the Navy Vinistry and the Combined Fleet General Staff.

When asked what the nature of the report was, the
witness stated that at the time there was a bombardment of
Wake by the U. S. The situation was such that landing of U. S.
troops was expected, and the POWs thereupon rioted and were
shot. The Navy Ministry was not in a position to take direct
action, and so took none. It was watching what action would
* be taken by the Commander of the 4th Fleet.

The communications between Wake, Truk, and Tokyo
was by wireless, and sea-borne traffic could not be conducted
because of danger. There were no reports from the 4th Fleet
with respect to the conduct of the commanding officer on Wake.
At the end of 1943 the South Sea Islands were being attacked,
and the 4th Fleet was being exposed to severe battles. It was
impossible to press for reports because of this condiction and

cause investivations to be made. A court-martial was set up
in the 4th Fleet at that time.

* The Navy Ministry's position remained indefinite
because there was no report, but the capture of the various
South Sea Islands and the occupation of Wake Island became
imminent, and despite the fact that the entire garrison was
prepared for mass self-destruction, there was no way to rescue
the garrison. They could not summon the commanding officer
to headquarters for investigation, or send him to court-martial.

He knew Commander OKADA, staff officer of the Naval
General Staff. Neither the witness nor anyone in the Naval

Affairs Bureau instructed Vice Admiral ABE on Kwajalein, through
OKADA or any other, to execute the prisoners in Kwajalein on
the spot. The Naval Affairs Bureau was not concerned with

OKADA's trip to the South Seas. The Bureau was not aware that
there were POWs on Kwajalein at that time. '
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The Navy always {ssued orders in writing, and never
entrusted anyone with verbal orders. The Navy Kinister could
not give direct orders to ABE as the commander on the spot.
He 4id not remember the date an
received in connection with sinking of Allied merchant ships
by Japanese submarines in the Indian Ocean and atrocities on
survivors, but they did receive some protests. Those in charge
of submarines were asked to investigate. 3ince the matter
involved onerations, tre investigation was referred to the
Naval General Staff and the matter was thoroughly investigated.
They reached the conclusion that since Japanese submarines Wwere
not involved a reply to such effect was sent to the Foreign

Office.

* After the war there was an inquiry from GHQ, SO

the surviving crew members and those connected with the matter
were investigated, but the fact could not be established and
t is exhibit No. 3064.

they so replied. This last repor

station administered the temporary
camp in Ofuna. The witness thought that the commanding officer
of the IMinor Naval Station in Yokosuka appointed some suiltable

subordinate as superintendent of the camp. Such a matter was
within the province of the Yokosuka Naval Station, and no

report was made to the Navy Ministry.

Vokosuka Naval

Yokosuka Station made a report on the personnel in
No

the camp, their names, ranks, and other designations.
report was ever received that the POWs in Ofuna were mistreated

or that they received inadequate medical attention.

examination of the witness, but

There was no Cross-
was called to exhibit No. 2055=C.

the attention of the Tribunal
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KExhibit 3054~C, Naval General Staff
March 1 1942 from Chief of Staff NAGANO to Commanders of the var-
lous haval Stations, except the commander-in-chief of the Combined
Fleat., stuted * that in dealing with enemy and neutral shipping the
sea area should be patrolled. In dealing with foreign shipping due
process snall be taken in accerdance with the law, * If &4 sinkimg
is made without due process because of some forced circumstances,
every possible means shall be taken to rescye lives, Persons of the
armed forces, either armed men or civilians, higher graded mariners.
techniclans, government officials belonging to the enemy countries
or Lo Ghiang Kai-shek shall be taken POWS,

Yirective #6) dated

-

The prosecution called the court's attention to the fact that
the last sentence not read showad that Directive #15 was + abolished.
it was referred to in Exhibits 3057 and 3052, and Exhibit 054=-B re-
lated Lo the abolishing of Directive #60.
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Direct Lkxamination of KONDO, Jotaro by My, Freeman,
27391 #The witness identified Exhibit 3067 as his affidavit and

27392 verified it, * the affidavit stated that from January 1942 te
July 1944 he was governor of Kanangawa Frefecture. Concerning
Exhibit #1969, feport Concerning Labour Conditions of POWNs, it was
a copy of the report the witness sent to the Bastern hray Commander
. for reference, It was made originally in his name to the Home and
delfare Ministry under whose jurisdiction he was. He had no obli-
gation to repcrt to the Bastern army Commander.

The witness presumed the Bqrs of Eastern Army transm.ited

the report to the #ar Ministry. His report showed that FOW labol
27393 brought atout & favorable impression upon the Japanese, ¥ Do

public anncuncement of such laber was made but the people found cut
asbout it by unintentional nbservation, It was the personal opinion
expresssd Ly a passer-by. It was nevar intended to use FOWS for
public display. He never received any instructions to expcse FOWS
to public view and he gave no such instructions. The repert was
made to the Home and welfare Ministers, by the prefectural governgent
compiling irformation received custemarily from various local organs.
Copy of the repori wert to the Hastern srmy Commander with no special
significance.

27394 % The witness stated that he gave no supgestions cr instruc-
tiocns regarding exposiug POS to public view, But ne did give advice

to the authorit.ies in charge of camps, This reluted to the route
connecting POW camps and places at which they were to work e re-
called that through a Chief of Section serving under him he suggested
to the camp authorities that to maintain the dignity of FOAS and to
effectuate better traffic control, the route selected should be the
shortest distance bstween the camp and the place of work and should
not expose POWs to public view.

21395 The witness had no direct ¥ authority to offer these instruc
tions but was in a position Lo report on anything he felt improper
in his jurisdiction and let these facts be known to the proper auth=-
orities. It waa the custom at that time and it was alsc his autheority
as Governor to contreol traffic regulations.

He rad recelved a report irom the section shief that tne
camp suthorities accepted the advice.

Ther= was no cross-examination of the witness.
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Direct examination of SUGITA, Kazuji
by My . Freeman.

-~ 27397 % The witness identified Exhibit 3068 as his affidavit and
after correction verified it.,

27399 % Instructions of YAMASHITA at the start of the Malayan

. Campaign emphasized making friends with the natives. On Singapore's
fall they sew to it that an exemplary occupation work should be
carried »ut without hiteh in taking over the city, considering the
great repercussions, felt all over the world., +while acting upon the
instructions, Y.MASHITA urged Gen, fercival to surrender early to
avoid bloodshed of townspeople, The promise was also made that the
British noncoabatants and women would be protected,

During the Singapore attack the JYapanese sustained much loss,
The tension with the bBritish was intense after the fall ¢f the city.
27400 The sentiment of the Japanese soldiers * against Chinese merchants
grew worse as they obstructed operations a great deal. Toward the
end of December 1941, a hundred or more Chinese merchants took a stand
in a forest to disturb commisary lines and burn Japanese munltions.

Live end of vecember 194), during the battle near Uambar
LENA L SIS i W seaan shoot 1l in the night from around t he 10 S o
' livest” gat | showed it was ‘dons by the Chluese mercliants,
In the alddle of vanuary 19 it various battleas s well
at the tim ) Lihie enemy all* 'alds on Alala wmpur, signal shelis wore reil
51 ot up to show the we) for enemy iire and | luneés This wus late
Snown Lo e the Lrlok:  the CGhinese merchants. Also 1n the middle
(i **u;.al.a.'_,' LY74< Lhiey gulaed eneiny | lanes on night ralds, in he
middle of vYanuary 1942 Ghinese merchants alded eneny subnirines
::'?iff.}l " l_‘{il.g* o1l Lhe coast and sheltered enemy Sed ret agents who came 1ron
the submarines, making the sneny fire easy dand advantageous 1 the
K al'ceCCa S€a ,
In mny pl . cmmunications were cut 1 he
anéral made n ~rhange 1n the instructions but put more sLress
strict punilshme:nt Ll bst.ructing operatlions His attitude was
stern toward 111 behavior of vapanese officers and men. an 1invesliga
tion after the war disciosed that he 1ssued an order on Fevruary <7

1942 with the aim of ._;.;-.;_',pi!‘.:’.' U} GChinese merchants of enemy charactel

lurking in the city and intended to deal them a decisive blow,
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27402 * The witness saw nelther the actual mopping up or even a
single ccrpse, He heard later that Headquarters of Japanese Forces
in the Southern Regions thought the mopping up tactics should not

27402 have been used. They were not ordered by him. MUTO ¥ said
mopping up tactics should not have been used. The witness did not
remember interviewing Maj. Gen., NEWEEGIN and Col. #Wild on February
22 1942, about which Col, wild testified.

lomediately after Singapore's fall conferences and asrrange-
ments were frequent to prevent mishaps, divergences and misunder—
standings between Japan and bBritain, It was not until the latter
part. of February that the operation operated smoothly.

In the Island of Singapore the Eritish were interned at
Changi and Indian scldiers at Nieson und other areas, and there was
considerable confusion, It was difficult to concentrate the Eritish
stationed on spparate islands but efforts were made to prevent
ancidents. The British Forces carried fosdstuffs in good quant ity
and used their own automobiles, trucks and hydro-automobiles, Ttey
were driving about 20 trucks a day to carry foodstuffs from the
water, These trucks were confiscated about the middle of March,

<74L03 * The ordinary townaneople istsained in private houses in
North oingapore were taken toward the end of February to Changi
Prison. The <apanese were sp pressed with preparations for their
next operation while Britisn POWS were quite at leisure that some
Japanese asked which was the winner,

He remembered Y-MASHITA's inspection of the camps in the
early part of March 1942 when he shcok hands with Lt .Gen.FPercival
who expressed thanks tc YaMASHITA, Until the early part of Feb-
ruary most POWS were engaged in improving the prison and preparing
for cultivation of crops, bathing at intervals in the sea. Since
the bepinning of March hundreds of prisoners were coming back and
forth by autos from Changi to clean Singapore. This proved sc
inconvenient that the plan was changed to transfer part to the
city from Chengi and preparations were under way. He did not know

what became of it for he was shifted to different post -1 traveled
27404 to Sumatra on official business. *

Of the Hospital alexander lncident he got no information.
The front line was not advanced as far as the hospital on the 12th
er 13th of March, the date on which Wild testified it occurred.
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He acknowledged Exhibit 476, the Outline of the investiga-
tion on inhumanities during the Malayan Campaign® except the part
made of two leaves of Japanese paper copied from.excerpts of Diary
of February 18th. These documents wers availed of by the Prisoners
Investigation Committee., among them, the State of Funishment of
Chinese Merchants at Singapore, was written by the witness but os
it proved insufficient, it was revised as an Outline of the inves-
tigation on inhumanities during the Malayan Campaign of 23 Nov-
ember. o number of insertions and cancellations were made by others,
He drafted them und presented them to the Central Prisoners Inves-
tigation “ommittee *und to the Prisoners Investigation Board, He
did not know whether they were adopted by the ergenizations, He was
not sure who wrote such notes as "deleted" or "see attachsd papers".

Cross Gxamination by Col. Morrane.

The witness stated he held the post of Chief of Intelligence
Staff in 1942 and it was part of his duties to keep Gen,YasMaSHITA

informed ¥, On February 21st he was pri arily a liaison officer and
was hardly concerned with intelligence and at that time he did not

know that on the 21st of February the arrest of the Chinese hac begun,
It had not started at that time, He became chairman of & comrittee
to inquire into the massacre after the war and then ascertained that
the arrests began on February 2lst. The fact that over 5000 were
killed was concerned with the 2ist of Feb, und thereafter. He made
use of Major Gen KAWhMURA's diary and other information %. K/iwWaMUR«
was garrison commander and the Kempei-tai was under him, He did not
recall a disry entry concerning a meeting where reports coenceming
the punishing of 5000 were read.

# The Chinese were not tried by any court, The witness stated
he struck out a passage in his affidavit in regard to the 5000 killed
because he could not say that he had obtained the figures from
authoritative sources., The witness said he later heard that Hesd-
quarters thought that mopping up tactics should not have been used
from staff officers who came to Singapore. He had not heard that
the Southern ~rmy Hgrs had not ordered the moppling up tactics buat
heard they were opposed to it but did not issue *an order to the
comnander of the 25th army,
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Mopping up was ordered by Gen., HaMaSHITA and the Southern
srny took no steps to punish those responsible for issuing the
order to kill the Chinese, '

The witness meant that it was February 12th or 13th instead
of March 12th or 13th that the front line was not advanced as far
us the Alaxander bpspital. le knew where the Alexander Hospital
was situated. He did not think ¥ that the Japanese Front Line passed
there on the 14th of February at 4.30 pm. le knew they did not pass
there on the 13th or lith of February. ke had never heard of the
massacre at the alexander Hospital before he left Singapore.

The attention of the Tribunal was called to Exhibits 1506
and 1507 and to page 5398 of the record.

+ From Exhibit 476 which is a report on the inhumanities in
Malayan campalgn, it was stated that even after the fall of Singa-
pore anti~Japanese Chinese hid in cities and forests, GBome of them
were communists and maintained connections among themselves and
continued active operations under an organization to carry on an anti-
Japanese movement, They tried to cbtain arms, ammunition, provisions
and comrades in arme, They looted the surrendered arms, assassinated
sfficers and men, destroyed communication and transportation lines,
killed, threatened snd pillaged law-abiding citizens, The state of
peace and order on the Malay YFeninsula after the war was still alarm-
ing.

Purging operations there represented peace preservation
patrol activities to protect not only the Japanese but also the lire
and property of the native people. They regretted to say they had
no clear idea of the situstion due Lo lack of data. The anti-Japan-
ese Chinese who lost their lives fell under their bullets during the
battle., Their side also suffered considerable casualties.

From Exhibit 475, Japanese report on the comstruction of the
Burma-Thailand HKailway stated ® that as construction was completed
in October 1943, all pows except those engaged in maintenance work
were transferred to camps in Siam. The camps there could shelter
them and the food and sanitary conditions were improved. Those
thought. to be suitable for certain work were removed to FIC and then
transferred to Singapore and moved to Japan. The POAS who were
rescued departed from ingapore at the beginning of September and
1300 English and australian prisoners were uabroad.
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They suffered a good deal from the rainy season, especially on
Lhe Burms side., During the rainy seascn hurriedly constructed motor
v~nds and newly built railroads were vVery difficult to maintain and
hindered supplies. On the Thai side, since the middle of May &
shrough motor car communication was suspended and on the Burma side

kept up with difficulty.

% Jihan the Keonol rivers rose,-it could be used for naviga-

<on and zerved as a line of communication, But in flood it was a

hindrance, Lmnnediately after the rainy season sets in no navigation
for twenty days. During this time there is the danger of

is possible Iol
suspension of communication both on land and on water. On the Burma

side beth raiiway bridges and read bridges were swept away and the
5

-
- -
supply was critical,

innther hindrance was the fact that the rainy season set in
e month esrlier than usual, Various countermeasures were not
complete, They were taken by surprise and most of thelr efferts came
to nothing. The effect was fatal to their work, supply and main-
teanunce atc, and coupled with the sudden prevalence of cholera con~
ot yuction work and sauperintendence of prisoners became difficult and

victims increased.

¥The success of censtruction dependsd on preparedness in the
wmarward ared, The Scuthern army aciknowledged the need of preparing
for supply, sanitation and measures securing and maintaining labor
and pocling of construction materials and every effort was made to
mmalize this,

The main part of the newly delivered 200 suppiy motor lrucks
were usable cnly ¥ for twenty days belore the rainy season stsrted and
only 40 percent were fit for service. Every effort was made to supply
fixed rations and they tried to pile up the reserve stocks for use in
inner regions during the rainy season but without success, There was
no great difficulty in the supply of stable ration although the inner
regions lacked a certain gquantity of supplementary rations.

Motor trucks were sent too late. The construction of the road
was not complete within the limits. It was in active use for a short
time during the dry season. There was a shortage in transportatiocn
capacity and these were the main causes for thelack of rations.




NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD

September 3 1947
DEFENSE - DIV V - PACIFIC

POWS

page

274617

274817

27418

27419

Page 4227

Supply was comparatively usguduring the dry season.ihenthe rainy
season set in roads in Thailand and Burma were muddy and permitted no
motor-car traffic while the waters in the rivers did not rise rapidly.

In May through traffic on land and water was held up, the supply was

cut and those in the inner regions had to be content with half to one*
third of the fixed rations.

The Pows were transp~:ted on the Thailand side by railway and
on the Burma side by ships, to the construction area and their removals
within the construction area were done on foot.

after the Thailand camp was organized it was designed to
cooperate with construction troops for a year since July 1943, The
delay in the work progress was due to the increase of patients due to
the weather and this made necessary closer relations between the working
troops and the camp * regarding improvement of supply and sanitation and
working capacity until in July 1943 the Thailand Camp was put under the
construction commander., & part of the war prisoners on the Burma side
was since July 1943 put under the command of the commander of the 5th
railway regiment who was also commander of the construction work there.

POlis properly were under the control of the head of Thailand
Camp. kxcept in the Burma area the camps were directly under the con-
struction comminders but were never under the direct control of the

working troops.

The close relation was kept between the supervision party and
the employing party and attention was paid to pows' health and efforts
made to improve the situation on the basis of customs and manners. There
* were many instructions to the men and those in the course of embar-
cation.

In September when the rain season was over the road conditions
improved. In addition tec the advance of construction, the concurrent
use of the water route became possible. Supply transportation improved
and the regular rations could be given with the aid of commissary troops
and transportation sections of the troops. ‘Due to the fatigue after
more than & year and the deployment in romote places the number of
patients and deceased did not shrink.

In Uctober 1943 the Thailand Camp sent 1000 healthy prisoners
alternately from the flat country toc the remote places and engaged them

s » o
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in re-inforcement work of the railway, and at the same time successively
transferred this main body over level ground and tried to recover the
health of the pows. * Supervision became normal too.

Many camps were established in the rendezvous and a camp
hospital was built at Nakonpaton. Besides an effort to give medical
treatment, suppliss were given beyond the regular rations. The health
of the pows got better and the number of patients and dead dwindled.

Two branches of the Malay camp were restored to their proper
positions by the end of the year and health conditions also improved.

In June 1943 #Lt, FUJII, commander of the 9th Railway Regiment
had ordered one of the pows to shoot his fellow who was suffering from
cholera, to check the disease. He was brought to trial but was
scquitted. The commander of his troops gave him maximum punishment and
he was suspended from office. The railway construction commander
disciplined the commander of the $th Railway Regiment to which FUJII
belonged. The details are not certain as the documents were burnt.

Concerning other affairs, it was difficult for the central
authority to search into them. It was desired the local authorities
be investigated. But there was no case where 600 men were pushed
to death from a precipice.

%.s to the treatment of POWS during the construction of the
Thailand-Burma railway, it would become clear when the circumstances
were understood, that the greatest efforts were made but many fell
unavoidable victims.

The transportation capacity required ran short and the 3500
cars in Malaya were reduced to about 1700 usable cars because of de-
cadence and poor means of communication. Various #* cars of FIC,
Thailand, Malay and Japan were used. They had hard work to draw up
transportation plans and to manage the cars. The Third Field Railway
Headquarters took charge of the planning and managing of the railway
transportation according to south army ordinance.

In the transportation of the persons it was not unusual that

one train was limited to take 700 persons on board in the
Malay-Southern Thailand line., This standard was adopted indiscrimin-
ately for pows and native laborers.
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27424 Iransportution was carried out on this organization, bDe-
Cause ot the sitoation even Jupanese officers were taken on board
the wagors here may have been nstances where the rate of covered /
and uncovered wagens were subject to slight alteration in accordance :
With the situation, cor more perscns than the full Capacity were ’
lorceaq Lo ba taken on board I

girezearches made from the end of 1944 on the treat-

ment L the Mpoulmein srea the details are unknown as the
persons icerned are dead or transferred.

27425 'ore contents of the protests have discrepancies and some
«r® exsagierated and unfounded. It is net true that nearly 20,000
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the cars consisted of five uncovered wagens and other

covered ones. These were mainly cars transporting rice from Thail-

and to Xalay and coming back without loading,

POW3 were accommodated in Moulmein and its vicinity at the beginning
of 194 «n Moulmein snd its vicinity from March to June 1942 about
20 Mnglis ¢rs and about 700 Indian pows and in Tavoy 79

i1la ¥s5 were 1nterned topether with hostile citizens,

oulmein and in ‘avoy were removed to Hangoon
'ield Camp in » 1942 and Yebruary 1943,

-

it was decided that pows should be employed when construc-

tion of the lhallend-Surma Mailway was discussed and 9535 pows from

lava L9746 from Singapore were removed to Durma in Nowber 1542
i 3 ¥ ¥ -y 101 2

iary 1943 s Lhey were composed into the Thailand Camp
i ave been reported concerning an opening place there.

hose who died before the construction of the raillway were
live bnglishmen «nd five lndians It was just at the beginning of
Lie Yurnae operation and it was almost impossible to supply the rear,
. +he collegting of meterials on the spot was not carried out as it

‘e the supply may not have been enough but

11l was the | * With Lhe Yapsnese saprmy,
= number ol deCeased pows in the district east of Tunbizaya
after Lhe struction of the Thailand-burma Railway was begun is3
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In all Burma west of Tanbizaya there were 10 deceased in
October and 12 in November 1942. It is unfounded that there were so

many dead as protested.

# as construction of the railway was most urgent the work had
to be forced with whatever material and equipment the army had,
The districts along the line were the jungle where no man had been
and accommodations and supplies and sanitary facilities were differ-
ent from the normal life of the pows and traffic was interrupted
frequently during the 1943 rainy season. The pows as well as the
Japanese soldiers were obliged to suffer.

The main forces of the Japanese Army's sanitary facilities
were concentrated to prevent diseases that could not be checked.
Stil1l more, the civilized prisoners were unaccustomed to wild life.

% Jhen the railway was opened in October 1943 every establish-
ment was completed and the number of patients and deceased dwindled.

It is not true that pows were contemptuously displayed in
Feburary 1944, I is not certified whether some engaged in the
supplementary work were employed to transport food and materials in
the city of Moulmein after the completion of the Thailand-Burma
Ra Llwa;.r o

Exhibit 3069, army Yrder #1, issued by the war Minister to
Japanese soldiers at the front, stated * that even though their miiitary
might overcame the enemy, thelr martial virtue will not be perfect
if they are devoid of the virtue of benevolence to forgive these who
submit and to love those who obey, Martial spirit should not be
haughty and benevolence not osterfatious. The virtues of bravery and
benevolence are noble only when they flow naturally and spontaneously

from one's self.

"They should pay regard to the custody of enemy assets and
properties., &fegquisition, confiscation and destruction of supplies
should be carried out only on superior nrders. They were to love
and protect innocent native people with benevolence,
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(ICHINOHE ~ Direct Exam) Page L4231

Direct Examination of Kimiya ICHINCHE
by ¥r. Freeman,

% The witness identified Exhibit 3070 as his affidavit and
verified it, %The witness stuted he had been a staff officer and
was in Sumatra from February 14 1943 to June 27 1944, while he
Was on duty ¥ in Sumatra Island copies of the Imperial Rescript and
Instruction in the sar Field were distributed to soldiers in every
corp stationed there. it Division Headquarters all members paraded
every morning. st the morning parade the Imperiul Rescript or
Instructions to Army Officers and Men on Conduct and Behavior in
Battle Fields, was read and instructions or directions based on

them were given, sp that the Rescript and the Instructions were
well diffused and put into practice,

#*The same thing was performed on festival and memorial days,
In every corp the same effort was made to diffuse and put into
practice tne Imperial Rescript and Instructions. He knew this by

reports from the corps and by his personal attendance on festival
and memerial days,

44+

There was no cross examination
of the witness,
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Exhibit 3071, affidavit of Alfred E, Kretschmer, stated
that he was German Military attache in Tokyo from Dec. 4 1940 until
May 8 1945, Between January 1941 and March 1944 he visited all
Japaneses Fronts with the exception of the New Guinea Front.

In March 1942 when all Axis attaches visited the southern
regions cenquered by the Japanese, only in Singapore were they
invited to ses the pow camps, They declined as they had already
protested in Manila when they were shown a civilian internment camp.
Because of this they were not again invited to visit a camp,

%{n Singupore they saw ~ustralian FOWS driving by in trucks.
They looked healthy and happy and scarcely guarded. In December 1942
or January 1943, in reprisal for chaining of German =oldiers captured
during an anglish raid, the Cerm«n Government had ordered a special
number of British POAs to be put in chains. The German Foreign
Office cosmissioned Ott to ask the Japanese Foreign Office to join
in these repirsals as Italy had premised. Ctt, as well as the
atteche detested the extension of such reprisals and thought the
Japanese would reject the request,

Ott therefore remonstrated to the German Foreign Cffire
but he was disregarded and Ott asked the affiant te appreach the
Japanese army with the propesal. He himself addressed the Forelign
Office., 7The affiant talked the matter over with Major YAMAZAKI
of the wWar Ministry and next day received the #dar Ministry's answer
that the Yapanese army would not join in on such German reprisals,
they being cortrary to the Bushide spirit. Ott received & corres-
ponding enswer from the Japanese Foreign Uffice, In the affiant's
conversalions with army circles he learned that the deslire existed
to treat POWs decently according to international law as was done
in the first Jorld iar,

as to the civil internment camp in Manila the quarters were
somewnat crowded but the internees looked healthy and were apparently
allowed to govern and feed themselves, shenever he saw Japanese
soldiers there they were in fair or good discipline,
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Direct Examination ef INADA, Nasazuni by Mr . Freeman.

The witness identified Exhibit 3072 as his affidavit and verified
it, The witness stated that he was at present in Sugame Frisen; that
at the outbreak of the war he was Vice-Chief of Staff of the Fifth army
in Manchuria as @ Major General. In the spring of 1942 he became chief
of staff of that army and in March 1943 vice-chief of the General Staff
of the “outhern Army in Yingapore and held various other jobs.

Abgut July 1943 in Singapore he had an interview with lt Gen,

HaMiDa, chie® of the <ar Ministry's Frisoner Control Dept. who was then
on a tour of inspection of conditions of war prisoners. ihen he stated
his wish t L improve FOW's treatment the * witness answered that TERAUCHI
was opposed to cruel tresatment of FPOWS and wanted mere care in handling
them, His staff aways auw to it that his officers and men acted accord-
ingly. They instructed the POds should be treated the same a= ordinary
armed units since specisl trewtment better than that could not possibly
be given,

The work on the Thailand-Burma railway employed ordinary armed
units, civilian laborers and POWS and the work was not easy, They were
hard pressed for provisions and medicine but they were never cruelly
treated. 4ll that could be afforded was done to maintain their working
power.,

HaMADA  said he had inspected principal POW intermment camps
ln various parts eof southern countries and had given instructions to
improve the treatment of POWS,

CROSS- EXAMINATION BY COL. MCRNANE

lhe witness stated he had never inspected the EHPleThdl]hﬂd
prison camps perscnally and therefore could not say of "his own Knowledge

that POWS were never cruelly treated in relation teo the Burma-Thailand
railway.

The attention of the Iribunal was callesd te Exhibits 1555 %=
1575 at pp 12991 1trnugh 13087 of the record, and the evidence of
Williams at page 13003, Coates at page 11411 to 11433 and #Wild at page
5345
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27443 * The witness identified Exh. 3073 as his affldavit and

27444 verified it. * The affidavit stated that from December 1940
to October 1942 the witness was Commander of the 13th Army 1in
Shanghai. Occupation of the International Settlement at Shang-
hal on December 8, 1941 was orderly and disciplined and was
-praised by all citizens. There were no unfortunate happenings
or any shooting. Every precaution was taken to vrevent inci-
dents which accompany military occupation. The force was kept
at a minimum and did not exceed 500. The occuvaticn was in day-

: 1ight and began an hour later than the tlime 1in which people
. went to work.

27445 Prior to the troop advance * the milliary eroup con-
sisted of army, navy and foreign office mersd nel, visitea
the Municipal Office and gave notice of the o° uration so that
the anthorities could prevent disturbance =nd unresi. Settle-
ment police units were stationed at securitiy nositions and the
troops advanced in their presence. The troops marched in for-
mation to the U.S. Marine Corps Barracks ana wer nrohibited
from dispersing.

Any special duty was undertaken DY & Corps commanded
by an officer or non-come. Patrols were sert to insvect and
prevent wrongs being committed. Notices wore sted telling
the citizens to be calm,

. 27446 The witness summoned all the commande! * and in-
structed them to take every precaution, and thai military dis-
cipline be enforced strictly, and they should discharge their

duty without arms. Banks kept open and business was carried
on as usual, Jzpanese nationals could not enter the ¢ity
without certificates. Not a single {ncident occurred. There
was much traffic.

Newspapers were unanimous In Thsll noroval of the
exemplary behavior. *

There were some 1500 to 1600 U,5, and British POWs
under the 13th Army. The witness used 1 instruct the chief
of the camp to be fair and just in his treatment of POWs and
General YUSE, Camp Commander, abided by the instructions,
When PCOWs went outside to work, he nsed te share the work with
them. He renorted once a week on <¢amp < nditicns and was £o
devoted that ne died while in office from discase, The camp
was properly equipped and maraced. A Swizs delegate was de-
lighted after he had inspected the cam: ~d wrote a setter of

thanks after his visit.

e
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Whnile one of the interpreters was indicted as a war
criminal, yet the general conditions in the camp may be gath-
27448 ered from the fact that with this exception * no one 2lse has
been put to trial, They tried to be fair and Just in treat-
ment of their men. They did not intend to restrain any peace-
ful citizens who did not resist. They therefore decided on
the methods of treating these citizens. During his tenure of
o’fice, hostile nationals such as Americans, Britishers, ete,
were under no restraint whatsoever and were at liberty to re-
side and make a 1iving in the city. They were allowed to fol-
' low their respective occupations. Even leading officisls of
the Municipal Office were not removed but were allowed to
carry on their work until they resigned voluntarily in Maren
1942,

Bank depnosits were not frozen and a certain amcunt
could be drawn each month, For treatment of hostile nation-
als and their properties, there was a committee consisting
of delegates from the War Ministry, Navy Ministry, the Foretign

27442  Office and the Asiatic Development Bureau, * whicr. decided on
various measures so that no one could take arbitrary and high-
handed steps. -

The authorities of the Forelgn Office knew better
than anyone else that in the Shanghai district a fair and
27450 just treatment was accorded to hostile nationals. +

. CROSS~-EXAMINATION BY MA. TAVENNER

The witness stated that the trial and execution of
the Doolittle Fliers was carried out under the ariny of whiceh
e was responsible. His superior was General TADA. The
2ccused HATA was then Commander-in-Chief of the Uhina Expe-

274573 ditionary Forces * and the witness was serving under and sub
ordinate to HATA. Since the witness was absent fronm his post
prior to and at the time of the trial, he had not diszsoussed
the matter with HATA, A month had elapsed after the trial
when he returned from the front. He talked with HATA after
he returned but the trial was already over., Prior in the
trial he 31d not tell HATA that he was walting for receipt
of orders to try the fliers and HATA d1d not tell him this.
When they spoke, HATA was awalting the resulis of the review
taking place in Tokyo.

The Kempel Tai were not under the witness' command,
The witness received orders to try the Doclittle Fliers from
HATA;, He did not have a copy of the order and did not know
whal happened to it. He did rnot discuss the matter with HATA

C o T e e L i
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prior to receiving the order. The witness was away for several
months commanding front-line forces in a large-scale operation
along the Sekkan Railway. The order from HATA was a simple
one, ordering the 13th Army to conduct the trial of the Doo-
27454 1little Fliers. * The witness did not know the charges or
formalities of the proceedings because of his absence and
the matters were handled by his subordinates,

Around September 20th after returning from the front-
line, the witness went to Headquarters to report on the trial.
He told HATA that the sentence seemed to be very heavy. How-
. ever, since the results had been reported to Tokyo, they could
do nothing but await the review then being conducted. HATA
agreed that there was nothing could be done except wait.

27455 The attention of the Tribunal was called to Exh.
1819, 1901, the testimony of Powell at page 3270, Exh., 1897,

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LAZARUS
COUNSEL FOR HATA

The witness stated that HATA had the duty to suver-
vise and command the China expeditionary forces. There were
two categories of operation depending on their scope. Some
HATA planned on his own authority and some he waited for

27457 orders from Tokyo. With respect to trying foreign fliers *

. he received his orders directly from HATA but he had heard
from HATA that the latter received his orders from Tokyo.
Later the witness confirmed this from HATA. He also heard it
from TOJO after he entered Omori Camp in October or November
1945, General SUGIYAMA was Chief of Staff at the time of the
trial. The witness had not heard the details as to whether
the order was issued by SUGIYAMA or TOJO. It had to come
from either of these two places. The witness did not know
where the order commuting the sentence of five fliers and
ordering the execution of three came from because the order
came after he left as commander. He later heard that the
order came from Tokyo but he didn't know where,

27459 * The witness stated that the judges in the Doolittle
case were at liberty to conduct the trial on the basis of mili-
tary law promulgated by the China Expeditionary Forces, They
had no power to acquit. He heard later that the order promul-
gating these laws came from Tokyo.

27465 The witness stated that if orders came from Tokyo
to try the Doolittle Fliers,before they could reach his head-
quarters, they would have to go through HATA's headquarters
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and when a decision was announced it had to be forwarded to
Tokyo through HATA's office because he was commander of the
China forces.

After reviewing the order of commutation and execu-
tion, in order to reach the witness' command it would have to
go through HATA.

Attention of the Tribunal was called to Exh. 1984-A,
the interrogation of TOJO.

RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. TAVENNER

He stated he did not know whether HATA had aunthority
to make recommendations in connection with the review., When
asked whether HATA made a recommendation, the witness stated
that when he reported to HATA, the latter said that since the
raiding incident took place in Japan, and since the order
said it was to be reviewed in Javan, there probably would be
a just and fair review and there was nothing to do but wailt
for the decision of TOJO. Neither the wltness nor HATA made
any recommendation., * He did not think HATA made any recom-
mendation but he could not speak positively on this point, He
did recall that he said there was nothing to do and 1t would
be reviewed in Tokyo. HATA did not ask the witness to make a
recommendation. At the time, and even today, he did not know
whether the order was issued by the War Minilster or the Chief

of Staff.
The attention of the Tribunal was called to Exh. 1601

3 RECROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. LAZARUS

The witness stated it is not the usual custom in the
Japanese Army in such cases for either him or HATA to make
recommendations to theilr superiors.

Exh. 3074, the affidavit of Mary Martin, stated *
that the witness' husband was British Consul General in Chung-
king and they had gone to Hongkong in November 1941 where he
was operated on. He was setting on very well, but the attack
on Hongkong was followed by a complete breakdown of most
services, such as food and medicine. The chances for survival
were 1ight and her husband died on April 7, 1942, From January
to June, when the witness left on the Gripsholm, she or her hus-
band owed every bit of consideration and help they received to
certain Japanese officials to whom she felt deeply grateful,
This accounts for her being alive today. * When her husband

iied,
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she was unprepared to face concentration camp 1ife and told
the Japanese in the Foreign Office. He realized what she
meant. This kindness shown to her was received by various
other pecple. The kindnesses were inmumerable, Mr. ODA came
t+» see her husband personally. He loaned them money, both
personal and government money. He gave them a pass which was
of the highest protection and it meant that she received
' courtecus treatment from all sentries. On her husband's deatn

he sent a representative to the funeral with a wreath ex-

274773 pressing his sympathy. He always showed kineness * although
he was extremely bad tempered, particularly at the time when
the Doolittle bombing of Japan took vplace.
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27476 * The witness identified Exh. 3075 as his affidavit and

27477 verified it. * The witness stated that he was commander of the
104th division from December 1940 to July 1942 in Kwangtung, and
later served until the surrender in Korea.

In December 1941 the Japanese Army carried out almost
no military operations and tried to maintain peace and order
§ in the Kwangtung District. It was hardly possible to conclude
that the Army occupied the walled city on December 21, 194l.

When war broke out on December 8, there was only a
division and a half in the district. At that time Yu Han-mou
with a force of 220,000 took the offensive and the witness'

27478 division did everything * to defend itself against attack.

Although the witness lived in the Kwangtung District
for twenty months, he had never heard of Shihuohan, Uyanchiao,
Shahsia, Shaipuchang, and other named cities, He was confi-
dent that military dlseipline was strictly maintained. He
sent judiciaries twice a week to various units to give train-
ing to prevent crimes. They did their utmost to prevent
crimes no matter how slight.

' The witness' strict military discipline won Chinese
respect, There wasn't a single case in which a Chinese was
murdered by his subordinates,

The attention of the Tribunal was called to Exhibits
350 and 351, There was no cross-examination of this witness,
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF OKADA, YOSHIMASA

The witness identified Exh. 3076 as his affidavit
and verified it, The affidavit stated that the witness was
in the 6th Area Army at Hankow to June 1943. 1In January 1944
Headquarters of the Japanese Expeditionary Forces in China
ordered the 23d Army to capture Liuchow, advancing from the
Canton area, The original order for this was burned * but
the witness remembered it and knew the movements of the Army,

The 23d Army was in Canton. When it got the order
to capnture Liuchow instead of advancing directly toward
Liuchow, the main force marched to the north, and the KOYA-
SEKO force to the south, concealing the operations plan.

The KOYASEKO force was a battalion under the com-
mand of the YONEYAMA Brigade. It started from Kowkong late
in June and entered Taishan leading the van of the whole
brigade. By that time all inhabitants of Taishan had al-
ready evacuated and there wasn't a soul to be seen,

The force tried to march toward Liuchow from a
point 30 miles south of Taishan but there was a strong
enemy position and there was a fierce battle which lasted
most of July * and casualties were heavy and much arms and
ammunition were wasted, The aim of the battalion was not to
fight but to advance secretly to Wuchow and sween out the
mines of the enemy in Si-kiang to help the main force which
was coming up north. One of the navy minesweepers accom-
panied them., Under this situation they were at a loss when
confronted with unexpected battle. They were delayed five
days in getting to Wuchow, but after a hard hattle they
drove back the enemy and advanced toward the city.

All the inhabitants had taken refuge and none
could be seen. The force had the urgent duty of getting to
Wuchow without wasting a moment, Therefore it could not
have been possible for them to have had time enough to
murder the inhabitants or set fire to their houses enroute,
They had to march day and night, * The commander of the Army
had strictly ordered all the soldiers to observe the "three

don'ts"; that i1s, "don't burn,"” "don't kill." and "don't
plunder."

KOYASEKO had been superintendent of the Military
Preparatory School in Osaka until apvointed commander of
the force., It was the unwritten rule of the Army that a
superintendent of such school be selected from officers of
noble character. He therefore did not believe that there
could be any atrocities committed by his men, If there had
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF KOYASEKC, KANAME

* The witness identified Exh. 3077 and verified it.
The affidavit stated * that beginning in 1941 for three years
the witness was attached to the Osaka Military Preparatory
School. From 1944 to the end of the war he was commander
of the 126th Independent Infantry Battalion and participated
in the operations in South China, In June 1944 his battalion
advanced from Canton to the Taishan area and thence north-
ward, operating in the VWuchow area, a strategic point on the
Sikiang River. They made a forced march for about a month
and due to unexpected stubborn resistance were delayed in
their ranid advance and snent about five days loneer than

directed,

Secores of officers and men were killed and wounded
and a large amount of ammunition consumed.* His unit was
always under strict orders to maintain military discinline
strictly and severely. Their slogan was the three don'ts,
"don't burn, don't kill, and don't nlunder" which he was
sure his unit had not violated. The men adhered so thorough-
1y to the orders of superior officers that he was positive
no one under his command ever killed any Chinese or ever set
fire to any Chinese houses. They were told that in a wvalley
north of Taishan, there was a croup of villagers forming an
armed body, called the Sanshansiang self-defense corps and
led by members of the communist traitors-slaying narty, that
211 the members of this body, amounting to some 800, were
armed either with rifles or with revolvers and that they
constantly oppressed the neipghboring villagers.

Late in June the witness' unit advanced toward the
Taishan area * and then was ordered to move further. At that
time t e coolies empnloyed in Canton desired to go home and
the Japanese gave them sufficient wages and clothes and let
them go. The coolies released were about half of those who
had followed them from Canton, He heard that these coolles,
when passing this communist village, were assaulted by the
7i1lagers and looted, massacred or captured. They then
retreated to Taishan and obtaining heln of neighboring vill-
agers, who had been oppressed by the communists, they re-
venged themselves on this enemy and this occasion=d some
bloodshed., He knew nothing but what he said because the
Chinese alone were involved in the affair and he thought
that any atrocity reported around Taishan was by mistake.
He stated not a single act of atrocity was ever committed
by his unit. * The actions of his battalion were of purely
military nature and included no illegal actions. He attached
a sketch-map, There was no cross-examination of the witness,
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF TOSHIMA, FUSATARO
BY MR. FREEMAN

The witness identified Exh, No. 3078 as his affi-
davit and verified it. * From 1940 to 1942 the witness
was Commander of the 3rd Division in China. In the summer
of 1941 the Chinese Forces in Changsha were very powerful
and were beginning to take the offensive against the Japa-
nese. To deliver a hard blow against these Chinese it was
decided to have the troops advance toward this area, not
to occupy the area but just to crush the enemy forces. *
The Japanese forces were to return to their garrison sta-
tion as soon as they attained their objective.

The witness' 3rd Division started operations to-
gether with the 4th, 6th and 10th Divisions in early Octo-
ber, The 4th Division entered Changsha and after staying
three days pulled out for their stationed area, The 3rd

Division advanced as far as Chuchow but did not enter
Changsha,

During operations, military discipline was ex-
ceedingly strict and actions of the Japanese was fine and
exemplary. The authorities of the Japanese Expeditionary
Army in China applied their utmost effort in maintaining
strict military discipline. In March 1941 the army com-
mander summoned together all the divisional commanders
within the army to Hankow where a meeting was held to
talk over the maintenance of strict military * discivline.
He delivered grave and firm instructions, He stated that
the essence of the army is not just being strong; every
soldier must treat the inhabitants in the field of opera-
tions with sincerity and kindness, aid righteousness and
punish the bad, basing their actions on the true spirit
of BUSHIDO. Each commander must make certain that there
is no soldier under his command that would act contrarily
to the spirit of BUSHIDO. All divisional commanders had
their men faithfully obey these instructions. Prior to
thlis time there had been the three taboos of "Do not burn,
kill or loot.," 1In obedience to these orders of their

superiors, they did not commit any deeds that would be a
disgrace éo a soldier,

While the 3rd Division was in the midst of oper-
ations a view was presented that they had better destroy
enemy barracks by fire. But the witness issued strict
orders prohibiting soldiers from destroying even barracks
of the enemy, as 1t was difficult to distinguish private
homes from those used as barracks,
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Another attack on Changsha was carried out at the
end of 1941 with the same objective. The 3rd and 6th Divi-
Slon attacked the Chinese Forces in the area, They returned

without going into Changsha although they had advanced close
D 1t.

During his stay in China, in accordance with tha
intention of the army commander the witness pald utmost
attention to maintenance of strict military discipline.

So far as his division was concerned, he believed there

was not a thing in which they were not unlimpeachable, The
Attention * of the Tribunal was called to Exhibits 341 and
342, There was no cross-examination of the witness,
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF SUZUKI, TEIJI
BY MR. FREEMAN

The witness identified Exhibit No, 3079 and veri-
fied it., The affidavit stated * that from Aupust 1942 he
was Commander of the 104th Division under the Kwangtung
23rd Army until March 1945, Toward the end of June 1944,
the division was ordered to occupy the Liuchow Airfield.
To conceal movement, he had the troops advance toward
the banks of the Lienchiang in the northern districts of
Kwangtung, and then had them turn around and advance
toward Wuchow, They started action against the Liuchow
Airfield from its eastern and southern distriets. Jus¢
at this time the 6th and 68th Regiments, both a part of
the Central China Army, were marching from the northern
and eastern districts of the Liuchow Air*ield. and in co.
operation with them, they succeeded in cccupying the
airfield in November 1944, After five days, they ad-
vanced as far as Checheng, then changed directions to
return to Kwangtung. His division entered the Liuchow
Airfield only, and did not allow a single man to enter
the city of Liuchow across the river,

In occupying the airfield, only a single advance
battalion from his division fought against the remaining
enemy and they were able to enter the airfieid easily,
almost without battle worth speaking of., During the
battle the division strictly observed the three-noint
instructions of "Don't burn, don't kill and don't vlunder.’
They faithfully carried out the poliey of extending love
to the people and behaved with the chief ocbjective on

racification and securing peace in the rear areas,

The residents had escaped and there were none
who remained, When they learned that Japanese army dis-
cipline was strictly maintained and that the Japanese
Army not only did not injure the residents but loved them,
they returned one by one toc follow their occupations, *
Discipline of his division was strictly maintained and
there was not a single instance of his men having killed
any resident or having burned any of their houses,

There was no cross-examination of this witness.,
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davit and verified 1it.

DIBECT EXAWINATION OF YONEVAMA, YONEGHIK
7 BY MR. FREEMAN b

*  The witness jdentified Exhibit 3080 as his affi-
The affidavit stated that from

s Commander of the 22nd Inde-
ch attacked Liuchow from the

did not advance directly toward

Kwantung area. H1s unit
Liuchow but began to advance south toward Leichow Penin-

sula in the opposite direction, in order to conceal the

operation plan.

The battalion under his'command began actidn

near Kuantung and marched to the vicinity of Chaoyangli,
A1l the inhabi-

north of Taishan, at the end of June.
tants, beginning with those of Taishan, had fled.

He did not permit soldiers * to enter the town
of Taishan, except a small mumber of military policemen

to guard the evacuated houses. There were no incidents
on the streets. Strictly abiding by the Army Commander's
commands of "Don't burn, don't kill and don't plunder,"
the forces maintained exceedingly strict military dis-
cipline, Around Taishan, they never killed inhabitants
{ved fierce flre

or set fire to their houses. They rece
from numerous enemy watch-towers constructed at a place
" miles south of Taishan and met with stub-

approximately 3
born resistance, suffering considerable 1losSsS, including

the artillery commander.

* When the unit left Kuantung, they took several
hundred coolies. When they came to Taishan, the coolles

wished to go homej after giving them wages, allowances
and clothes, they permitted them to do SOe. New ones
e was informed that when these

were not recruited. H
ist village On their way home,

coolies came by a commun
they were arrested by members of a soclety by the name

of Chu Chien Tuan,(Organization for pun
who robbed them and finally killed them. This had

nothing to do with the Japanese troopS.
that the Japanese killed, plundered or set fire, and
none of his subordinates were guilty of such action.

He stated that Commander KOYASEKO was a man
of noble characterj he loved the Chinese and stressed
"respect for old people and love for children," He
held unusual confidence among the Chinese people.

There was no cross-examination of the witness.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF KURODA, SHIGENORI
BY MR. FREEMAN

The witness identified Exhibit No. 3081 as his
affidavit and verified it, The affidavit stated that from
1938 to August 1941 the witness was Commander of the
4th Independent Garrison in Manchuria and Commander of
the 26th Division.

In January 1940, as Commander of the 26th Divi-
sion, under the Central Mongolian Army under Lt, Gen,
DKAB%, the witness was engaged in operations in the VWuyuan
District to suppress forces there. Thelr troops adivanced
from Paotou by motor and defeated the enemy in ten days.
His forces evacuated Wuyuan * immediately after occupa-
tion and the town was then guarded by OKABE's forces,

The witness used to warn his troops never to
treat the nationals cruelly and this was understood by
all, from commanders down. He instructed them to be kind
toward the Chinese and this was obeved faithfully. His
division was noted for discipline and was the model divi-
sion. He therefore denied that on February 2 or 3
of 1940, some soldiers of the 13th Regiment of the 26th
Division committed outrage and slaughter. The battle
was fought on the open plain of Wuyuan and no attack was
attempted on the town. Moreover, all the inhabitants had
taken refuge in the interior and no one was left., DBesides,
any such unlawful acts could not and in fact were not com-
mitted by his troops, nor by the troops of Maj. Gen.
ADACHI, the Commander of the Infantry Corps and Col.
ISHIGURO, Commander of the Regiment, both of whom were
very scrupulous about discipline.

If there had been unlawful acts, they would have
been reported, and communication was satisfactory so that
the witness could receive and examine all reports from
everywhere, However, no such cases of violence came to
his notice. Moreover, if such an act had been committed,
it would have been brought before a court martial for
strict punishment, but no case of this nature was tried by
a court martial.

On the contrary, the fact was that Jananese
troops were massacred in the Wuyuan district. In March
1940 a number of Japanese soldiers of the CKABE group, who
were guarding the town of Wuyuan, were massacred by Tien
Tso-yi's forces who invaded the town, * The attention of
the Tribunal was called to Exh. 361 to 370. There was no
cross-examination of this witness.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF ABE, Yoshimitsu
BY MR. FREEMAN

The witness identified Exhibit No. 3082 as his affidavit and
verified it. The witness was Chief of Staff * of the 38th Division and
in that capacity, took part in the battle of Hong Kong which started by
order of the 23rd Army on the morning of December 8, 194l1. They had no
information that there were Soviet ships * in the harbor before or during
the landing operations. They saw three or four sunken ships in the harbor
before the attack, but didn't know whether it was due to bombing by a
chance shell or from scuttling. The bombardment was concentrated on enemy
ground positions near the landing point. There was no need to fire at
ghips in the harbor. 1t is not true that they fired on ships at anchor.
Enemy shell might have hit the anchored ships since they were directing

fire at Japanese landing craft.

Japanese troops did not open fire until they landed. They put
up a smoke screen while the enemy fired. Landing operations began about
g PM while dark, so although the enemy used searchlights, their firing
was hit and miss and it is possible that some of the merchant ships might
have been hit. * They were positive that the Japanese never committed
such acte as locking up the crews and confiscating their belongings. It
cannot be denied that the Chinese in the occupied area after the landing
plundered evacuated houses and warehouses day and night and looted the
ships in the harbor. Since the division was still attacking interior
positions, it was difficult to suppress such disorders.

To avoid further sacrifice of human life, the 23rd Army twice
sent Chief of Staff TADA to advise the British to surrender. On the
second occasion, they suggested to the British that they consider
evacuating the women and children. This was not accepted. The division
took charge of conly disarming and watching prisoners of war, and he did
not know * how many British prisoners of war there were. He thought
there were fifteen in Kowloon and 6,000 in Hong Kong. The British die-
armed themselves and gathercd in barracks, so there was no incident.
Handling of prisoners of war was then completely under the 23rd Army.
The 23rd Army took charge of non-combatants in Hong Kong, but they were
few in number since most had evacuated bdefore the battle began. The
remainder continued to live in hotels or homes.

The forces were deeply moved by the Imperial command which

gave them the honor of capturing Hong Kong and newe of their heavy
responsibility. The divisional commander on several occasions intructed
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attack on a well prepared fortrese and a strong Army. The history of
the battle will be closely examined and commented on by future histor-
ians. They must stake their lives on a victory in this bdattle and no
act of illegal conduct shall be committed such as murder, atrocities,
plunder and destruction. The attitude must be gentlemanly so they would
not suffer the slightest criticiem. This was strictly obeyed throughout
the battle.

After the division broke through the bdorder and captured the
principal position, tactics demanded that the Army storm Kowloon so that
the garrison there would be prevented from retreating to Hong Kong. It
was plain that the entry of large numbers into Kowloon would throw it
inte confusion and the Army was ordered to halt north of the city and the
two best trained infantry battalions were ordered to enter. The town was
thus saved from cenfusion. During landing operations on Hong Kong enemy
artillery within the town fired fiercely. Despite this the troops were
forbidden to bombard and were ordered to aim at pillbox poeitions higher
on the hill than the residentiaml district. This was a great tactical
disadvantage, but despite it they did their best to protect Hong Kong
from disaster.

Since the troops could not attack inside the city * Hong Kong
remains as it used to be. There were no casualties. After the surrender
at least three bdattalions were ordinarily needed to maintain peace and
order and disarm the enemy. They, however, used only one of the best
infantry bdbattalions for this task, cutting the number to the least
possible and placing the men on their honor. They performed wonderfully.
Even after capture there were only three select infantry battalions in
the tewn because of incidents that might fellow mass entry. The main
forces were in the suburbs north of the town of Kowloon and restrictiens
on entry were placed on the soldiers. No incidents toek place, al though
the soldiers complained.

The Chinese refugees leooted, taking advantage even during the
battle. The Japanese therefore strictly prohibited the public from going
out at night. Since the refugees brok into evacuated houses during broad
daylight and night * preventing looting was difficult. After occupatien
the Chinese refugees opened markete in Kewloon and Hong Kong, but most
of their goods was stolen. FHe was convinced there was no murder,
atrocities, and looting by the officers and men of his division. He did
not know the number of British soldiers killed and wounded, but the
British teok care of the wounded for the most pvart. Some were searched
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{or and found by Japanese troeps. When the dead were diecovered, they
were buried respectfully and the weunded were taken to hospitals.

27 ,5c7 The attentien of the Tribunal * was called te the testimony of
Captaln Barnett, page 13,112, and te exhibits Ne. 1590 to 1608 inclusive,

. snd exhibits No. 818 to 82l.
There was no cross—examination eof the witness.
27,028 The witness reported * that the number of priseners taken at

Kowloon was fifteen.
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The witness identified Exhibit No. 3083 as his affidavit and
27.530 verified it. * The affidavit stated that from April 1940 te Octeber
194]1 he was staff officer of the 104th division as Chief of Operatiens
and Intelligence. In October 1941, he became staff efficer of the 23rd
Army in Canten, serving as Chief of Intelligence until March 1943. In
. December 1941, the Army stepped all eperations and devoted its energy te
27.521 maintaining public erder. 1t successfully entered the city * witheut
fighting. Since Hong Kong was occupied, the Chinese Army had a calm

attitude and peace was maintained.

In Canten he had never heard eof such places as Hsihupan,
Wuyenchiae, Shasia, etc. 1f anything special hac taken place in the
Japanese Armmy, he would have heard of it as Chief of Intelligence. JEven
natters concerning life of the Chinese was to De reported witheut
exception, but he never received any such repert. He denied that 2,000
citizens were massacred by the Japanese at that time. The cemmander and
leading staff were extremely strict on discipline and repeatedly warned
thelr suberdinates teo treat the Chinese kindly, reapect tleir custems,
and not interfere with the authorities. They gave the soldiers the brief
notte of nor burning, killing or plundering and tried to have this per-

vade the whole army. Scarcely anyone disobeyed 1it.

' 27,532 If the Army had ever massacred a Chinese, it weuld have been a
The rumer ef 2,000 Chinese massacred was a fictien and

gerious preblem.
ile he was with the 23rd Army.

the thing did not take place wh
ribunal was called to Exhibits 350 and

27,533 The attention of the T
351 .

There was no creoss-examinatien eof the witness.
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by MR. FREEMAN

27,534 The witnese * identified Exhibit Ne. 3084 as his affidavit and
verified it.

The affidavit stated that the witness was Managing Directer
of the Manchurian Aireraft Manufacturing Cempany frem December 1944.
This company had its head effice and main factery in Mukden.

Next te its factery was that of the Manchurian Machine Teel
Manufacturing Cempany and several U.S. and British priseners of war
27,535 were werking there, * and seme had high technical ability. While ne
priseners of war worked in his factory, he asked for the reason ef the
man in charge of the werkers. This man replied that they had inquired
about empleying priseners of war unofficially frem the Kwantung Army
and the reply was that the priseners could not werk in alirplane
factories under international law. With thie answer, he first learned
of the internatienal law limitatien and the attitude of the Kwantung
Army teward priseners of war, carefully ebserving the limitatien ef

internatienal law.

There was ne cress-examination ef the witness.
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27,537 Phe witness identified Exhibit Ne. 2085 as his affidavit, and
after correcting it, verified it. The affidavit stated that the witness
was the Army Adjutant in the Burma ares from May 5, 1944 until August
15. 1945. In the middle of September 1944, General KIMURA arrived teo
take over command in the Burma area until the end of the war and the

27,538 witness was Lls adjutant. * having as his main dutles the handling ef
cerrespendence, beeks, cenfidential decuments, awards and the handling
of dedumente cencerning priseners of war and internees.

Headquarters of the Burma Army had no cennectien with treatment

of prisoners of war during conetruction of the railread and it wae a
year after the railroad was completed that KUMURA arrived at his pest.
The Rangeen prisener of war camp wWas & branch ef the Malay camp and wase
under the cemmander of the cenbined southern Army. The Chief of the
Rangeon cemp was removable by the Chief of the Malay camp. The Chief
and the twe non-coms were the staff and were sent from the Malay Camp.
The surgeen and guards were sent from the 73rd headquarters ef Line of

27,539 Ceumunications, Burma Army. and were under the command * of the camp
commander.

In the camp at Tavoy, enemy civillane were held under the
control of the commander of the 24th Mixed Brigade under the Burma Army.
KIMURA always directed his subordinates to treat prisoners of war with
benevolence and never to insult or mistreat them, but to treat them

27,540 fairly, observing the regnlations. * In Rangoon, the camp, a former
orison, was a permanent puilding equipped with sanitation, disvensary,
gick roome, showers, kitchen and exerciee yard. Its equipment was in
good condition. KHealthy men of the ranks of non-com and below were
sometimee ordered to work when necessary, but patients were allowed to
rest. The main labor was work at the wharf and odd Jjobs in supply and
at camp. Prisoners rested on Sunday and on their own rublic holidays.
They were given additional gupplies from time to time.Prisoners of the
rank of warrant officer and above voluntarily, for exercise, supervised
the prisorers at work.

27,541 The prisoners were made to Tun a farm by using vacant land 1n
the camp and to ralse livestock issued to them from official depots %o
obtain fate. Surplus crops from the farm were sold on the Hangoon
market and the receipts became thelr income for purchasing of luxuries.
They somctimes sent a military band from the Army to entertaln the
priconers and equipped the camp with piano, books and dicd thelr best to
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£ive what confort they could. Prisoners of war could buy goode at the
canp canteen. They bought a considerable amount of cigarettes and

milk. He never heard of any mistreatment of prisoners during XKIMURA's
8tay. He remenbered the reprimanded some prisoners of several occasions
* at the request of General Hobson, thelr senior officer, for failure to
obey his command. Both General Hobeson and Major Loring, representing
the prisoners, on two occasions gave letters of thanks to the commander
for falr treatment and twice to the Chief of the camp. At the end of
April 1945 when the Japanese withdrew from Rangoon, prisoners were told
they would be released, whereupon the tvo officers gave a letter of
thanks to the Chief of the camp. He had not heard of the officers since.

Treatment of internees at Tavoy was in accordance with the
previsions and there was no report of any particular case of mistreat-
ment. Seven or elght times there were letters of thanks. While KIMURA
was in office, there were scant supplies from the rear. Materials were
running short. They did their best to treat the prisoners gocd. * These
facts are based on reports from headquarters, 73rd Line of Communica-
tions and 24th Mixed Brigade, and upon the witness' recollecction of
information from Captain SHIRAKAWA, former adjutant of the 73rd.

CROSS - EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MORNANE

The witness stated that the Rangoon prisoner of war camp was not
under the direct command of KIMURA. The camp commander was TAZUMI, * who
vas sent from Malay to become camp conmander. He was placed under control
of the 73rd Line of Communications, but he was under the control of the
prisoner commander at Malaya and on important matters, received this
commander's orders. He would deny that TAZUMI was directed by the

commander of the Burma area Army in connection with the business of the
camp .

The witness was llaison officer * on matters regarding security
and supplies, and all doduments to be reported to the camv commander at
Malaya. A copy of the reports was also &iven to Burma headquarters and
1t was Lhe witnees' duty to handle them. All reports came through the
72rd Line of Communications, which was under KIMURA. The witness never
saw Hangoon camp until the end of the war. His descriotion was based
on dotuments and what he had heard from the Adjutant of the 73rd Line
of Communications. * He did not keep a written record of this informa-
tion but after the war he waw the documents and revorts of the 73rd Line
of Communications and the 24th Mixed Brigade. This was toward the end
of 1945, which wae the last time he had seen the documente. His
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Sateshi - Cross—-examination

description was from unassisted memory. * It was the responsibility of
the Rangoon commander to dietribute nedical supplies and give medical
treatment. ®* The supplies were provided by the 23rd Line of Communica-
tione. Thiz medicine and supplies came from the supply depot of the
BPurma area Army under the Jjurisdidtion of that Army.

Reegponsibility for this probably lies with that headquarters.
Wnile the Burma Army did control the supply depot, it had no knowledge
of actual requests maie and the actual supplies supplied. The wilness
returned to Japan on July 21, 1946. He knew that the commander of the
camp was tried by a Tribunal for mistreating prisoners of war. * He
could not say anything definite about the result of that trial but
could tell only what he had heard from others. He testified at the
trial. He did not know the details of the matter in which TAZUM] was
charged as teing a party 1o 111 treating prisoners of war resulting
in seventeen deaths at Rangoon.

He knew that Lisutenant ONISH1 was also charged at the time.
* Since he had nothing to do with ONISHI's testimony, he did not know
that ONISHI had testified that they were exceedingly short of medical
supplies. There were no other campe under the control of the Burma
Army. The Tavoy camp was not a camp for prisoners of war, but for
civilian internees. This camp was under control of the Burma area
Army. He stated there were no camps at Moulmein, which 1s very close
to Rangoon. However, " Rangoon and Moulmeln are separate. There were

no vrisoner of war camvs at Moulmein.

The witness stated that theofficer handling correspondence for
prisoners of war had never received an official communication inguiring as
to condition of prisoners of war in Moulmein. ® Mergui did not come under
control of the Burma area Amy. It wae outside the area of the Army'e
jurisdiction. The Army!s jurisdiction only went a 1ittle further south
of Tavoy. ® The witness stated he remembered receiving two or three
reports of the death of prisoners of war. He did not recall recelving
a report of the death of Lieutenant Almond and Sergeant King. When he
got these reports, he did not have inquiries made as %o the cause of
death. ® He had not seen the letters written by General Hobson and
Major loring. He did try ‘o have them duplicated for producticn at
Cantain TAZUMI's trial, but he did not discover what happened to them.

The attention of the Tribunal was called to Bxhibits 1555,

1557, 1558, 1583, and 2022.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF SAKURALl, Tokutaro
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The witness identified Exhibit No. 3086 as hils affidavit and
verified it. The witness stated that he was in charge * of defending
the Akyad area on the India-Burma border, commanding the 55th division
from September 1943 to February 1945. He served as Chief Adviser to the
Aurmese National Defense Army. Iumediately after that Army revolted,
the witness was sent to the infantry school on April 5, 1945, After the
military operation of Imphal which failed in September 1944, General
KIMURA cawe into office.

The witness took charge of a force of about 3700, made up of
shree infantry and one artillery battallons, one cavalry regiment, and
was in charge of the frontal defense of Akyab while the main force of
the diviaion moved to the Basgein area. KIMURA atressed and advised
that they strive to win the confidence of the people, enforce strict
discipline and raise morale. He repeated this on several occaslons.

The commanders brought this home to their subordinates and
told them strict discipline was the best way to win confidence. They
did their best to behave as prudently as possible and digscipline was
strictly maintained. ¥IMURA was so earnest to promote friendship with
the Burmese und stabilize their.livelihood.that he had a pamphlet
compiled called "Phe Attitude to Take Towards the Burmese" and distri-
tuted. ® The subordinates were guided by this pamphlet. All the men
in the witness' garrison behaved well. There wasnot a single case in
which Burmese were persecuted or mal treated. In addition, they gave
the pecple agricultural implements, hatchets and boats and they were
grateful . Friendly relations with the Burmese were sirong and the
Burmese were willing to help with transportation in rear areas and in
transporting provislons to the sick even voluntarily.

The Army respected and protected Burmese religion. The
Burmese said that they would defend the seashore and they did puard 1t.
When the enemy landed, they reported it by signal. Once the village
headman was killed in action while obstructing enemy landing. In
February 1945, the witness went to Rangoon to become Chief Adviser to
the Burmese National Defense Army. ° Public peace was not as good as
in Akyab. The main forces of the Burmese Army were then in Henzada,
while powerful units were al Toungoo, Pegu and Thaton. On March 15,
1545, the Japanese and the Burmese ATmy concluded an operational
agreement and the Japanese celebrated. However, the Burmese suddenly
rose in revolt at the end of March, 1945 and the condition of the
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Japanese Army became worse daily. With this change, the wiiness called
on KIMURA, theChief of the Burma Area Army and talked over with him how
to handle it. KINURA, after considering the former friendly relatlons,
ordered that the Japanese must not take any revengeful action. He
ordered they must protect all those who would pledge allegiance, regard-
less of the past and carry out only minimum punitive action necessary

. for operaticns,

CROSS EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MORNANE

27,062 The witness stated that the Burmese National Defense Army was
an Army led by General Aung San, organiszed by the Burmese. Its
of ficers wers all Burmese, but there were a few Japanese liaison
officers. When asked why this Amy revolted, he stated the situation
in Burma hed srown worse for the Japanese and there was constant eneny
vropagarda. This Burma Defense Army had been organized before the
witness cone to Burma and after he became its supreme adviser, he was

27 .563 connected with it * for only a short time. At the time of the revolt
the main strength of the Army was near Henzada. The witness was in
Henzads at first with the main force of the Burmese Army. Three days
after the revolt, he returned to Rangoon. Subsequently the Japanese
cccupied Henzada By Aoril and May, he had already been transferred
toc the infantry school and was not at Burma.

The attention of the Tribunal was called to Exhibite 1543 and
1544.

27 . 564 The witness stated that the Burmese soldiers did not revolt
againgt their Surnese officers. Some Japanese liaison officers were
killed and some escaped. The witness saw no signs that the Army de-
sired to revolt against himself personally.

27,5685 Exhibit No. %087, interrogation of Captain TAZUMI Genzo *
stated that the affiant was commander of the prisoner of war camp at
Rangoon in Burma when KIMURA was commander of the Burma area Japanese
Army Although the commander at Rangoon was subject to the commander
at Malay, he was being ordered and directed by the commander of the

27.566 Burma Area Japanese Army in carrying out his business. * The commander
of the prisoner of war camp at Rangoon when taking over the former
field prisoner of war camp at Rangoon as the 6th detachment of Malay
wae placed under the command of the Burma Area Army on March 15, 1944
and the latter Army put him under the control of the 73rd Line of
Communicaticn 1t was said that the commander of Rangoon camp was under
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF ICHIDA, JIRO,
By Mr. Freeman.

27574 + The witness identified exhibit No. 3089 as his
affidavit. and verified it. The affidavit stated that in
April, 1944, the witness was appointed Vice-Chief of Staff
of the Burma Army, and held that office to the surrender,

. : as a Major-General. His chief duty was to assist the Chief

of Staff.

In mid-September 1944, General KIMURA arrived as

Commander of the Burma Army, which had suffered a crushing
defeat at Imphal, with its strength weakened. Since August,
1943, supplies had almost ceased to come from Japan. On his
arrival., KIVURA issued instructions that his command maintain
discipline and try to win the confidence of the natives. They

57576 * had meetings in late October and mid-December, 1944, and late
January, 1945, and KIMURA summoned his staff officers to command
headquarters and reminded them of his instructions. KIMURA
constantly tried to have his instructions obeyed thoroughly. sO
that the Burmese came to place great confidence in him.

KIMURA met the Burmese ministers once or twice a month
to exchange opinions. He welcomed complaints, and in proper
‘ cases had improvements made. The war situation developed
' unfavorably, and there was increasing hardstips on the part of
the natives. KIMURA felt sorry for them, and when he met
Burmese officials always expressed thanks for thelr good will
and showed sympathy for their dellcate circumstances. KIMURA
jnstructed his men to contribute to the stabillzation of Burmese
living conditions at the expense of strategical requirements.

27577 * KIMURA always took pains to promote good feeling
with the Burmese, and to prevent misunderstandings because of
difference of customs, manners and language, he had completed a
pamphlet. "The Attitude to take toward the Burmese", and had it
distributed among his men and Japanese residents. He also asked
the Burmese government to tell their people of the readiness and
desire to act with them of the Japanese. The government dis-
tributed a translation of this request among the prefectural
esovernors. The result of KIMURA's efforts is shown in the
friendly relations between the Army and the populace, which
were notably improved, and their men did their best to reallze

KIMURA's intentions.
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The witness attended Japanese-Burmese cooperation
conferences as an army representative, and had opportunity to
contact high government officials. The witness took care to
* cooperate in all ways to insure the stabilization of the

livelihood of the populace.

Withdrawal of Army Headquarters from Rangoon to
Moulmein commenced at the end of April 1945, and was completed
beginning July. Headquarters could not function properly, and
in its hasty retreat loss of communication and transportation
equipment and documents, transfer of skilled officers. unsatis-
factory replacements. and frequent air raids, interfered with
the satisfactory functioning. The air raids were conducted day
and night, frequently compelling headquarters to seek shelter
outside Moulmein. Soldiers, including invalids, had to seek
shelter in the Jungles day and night.

* At the end of March, 1945, the Burmese defense
army, of 6,000 to 8,000, revolted, and guerrillas started
harassing their rear lines. The Burma defense army had seemed
to favor the Japanese, as agreement had been arranged at Rangoon
for united operations. The revolt was unexpected., but later it
became clear that there had been a secret declaraticn of war
agalnst Japan on March 14, 1945, and the Burmese had previously
stationed men in the rear of the Japanese Army at key points.
The main body in Henzada, with the outbreak of the uprising,
destroyed communications and transportation and assaulted their
sentries and squads of soldiers and gendarmerie and murdered
officers, and seized money and stores. The guerrillas engaged
in espionage, so that Burma Army Headquarters and the 28th and
33rd Headquarters * were subjected to bombings with heavy lossées
and the Japanese officers were mostly killed belonging to the
advance militia. Of 200-0dd Japanese nationals in the Delta
region, only a few were found safe at the war's end.

KIMURA sought no revenge, but stressed tre importance
of the previous friendship, and met the situation from a strat-
egical point of view only. There were no forces to meet the
emergency. A small amount of troops and part of the 55th
division, were used to make a false show of strength. From
January, 1945, guerrilla parties formed in the mountain regions
and in the regions south of Papun. Witk the entry of Indian
educated Burmese, the arrival of Indians and British officers by
parachute, and the replenishment by air of arms and ammunition,
everrilla strength grew rapidly and groups were scattered far and
wide, acting with the rebels.
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*+ In one village ten Japanese Red Cross were
assaulted and none were returned, but KIMURA always warned
against retaliation. Whil: KIMURA was commanding, there
was no chance to take British-Indian troops as prisoners.
The situation for the few months before the end of the war
was a succession of defeats, and as a result the men were
demoralized and exhausted. Japanese were scattered all over
the area. overpowered by a sense of defeat, and had their
minds on how to defend only.

+ Yarassing activities in the rea<, loss and
destruction of communication, combined to all but paralyze
the army, rendering It difficult for officers to lead thelr
men. Burma Arm- Headquarters. then scheduled to break up
before the end of August, and the retrenchment and reor-
ganization, was planned and partly executed. Most staff
officers had been transferred, and they were obliged to
make-shift with non-career offlcers. Headquarters was
busily engaged in preparing to meet the intended Allied
attacks, and had much difficully in attending to this
business. While laboring under these difficulties, the
+ war ended. KIMURA had tried all this time to improve
discipline and to win the trust of the populace.

There was no report of a single instance of
unlawful conduct, and the witness was sure KIMURA issued no
orders for the perpetration of atrocities. Such acts would
not have been tolerated. As for the Kalagon village affair,
Rritish headquarters, after the war's end. questioned
¥IMURA zbout it, and he and the wilness and others knew
nothing of it. He heard about it for the first time in

March, 1946.

In regard to conditions of POWs in internment
camps during KIMURA's tenure, the Burma-Siam Rallway was
under the Commander of the Southern Area Armies, and had
+ been completed a year before KIMURA arrived. The burrm
Army had no part in 1its constructian or operation

POWs in Rangoon, a detachment of the Malayan
camp, were under the Chief of that camp, who was under the
jurisdiction of the southern Expeditionary Forces Commander .
The latter ordered the Chief of the Malayan Camp to set up
a detachment in Rangoon under the Burma Army Commander and
put it under the 83rd Supply corps.
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Three and a half month's after KIMURA's arrival
the Tavoy Internment Camp was in charge of the Independen£
24th Mixed Brigade. In December, 1944, the Tavoy and
Mergul army districts were transferred to the Thailand Army
and placed under control of the * Tavoy unit.

The Rangoon camp was originally a prison, where
about 600 were interned. It was a permanent building, very
fit to live in, and equipped with medical rooms, sick rooms,
recreation halls, ete. For recreation, there were pianos,
phonographs and books, and sports equipment. A military
band occasionally entertained. The depot supplied live
stock to help supply nourishment to the prisoners, who were
permitted to lay out farms, inside and outside the compound
to make themselves self-supporting. After a time they
could produce more than enough and sell the surplus in the
Rangoon market. The proceeds were the prisoners'. PGOWs
did not have rations of staple food reduced, but were better
* supplied than the Japanese. Milk, tobacco, and other daily
necessities could be bought at the camp canteen.

Sundays and the POWs national holidays were ob-
served as days of rest, with additional rations sometimes.
Working hours were reduced to six, and the type of work was
the unloading of ships conveyance, and other general jobs.
The witness heard of no atrocities ever practiced by Japanese
during KIMURA's tenure, though he was told that punishment
had been given several times at the request of Brigadier
Popson when British-Indian soldiers were disobedient.

In June, 1944, before KIMURA's arrival, cholera

broke out, but was soon checked. * Since August, 1943,
medical supplies almost ceased to arrive, and even the
Japanese did without. Medical treatment left much to be
desired, but they did their best. Captain TAZUMI, Chief

of the Camp at Rangoon, who everyone agreed was an excellent

chief, received from Brigadier Popson and Major Rollins,
letters of thanks.

When Army Headquarters evacuated Rangoon. it was

decided that POWs whose health would be impaired by removal,
and those whose services were not needed, would be left.
Only those well and strong would be removed, but because of

theswar situation all were released toward the end of April,
1945,
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About 200 were sccommodated 1in the Tavoy Intern-
ment Camp, where the management was fair and proper, and
the institution received letters of thanks. * Such letters
were attached to reports and documents submitted to the
British after the surrender.

It was the practice for the Japanese Air Force
to take charge of captured Allied airmen for interrogations,
and the Burma Command had no authority over the Air Force.

CROSS-EXAMINATION RY COLONEL MORNANE.

*+ Tha witness stated that when he sald that
KIMURA showed sympathy for the delicate circumstances of
the Burmese, he meant that because +the war situation was
growing unfavorable and there was pressure exerted at the
front. natlves residing in suct distriets were forced to
undergo a situation where law and order were not secure.
Before this time, law and order had existed there. it did
not include the fact that the Burma covernment had been sel
up by the Japanese. The establishment of such goverument
took place before the witness arrived in Burma, and he was
not acquainted with the details, but he believed 1t was
set up by the Japanese.

By the national defense militia he means the
Burmese National Defense Army. * Japanese officers did
not direct the Burmese Army, but ceneral Onson was the
commander. He did not remember the number of Japanese
of ficers of the militia who were killed.

The witness stated he was repatriated from
Rangoon in January, 1947. He did not give evidence at
the trial of Major TCHIKAWA. The 33rd Division was under
KIMURA's command, and he believed that the 2131th Regiment
was a part of 1it. The witness stated that he did not kKnow
Col. TSUKUDA, commander of that regiment.

*+ During the time the Rangoon POW Camp contained
POWs, the witness did not visit it, but did so after the
war when war crilmes suspects were ~onfined there. The
only time he jnspected it was after it came under British
control. The situation he described was the result cf a
visit made on business connected with the British Army
after the surrender. His description was based firstly
on reports made at staff officer's conferences, and also
after the surrender 1in conversation or reports from TAZUMI,
camp commander.
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* He did not commit these reports to writing, but
he relied on his memory. The witness gave no evidence for
Captain TAZUMI when he was charged at Rangoon with war
grimes. and gave no evidence at any other trial prior to

his.

The witness did not know definitely, but believed
that after Allied airmen were interrogated they were not
sent to the Rangoon Camp. * He did not know whether his
headquarters ever inquired into the deaths of Rangoon
POWs. If such a matter were brought up before the confer-
ence, he would know about it, but it was not.

Attention of the Court was called to exhibits
No. 1537 to 1558.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. HOWARD,
Counsel for KIMURA.

* The witness stated that ICHIKAWA was convicted
of complicity in the Kaladan Incident. ICHIKAWA was under
General TANAKA, Divisional Commander. TANAKA was jailed as
a suspect, but just prior to the witness' leaving Rangoon
he was released, and the witness understood he was now in

Japan.

Exhibit No. 3090, an excerpt from the Biennial
report of General Marshall to the Secretary of War, July 1
1943 to June 30, 1945, stated * the Burma Campaign continued
with intensity through the monsoon season of 1944, Allied
troops were disposed along the Chindwin River north of
Kalewa and from the upper Irrawaddy to Lungling. The south-
ward push was planned through Central Burma to Mandalay, and
Mountbatten prepared to seize Rangoon amphibiously. At the
close of the monsoon, Allied troops under General Sultan
advanced south along the Irrawaddy, captured Schwegu in
early November, and by December had cleared the supply road
* to Bhamo. .

The Japanese had never recovered from Stillwell's
thrusts and from losses inflicted by British and Indian
forces. As fast as combat forces advanced, U. S. engineers
established a road behind them. On January 28, 1945, the
Stillwell road was opened. In Western Burma the British
broke south against Japanese delaying actions, and in the
Arakan cleared the Kaladan River delta and provided air
strips.
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By the end of January, 1945, the Japanese retreat

was in full swirg, and MacArthur's landings in the Philippines
and U. S. fleet operations in the China Sea cut the Japanese
supply line to Burma. In mid-February, a British column

27598 drove to Meiktila. * The selzure undermined the whole
Japanese position in Central Burma. Other forces closed on
Mandalay, and Japanese there held out until March 21. Forty
days later British air force troops descended along the
shores of the Rangoon River and assault troops followed,
and British forces entered Rangaon May 3. The Burma Campaign
had all but ended. A few Japanese units withdrew into
Thailand and the Moulmein area, but thousands were cut off.
Mountbatten reported the Japanese had received 300,000

casualties, of which 97,000 were killed.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF YOSHIDA, GOMPACHI,
by Mr. Freeman.

jfied exhibit No. 3091 as his
* The witness stated tpat in

4 commander of the RangoOn
1944, became Chief of

ined until the end of

* The witness ident
and verified 1t.

Aurust 1943, he was appointe
Air Defence Forces. and in September,

staff of the 15th Army, wheTe he rema
the ware.

affidavit,

office oOn September

* General KIMURA assumed his
n address to his

and the next day delivered a
and men. He told them emphatically to encourage

to punish and reward, promote friendship
to win public favor.

12, 1944,
officers

discipline,
good understanding and

ce to KIMURA'! the witness

In obedien
d units to

held an inspection ©
treat and rescue Rurmese killed
and units to deliver medical supplles-

fire service units,
Wwhen avpointed Chief of the 15th Army, 1t wa
toward the Irrawaddy following the failure at Imphal.

KIMURA instructed the witness to the same effect as 1in
*+ Resides this,

KIMIRA's first address. he gave strict
orders to the witness to avoid scorched earth tactilcs in

retreating and to keep the natives out of the horrols of
war, and to of fer facilities for government of ficiats and
civilians who wished to evacuate the Japanese€.

When the witness arrived at 15th Army Headgquarters
he found telegraphic orders from KIMURA to this effect. On
assuming his post, he thought 1t urgent To make it thoroughly
known to the whole Army KIMURA's intentions. The review of
military discipline was carried out by 15th Army Commander

KATAMURA and the witness to thoroughly inform the soldiers
of the Area Army Commander's KATAMURA took
charge of the review of major anits, and the witness took

charge of minor. e ige reviewed sub-
units. At that time the 31st and 33rd pivisions weTre

retreating with diffic this thelr command-
ers carried out inspec to discipline on

the battlefield and app shment to unit
commanders for Scorched earth

4 T
tactics were prohibited, and facilities for retreat were
afforded the civilians. It was ordered to avold billetting
in residential districts. Front line forces put up with
jnconvenience to keep the people from suffering from the

waT .



NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD

September 4, 1947 Page 4269
DEFENSE - Division V - Pacific

POW - YOSHIDA - Direct

Page

27604

27605

27606

After the evacuation from Maymyo, a special order
was issued to ban scorched earth tactics. KIMURA was eager
to promote vnderstanding with the Burmese, and distributed
a pamphlet entitled "The Attitude to Take Toward the
Burmese", and ordered it ohserved. They made efforts to
see the order carried out. The pamphlet had articles on
the differences 1n manners and customs, and tried to clear
away misunderstanding and promote friendship.

* The witness reported that the pamphlet and
KIMURA's telegram to the 15th Army Headquarters could not
be submitted to the T ibunal because they had been lost or
burned at the time of the retreat. Besides, at the end of
the war all documents other than those concerning personnel
affairs. accounts and supplies, were burned by orders.

At the time of the opening of the battle of
Irawaddy. KIMURA hel: meetings at Rangoon Headquarters to
consult with his officers on problems of strategy, education,
and self-government. AT each meeting KIMURA gave instructions
and delivered repeated addresses on the maintenance of
discipline and the wirning of public favor. He emphasized
this at other meetings also. *» His subordinates concentrated
efforts to obey these instructions.

Because of racial similarities, the Japanese and
Burmese were well disposed toward each other. Generally,
the Army was cautious in action, and enforced discipline
and won the confidence of the Burmese. With increased
pressure, an anti-war feeling stole into the hearts of the
Burmese, particularly after the defeat at the Irrawaddy.
Anti-Japanese tendency came sbout from the time of the
revolt of the Burmese National Defense Army.

After the failure at Imphal, the 15th Army
suffered heavy losses of troops and arms, and there was a
decline of morale and physical strength. Many soldiers
suffered from disease, and it was quite difficultl for the
15th Army to regain combat pOWer. There was little supply
from the rear, and they prepared for the coming battles at
* Irrawaddy with difficulty. From mid-February, 1945, a
frontal attack by British-Indian forces was attempted, and
there was alsc a flank attack by way of Meiktila. As a
result. their lines were cutl of f and each corps lsolated.
Land communication was cut off. and because of lack of
batterles wireless communication was barely available.
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Beginning early in June 1945, land communication
was scarcely possible, as this was the rainy season, and
communication between a commander and his subordinates or

between units was hardly carried out. Activities of
Rritish and Indian planes and guerrilla attacks in the rear
vitally menaced their forces. spldiers in minor units and

stragglers were in constant danger.

* There was no eross-examination of the witness.

Exhibit No. 3092, the affidavit of HIRAOKA, Junzo,
stated * that he was appointed an Attache to the commander
of the Burma Army in March, 1943, and remained such until
the end of the war. The last of February, 1945, he was
appointed to the additional post of adviscr to the Burma
Government, and had many opportunities to contact important

men in the government presided over by Bahmo.

KIMURA assumed his post in a difficult political
and strategic situation, but 1t was his special concern to
secure the confidence of the Burmese. KIMURA took advantage
of every opportunity to emphasize the importance of this,
and warned his soldiers and the Japanese residents to that
effect. * After October, 1944, KIMURA had conversations
with leading men of the Burmese Government and listened to
their opinions without reserve, and transmitted suggestions

to those concerned for correction.

The talks were heartily received by the Burmese
leaders, and feeling {mproved toward Japan. KIVURA
Ambassador ISHII and Bahmo talked regularly at 1eas£ once
a month, and tried to promote understanding. After
February., 1945, the strategical situation worsened and
l1iving conditions of the Burmese deteriorated. KIMURA
often warned his staff, that though they were preoccupied
by operational demands, they must not forget the feelings
of the Burmese, nor lose thelr popularity, even at the
* gsacrifice of a part of military operations.’ He directed
the release of textile goods to the Burmese civilians, and
1imited the quantity of grain purchased by the Japanese.
The witness often saw scenes in the departmental conferences
in which he was urging the chief of the Medical Department
to promote medical relief for the sick and wounded among

the Buriese.
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Notwithstanding the scarcity of paper, KIMURA
published a leaflet entitled "The Attitude to Take Toward
the Purmese People" and distributed it among his soldiers
and Japanese residents. He also had his Vice-Chief
lecture on the kindly treatment to be given to the Burmese
people. KIMURA's sympathy and sincerity helped regain the
confidence of the Burmese which had been lessening through
Japan's disadvantageous war situation, and anti-Japanese
> underground movements were temporarily stopped.

About November, 1944, many Burmese leaders told
the witness that they were happy to have a benevolent
commander who had understanding and sympathy toward Burma.
and they expected the anti-Japanese atmosphere to be swept
away. In February, 1945, when the war situation in many
districts was most adverse, a handicraft exposition under
Japanese sponsorship was held at Rangoon, attracting 50-
100,000 every day. Rangoon movie theatres were packed
almost day and night, even after the rebellion of the
Burmese Defense Army.

At the time of the evacuation from Rangoon,
KIMIRA, * having deliberately decided not to incur war
disaster upon the Burmese, prohibited the burning of their
property and left Burmese leaders to do as they liked.
As the adviser to the Burmese Government, the witness
sometimes heard the Burmese Government complain of junior
grade Japanese military men and civilians, but never heard
of any cruelty committed by the soldiers.

* From exhibit No. 1472, T0GO's communication of
February, 1942, directed to the U. S. Government through
the Swiss Government, stated that U. S. citizens whom: the
Swiss were trying to protect enjoyed proper treatment, as
they had been able to judge from visits., The government
did not have complete details on all occupled territories,
but an official of the Hong Kong Consulate took over the
American Consulate, and did his best to obtaln facilities
for U. S. officials. In accordance with the desire of
U. S. personnel, members of the U. S. Embassy were put
together in buildings selected * by the U. S. Consul
himself. They expressed their thanks for the treatment
accorded them. They were allowed to go out twice weekly
under the escort of a Japanese official, and their food
was assured and all were in good health.

3 vt
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Adequate protection was 1ikewise accorded other
U. S. citizens, and the members of the U. S. consulate at
Vanila benefit from the same treatment accorded consuls of
other countries. They 1ived in a building helonging to a
U. S, citizen in the suburbs, and they all had given thanks
for the treatment given them and said they suffered no
privations. Treatment given other U. §. citizens was no
less indulgent in principle. The old women and the young,
the sick and pregnant, were not detained.

27624 Exhibit No. 3094, an excerpt from the record of

the trial of YAMASHITA, gave testimony of ISHIKAWA, Kikuo,
27625 * The witness stated that he came to the Philippines on

September 27, 1944, and was assigned to supply and trans-
portation. He was a member of the Headquarters Staff of

the 14th Army group, and kept that post to the surrender,

at which time he was at No. 3 Rest House.

* At Fort McKinley, Baguio and Kapanagan, he was
in YAMASHITA's headquarters, and as a staff officer 1in
charge of supply and transportation, he stated that supply
was divided into food, weapons, ammunition, and medicines.
Transportation was concerned only with motor transport.

27626

When asked what his connection was with General
KTRA. the Intendance officer., he explalned that KIRA had
charge of the dally lssue of rations, and the witness was
concerned with rations only during operations. Control of
rations themselves was KIRA's. If a shipment of rice
arrived, or extreme gscarcity made it necessary to cut the
ration, then 1t came to the attention of the witness. He
had a very close connection with the food supply. If a

27627 * ship arrived in Manila, it was necessary to get it
unloaded, and all available transportation had to be routed

for discharge of the ship an

The witness knew there was no difference in the
condition of food supplles between POW camps, internees
camps, and the Japanese Army. When the witness arrived in
October, although the standard ration for troops Wwas 450
grams, they received not more than 400. On the 9th of
November, 10,000 tons of rice arrived, and about half was

27628 sent to Leyte. Assuming * that the remainder must be
stretched over two months, the ration was again cut to

400 grams, but the actual

ration received was less than 350.
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ed by boat in December, all ships
having been sunk. The food situation deteriorated, and
many organizations received not more than 250 or 260 grams.
It appeared necessary to secure part of the new rice crop,
and he brought this matter to the attention of KIRA. The
witness was sure of the 10,000 tons of pice arriving about
November 9, and believed that KIRA's statement that 16,000

tons of rice arrived was a mistake.

No food arriv

* Of the 10,000 tons received, 500 tons went to
the Navy. The actual amount used was aboutl 4,000, due %o
spoilage. The soldiers got three meals a day, but sometimes
only two. Some time in January, 1945, 1t was cut to two,

as a general rule.

27629

The witness stated that he made inspection of
57630 POYW camps on order of Chief of Staff MuTO. * He visited
Santo Tomas, Bilibid and ¥c¥inley internment camps, and
went to no others. MUTO told the witness to inspect
matters dealing with sSUpply ., particularly food. The food
supply he found the same as the Army's, but gradually
diminishing. Ships did not come 1in, and they had no fuel
for transportation, and they had to borrow this from the

air force.

The Japanese Army purchased vegetables locally,

57631 but he doubted if they purchased rice. *» He visited camps
about November 20, 1944, and reported to MUTO that the
food was the same as the Army's, but was meager. He told
MUTO that since ships had not come in and they could not
buy rice locally, they must do something from Luzon. The
witness recommended that they obtain fuels for transporta-

07632 tion from the Air Force. * MUTO {mmediately sent the
witness and Deputy Chief of Staff NISHIMURA to the 4th
Air Force to obtain 10,000 drums of gasoline. They did not
get 1it. The witness made seven trips in all, and finally

57633 on December 15 received 600 drums, * which they used to
transport munitions and food from Manila.

an order concerning the

The witness recalled
rom Tokyo through

release of POWs and internees, which came f

57634 YAVWASHITA, and was issued to the camps. *+ This order first
came to the witness' attention about December 20, and stated

that they were to treat the POWs in a friendly mannerT, and
if U. S. forces approached they should leave food and
medicines for POVs. They were not to treat them in any
atrocious manner. This was a written order, but the
witness had thrown it away at the Luzon POW Camp No. le,

27635 on instructions from

the one in charge of the prison.
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The witness never heard reports of cruelty and
ill-treatment of POWs during his trips to Santo Tomas,
Billibid, and Fort McKinley, or at any other time. > He
began his trips of inspection on November 20, and visited
the camps on different days. Santo Tomas was first visited, .
then Billibid, and last McKinley. This was the only time
he visited them, and he did not visit any others.

* On cross-examination the witness stated that
he did not know the details of the canned goods supply for
the internees, although he was in charge of over-all planning.
He could not remember distincly whether there were canned
goods at Santo Tomas.

* The witness stated that at NcKinley, he went
where they were preparing the food, and they were getting
together rice with fried potatoes and beans. This was 1in
December, 1944, and the diet was very similar to that of
the Japanese. He did not inspect the storehouses at Me
Kinley., nor the dining rooms at Santo Tomas, * as he went
there after supper. At the warehouse the food stored was
silmilar to Japanese standards, and was mostly rice. He did
not know what had been served at the meal before he got
there.

At Billibid he inspected the warehouse and kitchen
and found the rations the same as the Japanese. He talked
with no internees abocut food. * There were no complaints
or reports submitted to the witness by camp committees at
any of the places. He talked with the Japanese in charge
of the camps, who were not satisfied with the food ccnditions
and requested more rice and canned goods. The witness wanted
to increase rice ard canned egoods, but as far as rice went
they were getting the same amount as the Japanese., but the
witness made a recommendation and took action concerning
canned pgoods. He gave instructions to increase the amount
d canned goods, even though there were not many avzilable.

He did not know the results of these instructions. These
increases were intended for the internees and POWs.

* The witness stated that MUTO's testimony that
the witness was Staff Officer in charge of POY¥s was correct.
The only inspections he made were those which he had
testifled to, because he could not make an inspection before.
He had been to McKinley only once. due to fuel shortage and
operational preparations. The witness stated that he was at
Fort McKinley untlil January 5, 1945, and in the vicinity of
Cabanatuan the latter part of January or early February,

1945.
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2100 POWs at Bilibid at the time of his inspection, and

about 300 at McKinley. The rice prepared must have been

from a half to one sack, which was fifty to one hundred
pounds.

* At McKinley he observed internees, but not
elsewhere. He thought their appearance similar to the
Japanese guards. Besides being in charge of provisions
and medical supplies of POWs, the witness had nothing else
to do with them, and had the same duties with respect to

internee camps. * His duties included all camps in the
Philippines.

The witness stated that no complaints filed by
POWs and internees were brought to his attention, although
YAMASHITA required such complaints to be forwarded to his
headquarters. He believed the most responsible person for
the camps was the camp commander. * Regulations on the
conduct of POW camps was made by discussion between the
camp commander and the committee. He could not remember
if they were approved by higher authority, but probably it
was so. These things had been decided before the witness'
arrival. These matters were the responsibility of the
camp commander, and he had little to do with what was
going on within the camp. Since the regulations were made
by the inmates he didn't think he could state anything
about them, and he had never inquired what the regulations
were, nor did he know who prescribed the regulations with
regard to punishment. The Japanese Government held the
camp commander responsible for camp administration. The
direct responsibility * was that of the camp commander,
but overall responsibility was with the Army Commander.

General KO, and later Col. HAYASHI, were respons-
1ble for the carrying out of orders from Tokyo. The next
responsible person was the witness, and above the witness
was the commander of the 14th Area Army, * General YAMASHITA.
YAMASHITA was responsible to Tokyo for their administration,
and next in command above him was Marshal TERAUCHI. Reports
of POWs were sent direct to Tokyo to the Office of Informa-
tion, and the witness * bellieved that reports from Tokyo
came directly. Reports other than routine had to go

through the Supreme Southern Commander, who was Marshal
TERAUCHI.
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27655 * The witness identified Exh. 3095 as his affidavit

27656 and verified it. * The affidavit stated that during the war
2 he was assistant Resident of Asahan of the East Coast Resi-
: dency, Sumatra, Netherlandish East India, in charge of the
military government there from August 6, 1943 to August 15,
1945, From the surrender to April 1946 he was engaged in the
. arrangement of business at Tanjon Valley. When he arrived at
27657 his post the European POW camp * was near Medan. All native
soldiers had been released by that time except those from Ambon.
They were under detention because of differences in religion
and custom, He didn't know about internal affairs of the camp
for administration of POWs was under the direction of the camp
commandant at Singapore and had nothing to do with military
government. The policy concerning treatment of internees was
in accordance with humanity and international law,

Food was supplied according to the rule, Compul-
sory labor and mistreatment were prohibited and punishments
dealt with according to law. The internees' private property
was permitted to be brought in to the greatest possible extent
and the remaining property was kent by the Administration

27658 Bureau of Enemy's Assets. *

' From August 1942 to March 1944 deterntion camps were
under the military government and were located in Medan,
Blastagy Shantal, Binjay, Tanjon Valley. Hospitals, hotels,
churches and private houses were used for camp buildings.
The provision ration, especially of staples, for the internees
was larger than for the general inhabitants. Even in pre-war
time Sumatra could not supply herself with sufficient food
and was dependent upon imports. During the war, lack of
vessels because of submarine attack caused great difficulties,
They conducted a movement to increase food production but
without result because of transportation shortzge they encoun-
tered many difficulties in gathering crovs and could not dis
27659 tribute food * to inhabitants so well. As for internees’
rations, they did their best. When there was a rice shcrtage,
they made up for it with other kinds of grain. There were
very few vegetables raised in the area so they encouraged
vegetable growing but the result was not so good.

General internees were first allowed to carry some
cash and other valuables but this was restricted about May 154
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due to various evils. Internees could go shopping and some
‘merchants could enter the compound, but as evils came the
authorities became more strict and intercourse with the out-
side and employment of maid service was prohibited.

A European doctor was attached to each camp, Mild
cases were taken care of at the dispensary and serious cases
at the hospital. * At that time there was a large quantity
nf medicines.

Within the compound everything was transacted by
an autonomous system. They could take recreation and other
measures for health, and if it was anything impossible for
them to do they would send representatives to make proposals.

The buildings were European style and good for
nealth. Life within the camp was totally autonomous and
they educated their children themselves. Considering dis-
tance and other matters they provided the greatest possible
conveniences and on national holidays they were permitted to
see their families,

Japanese could not enter the camp without permis-
sion. It was the policy of the military government to have
those concerned in farms and doctors voluntarily collabor-
ate in the administration of farms and sanitation. * Severa:
hundred Europeans worked outside the camp and enjoyed 1ife
almost as before., They were completely pnrotected from belng
looted and the authorities guaranteed the performance of
their duties, Some were made to stop collaboration and were
held in camp through prescribed formaliities for such reason.

as having conflict with Japanese or friction with the natives,

A1l others continued life as before until the military slitua
tion became acute, All exceprt a few willingly collaborated
in military government and good results were recognized,

From April 1944 to October 1944 the 25th Army was
in charge of the camps because the military situation in the
Indian Ocean grew strained * and one or two of the camps wers
removed inland., Treatment was as before, but it appearea tha
Lt. Col, SATA, who had newly entered the duty, and a few
soldiers and civilians were inattentive becauvse they were
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unaccustemed to the land and the surrounding

situation.

the military government ordered them to sive nerfeet assist-
ance to the interned., About this time economic difficulties

began and the business of the camp grew difficult

to manage,

Officials did their best to get materials and foods and their

efforts were impressive.

Due to shortace of staff, part of
fiiled by native soldiers and Europrean peoplc

guard was
collaborators

were replaced by Japanese or natives as the war situation grew

acute.
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* From October 1944 to the surrender administration
went on as before., With the pressing of the war situation the
authorities established at Shilingolingo and Airupaminke camps
under his charge which held 7,000 internees. The Shilingolingo
Camp was for the male, while the Airupaminke was for female
and children. The former camp was newly built, the latter con-
sisted of farm buildings.

* In both camps living conditions and sanitation were
not satisfactory and the camp for females and children was a
little better. The witness sympathasized with the interned
but the situation was caused by military conditions and could
not be helped.

- When the commander of the 25th Army made an inspec-
tion about June 1945, the witness heard him and Division Com-
mander KUNOMURA talking. The improvement of the camp was the
main subject. Soon after that, Chief of Staff of the 25th
Army, YAHAGI, delivered an address to the officials of the
camp, He made remarks in detail on the treatment of the in-
terned, based upon humanity and international law. He rebuked
inattentions of the officials and showed clearly that the
rules of treatment should be followed. * The orders from
above were thoroughly based on international law and humanity
but the witness admitted that because of inattention. infer-
lor officers were sometimes guilty of not obeying orders.

As a whole, however, the detention camp was in a
satisfactory condition prior to October 1944.

The witness was called a gentleman by all people
when he was in office, and when he left for Javan he was
thanked by an English prosecutor for his treatment of the
Europeans. He heard that Linhare acknowledged at this court
the goodness of his treatment. He owed all of his honor to
the instructions of Division Commander MUTO.

* As military government in Sumatra was performed
by a department of the 25th Army, a Division Commander there
had nothing to do with it, nor had any right to order the
governor of a residency on any matter concerning military
government. Therefore, MUTO had nothing to do with military
government and the detention camp nor had any relations with
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the witness as to order and direction.

. The witness heard that MUTO arrived st h1s Sumatrs
post in the middle of May 1942 and left there early in Octo-
ter 1944, During this time North Sumatra was quiet except
for the food situation, The policy was to have the interned
collaborate in military government. Internment 1ife was
still good. Not long after the witness arrived there he

saw MUTO for the first time.

* In an interview with MUTO on Aungn

s

st 10
told him of conditions which he had discovered for

and which he had learned from his predecessor.

MUTO told the witness that the internaes should he

L |

sympathized with and be looked after with compazsion.

should be prudently located lest natives or
unlawful acts.

On January 25, 1943 the witness called on

E. ‘i:'; .A L -.

set forth a plan to get together at one plac
tered around Tanjong Valley, He planned :o

concerning sanitation.and internment and te has

doctor reside outside the ¢camo to taka care
the internees and natives,

* MUTO looked pleased with these nia

that thej be carried out. The witness added
economical to let the internees be idie wher

ne 1
tion was bad, and MUTO said that since compulsory 1

prohibited by international law, the interne

couraged to work voluntarily. MUTO told the wi

2

let children in the camps play all day but to

books so that they might study.

MUTO said the Army must maintain

but recently there had come variouz kinds cf_ 7
he could not tell what kxind of persons were in th

~ -
Z

- 4 - ey

| i L}

Sy T op e
| L]

age 4280

1942 he
» himself
The wi
requested instructions from MUTO and was told that following
Sumatra's occupation a military officer was 4in charge of
miiitary government. MUTO hoped that the ‘witness, as a
civilian, would do what he believed best, regardless of
precedenés set by soldiers. * He told the witnecs=

could not secure peace withount winning the natives' hearts,
The witness should pay all consideration to this matter.

that he

-------

Camps
soldiers commit
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that if the witness found anyone acting indiser

report it to MUTO, and that all internees
gentlemen.

eetly, he should
should be treated as

* In August 1943 MUTO inspected Nilhelmina Fall and
told the witness that in order to carry out military povernment
successfully, he should be prudent and revise old ways of ad-
ministration. Food is the most important and he should make
efforts to increase food production, but when contrel goes too

far, circulation of food will be hindered and veople's

S produc-
tlve desire oppressed. The economic activity of the Chinese
merchants should be used

and bad Japanese should he expelled.
On Japanese politics, * MUTO said he did not like the righticst

wing. The Japanese must have more univeral interests and ob-
serve the world,

About September 1944, the witness saw MUTO at Kisaran
Assistant Resident'is lodging and he said that Tapan had recent
ly promised Indonesians independence. MUTO was discouraged to
see Sultans clinging to the feudalistic Sultan government, It

was necessary, he said, for the military government to lead
the people well,

While MUTO had nothing to do with the witness concern-
ing command and business systems, the witness vo

luntarily re
quested MUTO to exoress opinions on military povernment. Baced

on such opinions * the witness handied military egovernment for

three yvears with good results and was grateful to MUTO for his
guidance,

* CROSS-EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MUENANE

The witness ststed that the compliment which Major
Linhare had given him was that a civilian named KOSHI, a
resident of Asahan Province, had tried his best to relieve
women internees of their sufferings. The only camps over
which he had control were the seven on the eastern coast.
He did not know a place called Sentar. * As the camps
only a vart of his duties, he could only spend a short time
there but he did visit the Tanjong Valley camnp very frequently
at first, Whenever request came from the camp or oroblems
arose, he personally disposed of such matters, but due to
pressing business later he could not go as often.

In 'l'h*’.“
early stages he went mor

e often than every fortnight,
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The witness stated that he had no knuwledge of evi-
dence given that at Tanjong Valley 1in January 1943 food was
withheld from women internees for two days as punishment, *
When the witness was told that it had been sworn that women
in that camp were forced to sweep village streets, he stated
he had no knowledge of it. He could nelther affirm nor deny
it. With regard to Brastagi Camp, women on account of lack
of food, had broken out of the camp and in a subsequent
Kempei Tai investigation were corporally punished. The wit-
ness stated he had heard the women left camp without author-
ization but he did not know what happened later. He carried
out no investigation concerning the matter. He did not know
any details with respect to Brastagl because it was outside
his jurisdiction. He was resident governor of Asahan only.
He had only mentioned that there was a detention camp at
Brastagi, and when he had referred to the five camps located
in certain cities, he was merely mentioning the fact. Tanjon
Valley alone was under his administration from August 1042

to March 1944,

* While the Tanjong Valley Camp was the only camp
under his control, he has also stated from what he saw and
heard and from what he saw in the other districts during hics

three years there.

The attention of the court was directed to Page
27,532 of the record. Exhibit 3096, a revort to Geneva of
the inspection of the POW camp at Mukden by a Red Cross
delegate, stated that the Mukden Camp had a capacity of 1500
but only 1274 were held there on the date of inspection,
which was 11 November 1943, * They ranged in age from 2]
to 57. The camp was located on a fertile plain outside
Mukden and its total area was 49,330 sq. mirs. It was sur-
rounded by a brick wall with high-tension wire on the top,
The area of the building for use of POWs was 11,550 sq. mtrs,
It was a two-story brick building similar to a barracks and
had a connecting washroom and lavatories, double maned
windows and a wooden floor. In a separate bullding was a
hospital, canteen, storeroom, bathroom, boiler-room. It
was furnished with electric 1lights and heated by brass
pives covered by bricks. The period from 10 November To
20 March, ventilation was excellent and there was a fire ex

tinguisher, *
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The 1iving quarters comprised 3 buildings, each

divided into ten compartments with a capacity of 50. At
oresent there were 42 to 46 men and 16 officers quartered
there., A sleeping kit consisted of a straw mattress,
army blankets, 2 sheets, 1 pillow and 1 pillow case, and
in the summertime a mosgquito net. Orders were translated
into English, Hygienic equipment included a washroom, la-
trine, water taps, Japanese-style lavatories, and bathtubs
. in which 222 bathe every other day, of ficers every day.
Change room for those assigned labor contained water taps,
excellent drainage, flush toilet with lime disinfecticn.

Water was provided from a

The ration in grams was: wheat flour 400, kao-
1iang 80, maize 190, special ration for those assigned labor,
meat or fish meat 52 to 100, fat 295, vegetables including
potatoes 60C, soya beans 200, some apples and oranges,
sugar 60, flavorings such as peonper and soy sauce, 20,
totalling an average of 3800. For the invalid and laborers,
4120 calories; Japanese army 3457 calories,

At lunch time the delegate had vegetable soup,
sweet potato ple, potato-onion-and-bean pie, corn bread,
ordinary bread and kao-liang tea, and all of excellent qua’
ity. Prisoners were satisfied with the food but im a long

" time felt the monotony.

27683 * Personal weight in Dec. 1942 was 64,7 kilos; at
time of inspection 69.1 kilos. There were 48 FOW cooks, 1n
eluding a baker and head cook with 24 years' experilence,

There was a vegetable garden of 5300 sq. mtrs.
and two rooms for storing vegetables. When first quartered
there ware 700 to 800 severely ill. By the efforis of the
Headquarters Kwantung Army, General Army Hospital, and the
Red Cross Hospnital, health was {moroving and the present

conditions were axcellient.

27684 There was a well equipped sickroom 1in the compound
with medical apparatus and other necessities supplied to
army hospitals. Calls to natients were made by doctors

among the prisoners and dentistry could be had at the army
hospital.
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Patients were injected against tyohoid, para-

tyohoid, dysentery and smallpox. Roentgen rays and blood
examinations were avallable, There was a JapanesSé Surgeon,
3 NCO medical orderlles, 3 privates, 5 civilian nurses. g
3 Prisoner doctors included 4 surgeons, medical orderlies, 4
and orivates totalling 29. There was a total number of 69
patients, of which 43 were in the camp hospital for a long
. time. Since the camp's opening the number of dead at Mukden
was 154, The worst month was December 1942, and the death
rate receded after that. Deaths were caused by disease.

¥

Clothing was vprovided for both winter and summer.
Winter clotning consisted of overcoat, boots, wool cowl,
27685 woolen * gloves, SOCKS and underwear., There were also work-
ing clothes. Prisoners broucht their own raincoats and
summer clothing. For launcry, a special washing equioment
with soap was provided. Cfficers were naid the same as
Japanese officers.

Roll call was at 7:00 o'clock and lieghts went out
at 21 o’'clock. Work was voluntary and no work on Sundays
and holidays. It consisted of maintenance and control of
the camps and work shops and the men were paid up to 25 sen
a daye. There was a boct revair shop, 4 cewing machines,

' metal and lumber workshopse

At the canteen, ciparettes, candles, everyday
necessities were sold. Profits were used according to the
prisoners’' wishes, Men were allowed 1C cigarettes a day
and officers more. A recreation rcom was next to the can-
teen,

Special services in English were held every Sunday .

27686 Sports coulcC be played both indoor and outdoor. * Books
and newspaners were orovided. There werée 1TWC phoncgraphs
with records, but no motion pictures nor radios. There was
a great desire for more books, especially technical texts.
The permissible communication per year was for an pfficey?
3 Jetters and 3 cards; a warrant officer 1 letter, 3 cards;
NCO 4 cards; nrivate 3 cards. 20 radiograms were allowed
ner month. Up to 1943 there had been 1620 outpoing letters
and cards and 431 incomlng. According to the American
representative, U,S. POWs recaived no mail after llay 1942,
but 5 answers to cablegrams despatched were received.

27687 They had not been allotted any Red Cross relief goods yet.
but had received ¥ 1500 from the Vatican Missionary tc
buy musical instruments and clothing. From the words o

»

¥
L

' - (-
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the representatives, general conditlions were satisfactory.
Col. MATSUDA showed kindness and on some noints econditions
were better than expected. There were no complaints. Aecord-
ing to the camp chief, there was a lack of discipline be-
cause the POWs had come from different units. There were
160 penalty cases for such things as petty theft and the

breaking of camp regulations. Three deserters were con-
demned to death after being court martialled for murder

and violence.

The delegate inspected a orisoners' ceretery.
On the graves were plain wooden crosses with name, rank,
nationality and identification number.

The general impression the delegate had of the
camp was excellent. There was utmost cooperation from the
Manchurian Red Cross and untold favors from the Kwantung

Army Headquarters.

* Exhibit 3097-A was read in evidence, This was an
excerpt from the Manual of War-time Service. It stated
that it was clear that forces engaged in sacred warfare
should protect the cause of righteousness and not move
without that cause in view of the spirit of the state.

That was the principle on which force was based.

In view of the real meaning of the sacred war,
it was natural that their forces should be ready to succo?
and enlighten POWs, the sick and wounded who had abandoned
resistance * or were incapable of resisting. This was the
case with hostile residents and their nroperties, and much
more so in the case of people and property of the third
power. The righteousness of their forces would be concrete-
1y understood by hostile peoples and third nationals., Their
forces should act not only in accordance with international
1aw and conventions, but should also disnlay initiative.

To meet wartime demands they had made every effort
to maintain discipline in neace time training, but in war-
time they were apt to be less enthusiastic and hesitate
to discharge their duties, allowing their men to make an
excuse for neglecting the strict observance of regulations
and proper dress. * Wartime environment is so different
that they could not be so orderly as in veacetime, but
nevertheless they should expand immaterial demands because
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their forces had received a great number of reservists not
accustomed to military discinline. Roughness of mind and
demoralizing acts and speech are to be found in the battle-
field. As for example, offenses against military discipline
and vicious offenses such as looting and rape. This trend
would be promcted by miserable conditions of the battle-
field, imperfect housing facilities and poor supplies.

To prevent it, a commander should take every oprortunity

to bring home the meaning of the sacred war and to stress
education and training and to control and direct their men
with fairness * and punish them properly. In wartime one

is apt to feel sympathy with his men and subordinate jus-
tice to personal feelings, but such an idea is apt to snread
and a minor offense may be overlooked. These facts create
an unfavorablie environment for maintenance of military dis-
cipline., One must have the spirit to make a sacrifice in
the cause of Jjustice and realize that it is not to love the
men under them so that they are influenced by personal feel-
ings. They should bring about the idea that military dis-
cipline may not be violated with impunity.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF NISHIURA, SUSUMU
BY MR. FREEMAN

The witness identified Exhibit 3098 as his affidavit

and verified it. * The affidavit stated that the witness was
Chief of the Army Affairs Section for the Military Affairs

Bureau from April 20, 1942 to December 1944 and as such was
in charge of the establishment and 1nstitut{on of the army.

He had a thorough knowledge of how the business of training
POWs was allotted in the army, both in principle and in

practice.

*+ After the capture of POWs, they were investipated
and a POW roll and diary was prepared. The POWs were then
delivered to the nearest office of transportation and com-

munication.

An operational commander who wanted to send POVis
to the rear reported to Imperial Headquarters the number
to be sent and Headquarters informed the War Ministry. When
the Ministry received such a report, they advised Head-
quarters as to the ports to which POWs should be sent, and
Headquarters informed the Ministry of the date of thelr
arrival at the place assigned.

In accordance with Headquarters' orders, the
of fice of transportation and communication would escort
POWs to the designated place and deliver them to a receiver
designated by the Ministry. The commander of an operation-
al force would establish a provisional camp to house and
supervise them until delivery.

* After delivery, POWs came under the War Ministry
but before that time their treatment was in the hands of
the operations troops. Any trouble occurring prior to
delivery was out of the War Minister's hands. After the
War Ministry received POWs they were put in a POW Campo
established by the ministry which was supervised by an
Army Commander or Defense Commander designated by him,

Many POW camps were established at the front, in
which case the field commander supervised the camps in his
area under the jurisdiction of the War Ministry. Provi-
sional camps were beyond the Minister's jurisdiction. *
The chief superviser (army or defense commander) in con-
formity with regulations supervised the camps and laid
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down regulations., Business under the War Minister was divided
and assigned to the POW Administration Department. The POW
Department was governed by the regulations concerning the
treatment of POWs and by the Adjutant's Notification and that
of each Bureau in the War Ministry indicated that the chief
business connected with the treatment of POWs and allotted
to the Bureau according to the official system.

. The Administration Department as a chief office
in charge managed matters concerning general nlans of treat-
ment at the front; detentionj supervision; exchange; releasej
27698 employment and punishment. * Also matters concerning POW
1abor and communications of military internees.

The Administration Department was established at
the end of March 1942 1in accordance with regulations. In
past wars the treatment of POWs was allotted to bureaus in
the War Ministry. At the beginning of the last war, it
was thouzht this allotment was practicable but the greatness
in number of POWs and the complicated business of treating
them made it necessary to have an exclusive office managing
such affairs. The Administration Department was established

27699 to meet such demand at the end of March 1942. * The Admin-
{stration Department was the responsible office and was
' on the same level as other bureaus and not in a nosition to
be controlled by the Military Affairs Bureau. During the
witness' tenure as Chief of the Army Affairs Section, he
at no time pgave orders to this devartment for he believed
business concerning POWs should be managed by it.

27700 * fThe main business of which the Bureau of Military
Affairs took charge concerning POWs was to draw up ordin-
ances and organization of POW camps and regulations con-
cerning the establishment and organization of the Adminis-
tration Department and to draft replies of the Vice-Minister
concerning application of the Geneva Convention. There was
also the POW Information Bureau managed by the War Minister
which was an organization established under the Hague Con-
vention and entirely separate from the War Ministry. It
was different from the Administration Department and the
Chief of the Information Bureau was not subject to the Chief
of the Bureau of Military Affairs or other bureaus. Accord-
ing to the Information Bureau's regulations, it had a right
to ask for information from operating forces.
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* The so-called mistreatment of POWs 1n Malay and
Bataan Peninsulas took place during or immediately after the
fighting, and the POWs were not yet under the War Ministry.
POWs engaged in the Tailand-Burma Railway construction were
under the War Ministry. The construction was carried out by
the Commander of the Southern Army by order of the Chief of
Staff. The War Ministry was consulted about this construc-
tion order by the Chief of Staff and various bureaus were
consulted according to the division of business in the
Of ficial System of Organization. The Military Affairs
Bureau took charge of the construction budget; the Mainten-
ance Bureau, communication, materials and labor; and the
POW Administration Department, labor, etec, Each bureau
and department was consulted according to the business in
{ts charge and the Minister and Vice-Minister of War jointly

responsible for the consequences,.

The Southern Area Army undertook to carry out *
the construction work, and the General Staff took the lead
in shortening or lengthening the term of construction,
alleviating transportation facilities and increasing forces,
etc. The Director of Transportation and Communication Bureau
directed the construction work. As the POWs were under the
jurisdiction of the War Minister, he dispatched HAMADA,
Director of the POW Information éureau and Chief of the POW.

» CROSS-EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MORNANE

The witness stated that the Military Affairs Bureau
was divided into a Military Affairs Section and an Army
Affairs Section and in addition had an information unit.

The principal duties of the Army Affairs Sectlon were the
organization of the army, control and supervision of the
budget, and disposition of various army organizations.

With resvect to POWs the Army Affairs Section had
charge of such matters as the drafting of regulations govern-
ing the camps. Regarding the bullding of camos, the policy
was to use buildings existing before the war, and officials
in charge of administration of POW Camps were to select from
such buildings those suitable. * #§ith regard to buildings
sccommodating POWs, such matters were handled by the Build-
ing and Construction Seection of the Intendance Bureau. The
Affairs Section was in charge of camp organizations and



NARRATIVE SUMMARY OF THE RECORD

September 5, 1947
DEFENSE - Div 5, Pacifle

POW

Page 4290

Nishiura - Cross

Page

27705

27707

27708

27709

27710

drafted regulations, but as to general plans, as to the loca=-
tion of the camDS, !hese would be drawn up by the Administra-

tion Bureau within the 1imits of such plans.

*# Then the Affalrs section would draft regulations
for the campS. Tt did nothing further toward organizing
them, With regard to POWs, the Military Affalrs Section had
the closest connection with problems of jnternational law and

s and he didn't think the Military

regulations concerning POW
Affairs Section had anything else to do with POWs.

* Up to the time poWs were sent toO the rear and report

made to Headquarters as to their number, the person in charge
ns who was responsible for them.

der of oneratio
o the rear and dispatch them as

to send them 1
ances permitted. The manner in which they

The policy was
for the Administration Division.

soon Aas circumst
were treated was not a matter

* The witness stated that he was familiar with regu-

1ations for the treatment of POWS jssued March 31, 1942 which
] n Division shall be established

lative to treatment of pris-

oners of war and civilian {nternees in the theatre of war.
The witness stated that he believed the original phrasing
was "civilian internees in the thaatre of war and prisoners
of war" and Wwas different from the present jnterpretation.

The Administration Department handled only POWs under the
} r POWs were nod under the direct control

Ministry of ¥ar. -
of the War Minister, they would not be under the Administra-

tion Department,

* The witness stated that he had not said the POW
Information Bureal was not related to the War Ministrye.
He had said 1t was an entirely different organization. The
Administration Department was one of the bureaus constitut-
ing the War Ministry, but the Information Bureau did not
constitute such a denartment but was a separate entity. The
witness stated that it was correct that the Information

Bureau which was managed by the war Minister was estab-

1ished in accordance with the Hague Convention and entirely
t it was entirely

separate from the Ministrye. * He mean
separate because the Administration Department was a bureau
r and he had compared the

constituting the Ministry of Va
Information Bureau with that department's status. He stated
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that the Chief of the Information Bureau and the Chief of the
Administration Department were the samé man. At. first, the
Chief was Celonel HANADA and he was succeeded by Colonel
NINOMIYA. They would be under the control of the accused SATO
as Chief of the Military Affairs Bureau. Complaints as to
breaches of international conventions and such f#om the Swiss
or other protecting powers would go to the Military Affairs

Bureau. *

Some complaints came directly as reference to the
Military Affairs Bureau from the Foreign Office, but he did
not know which came directly as he had nothing to do with
such matters, He thought that for the most part, protests
were handled directly by the Information Bureau. He did
not know when they would come through the Ministry of War
frem the Information Bureau. * He could not tell where
requests by protecting powers to visit prisoner of war camps
were addressed, nor who handled requests to be allowed te
visit the camps as he was not concerned with such matters.

e CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BROOKS

The witness stated that the official organization
of the War Ministry may have had minor revisions * 4n 1935
but there were major revisions 1n 1936. When handed Exhibit
74, which listed the Intendance Bureau as one of the seven
bureaus of the War Ministry, the witness explained that this
was the sams as the Bureau of Accounts mentioned im his
Affidavit. * Exhibit 74 did mot refer to the War Ministry
organization prioer to 1936 * but the witness' testimomy Te-
ferred to the periods as the revision in 1935 and 1936.
After that the Army Affairs Section had genmeral control over
budgetary matters. * The witness stated that he did not
know whether all the employees of the Information Bureau
and Admimistration Bureau were the same, but he did know
that the primcipal staff members were the same, He was not
familiar with the particulars or details of the expenditures
of funds from the bureaus, but knew that employees and staff
members were not having salariles duplicated. He thought the

funds were the same,
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27723 * The witness identified exhibit No. 3099 gs his
27729 affidavit and ve

ment. Concerning this problem, MUTO insist
26730 *ment f .

27731

rified it. * The affidavit stated that in
July, 1944, the witness arrived at

Manila as Stafr Officer
of the 14th Army. When the Shimbu Group under that army
was formed at the close of that year, he was ordered
attached to it, and until the surrender was éngaged in the
campalgn east of Manila. As senior staff officer, his
main duty was to control o

perations and rear service. ‘When
he arrived at his post, the commander was General KUKODA,
who was succeeded by YAMASHITA in October, 1944.

U. S. landings in Leyte started on October 18
and two days later Chief of Staff MUTO

arrived. Serious
study was given as to whether Manila should be defended
to the 1last. YAMASHITA decided

ed on abandon-
his opinion to YAMASHITA.

The air commander gave strict instructions
forbidding harm to the citizens o

r putting any building
to warfare use, except simple works for air defense and

self-defense were permitted at McKinley barracks, and on
buildings near the seashore, Preparatory works for

destruction of three bridges were permitted to prevent
the enemy from using them.

The witness endeavored, as the
staff officer left behind east of Manila, to have his
forces-thoroughly understand these instructions, At a
meeting of staff officers and

ad jutants at Montalban the
middle of January, he communicated it to th
that even if it s

hould handicap them, they
realize the inten

The commander of the Shimbu Group * also attached
Importance to the commander's intention,

and gave instruc-
tions early in January, emphasizing that since the world
was watching the action at Manila th

€y were required to
maintalin striect discipline and behave Justly.

The Manila forces, suffering from surprise attacks,
were in chaos, owing to guerrilla activities, panic stricken
refugees, confused commissary units, hospitals. etc, which

still remained unarmed in the city. The Shimby Headquarters
at Montalban tried to obtain information, but could not

ascertain actual conditions because of deficient communicg-
tions. On February 18 them came to confirm the general

ined uncertain for them.

progress of battles, but details rema
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27732 * Liaison men sent did not return. YAMASHITA
was strict as to discipline. To avoid trouble with the
people he ordered the troops, including those stationed
in towns as well as the new reinforcements from Japan, to
restrain themselves from using private buildings, and to
make it a rule to stay in camp. He confirmed this when he
sent them to the place concerned and used barracks, or those
similar to them, as hils residence to set an example. They
were reguired in general to pay the people for foodstuffs,
utensils, etc., they had used, and where necessary to give
an I1.0.U. and obtain their consent. When the group ran

27733 out of provisions in May, 1945, * the witness saw the com-
mander order his troops by bulletin to carry out YAMASHITA's
instructions., and commanders under him gave similar orders.

In pureing and suppressing guerrillas, he in-
structed the army to discriminate between guerrillas and
neaceful people, to avoid mistaking one for an enemy. For
this purpose, "armed guerrilla" definitely 1indicated
suppressive overations.

Instructions to the inhabitants on how to
escape from war disasters were put in writing, and arr-
angements made after escape to prevent them from being
mixed witk the troops. In Manila, staff officers of
defense headquarters who had experience in taking care of
the citizens in the past remained behind to prevent mis-

understanding.

27734 * In the middle of December, 1944, when a U. S.
attack against Luzon was indicated, divisions concerned
were instructed to deliver POWs and internees peaceably
to the U. S. on arrival and to have them carry provisions
for one month and escort them agpainst bandits. The Shimbu
Group delivered 4,000 in NManila and St. Tomas, and 3,000 in
L.os Barnios to them.

On the evening of February 3, when Manila was
surprised by U. S. Filipino forces and the camp beseiged
by tanks, the head of the camp, to avoid spread of dis-
aster to the internment buildings, mustered his staff and
negotiated with the U. S. Army. The U. S. Army proposed
that they would comply with the delivery of the internees,
the Japanese should be disarmed. The camp head said that
although his main duty would end with the peaceful delivery

27735 of internees, they would not surrender, * and that elther
they would remove to Japanese positions in arms, or fight
to the death.
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After more negotiations and as representatives
~f the internees gave the U. 5. advice, saying that the
Japanese had looked after them well, the U. S. Army replied
they would comply with the Japanese proposal and led the
way to a safety zone. The camp head ordered his men in
full arms, had them put the camp buildings in order, and
departed. For fear of surprise attack by the U. S. Army
after leaving the gate, they prepared to fight, but the
U. S. colonel who guided them warned the Japanese against
misunderstanding by the U. S. troobvs, and told them to
walk along either side of the road. At the head of them
he led them outside U. S. dispositions.

27717 * Since the Los Banos district was located far
from Shimbu Groun Headquarters, there was misunderstanding
due to communication difficulties. About the middle of
January the camp head tried, without permission, to free
the internees and retreat. The commander ordered him to
protect them in safety and supply them with food until the
arrival of the U. S. Army. The camp head again took them
to the former place, and when the U. 5. forces arrived
proposed their delivery by messenger. This was accom-
plished by setting them free. Lack of preparations for
the operations, and especially inferior wireless equipment,
complete command of the air in the daytime by the U. S.,
tpaffic difficulties, and the disorder of their forces,

27738 * which had been hastily formed. and the abrupt joining
of air and naval forces with no former connection with
them, prevented the getting of available reports. They
had read after the end of the war for the first time that
as early as February 4 or 5, U. 5. forces had advanced to
the southern side of Manila. It was beyond their imagina-
tion that an accident occurred in Yanila and Batangas
districts. They received no report on such a matter, nor

made any.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. TAVENNER.

27739 * When asked if it were not a fact that instead
of settine POWs free, they were rescued as a result of an
attack, the witness stated that he didn't know what happened

27740 at the end. That was from a report. * When asked 1f he
didn't know that parachute troops, amphibious landings, and
puerrilla activities had joined in attack on the camp, the
witness stated that he had never before heard of the airborne
attack. From other reports he heard that many craft went

from Lake Laguna to Los Banos.
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When asked if he didn't know that advanced units
of the U. S. penetrated Japanese lines and seized the camp,
the witness stated that he testified accordins to a report
from the.camp to the effect * the camp had been encircled
by the U. S. but that without fighting and through negotlia-
tions. the transfer of internees was effected. He had not
received reports that the camp had been surrounded as a
result of battle or seized.

Attention of the Court was called to exhibits
No. 1365 to 1378, 1412 tc 1414, 1422, 1438-A, 1438-B, and
1439 to 1447.




NARRATIVE SUNMMARY OF THE RECORD

Page 4296

September 5, 1947
DEFENSE - DIVISION V - Pacific

POW - YASUDA - Direct

Page

27743
27744

27745

27746

DIRECT EX VINATION OF YASUDA, TSUNEO,
by Mr. Freeman.

* The witness identified exhibit No. 3100 as his
affidavit, and verified it. * The witness stated that he
1jonel attached to the Southern Army

was in Singapore as a co
ber 1942 to July 5, 1944, and

Vedical Department from Octo
was in charge of medical and sanitary affairs under General

AOKI. Medical Department Chief.

During the construction of the Burma-Thailand
Railway, the witness stressed the importance of sanitation
measures, and that the success of construction depended
on sanitary conditions. TERAUCHI paid special attention to

this, and the witness made every effort to investligate
sanitation and prepare for it before and after the gstarting
hiefly at malaria, cholera, dysentery

of construction, aiming ¢
and black plague. + He sent a medical captain with the
surveying Corps to the area at the end of 1942, to study

sanitary conditions an
definite measures. In January, 1943, Dr. OMORO, of the
Research Institute on Tropical Yedicine, was sent as an
aguthority on the ¥alaria-mosquito, who was a non-regular
civilian official attached to the army, and with 11 others
went both to Thailand and Burma to investigate malaria in
the construction areas. More effective prevention and

extermination of malaria was based on their reports.

Investigations were carried on with the water
purification coOTrpS at the area, and also the

other diseases and the water

To enforce sanitation, the main

hody of the water supply and purification department, and

the majority * of the medical services attached to the army,
formed the medical unit of the rallway corps attached to

the raillway construction unit. Despite careful investigation
and vwreparations, the ralny season cet in a month earlier
than expected, before foodstuffs, drugs, and medicines were
sufficiently accumulated. The construction ways were turned
into a quagmlre, and traffic came almost to a standstill.
Cholera broke out among the natives, and found its way to

the Thailand construction district and became mOTeE prevalent.
It reached its peak in June, 1943, and defied the devoted
efforts which were handicapped by the traffic situation.

The Medical Der~artment Chief went to the area and took over
the supply of medicines from the Army reserve stocks.

supply and
prevention of malaria and

supply was jnvestigated.
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* Medical personnel were sent to the area to
check the diseases. The situation was reported to TERAUCHI,
and construction work was suspended in an effort to stamp
out the epidemic. The fact that malnutrition, dysentery,
malaria, and tropical ulcer increased as the work progressed
miecht be thought to have been the result of bad sanitary
conditions by the rainy season, as well as the dearth cf
foodstuffs. Against the epidemic, the medical services
activities and the supply of drugs were stimulated, and
the supply of essential foodstuffs and of mosquito nets
and blankets were attempted to be obtained, but the
situation could not be easily improved because of trans-
portation difficulties.

CROSS-EXANINATION BY COL. MORNANE.

* The witness stated that hz advised the Southern
Army Headquarters before POWs were sent tc Burma and
Thailand of the danger from sickness and disease. The
witness knew that it would be difficult to provide adequate
sanitation in the jungle. The witness did not know that
in spite of that Headquarters sent the prisoners to the
jungle. The witness was interested to get reports as to
the sickness and death rate on the railway. He conveyed
important parts of such reports to Headquarters. Adeguale
medical supplies alone was not necessary; food supplies were
more important., He pointed out to Headgquarters that deaths
were due to lack of food and medicines.

The witness stated that deaths occurred as early
as October., 1942, * but he recalled that sanitary conditions
prior to that veriod were comparatlively good. The wilness
did not know that at one camp 130 of 675 were 1l1ll. He never
visited camps on the railway.

Attention of the Court was called to exhibits No.
1561 to 1659, 1574 and 1579, and testimcny at pages 13003
and 11411.
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF KODAMA, KYUZO,
by Mr. Freeman.
27751 * The witness jdentified exhibit No. 3101 as his

27752 affidavit and verified it. * The affidavit stated that the
witness served as Chief of the Military Service Section of
the Military Affairs Bureau from March 1940 to June, 1944,

The duties of the Section concerned military discipline,

. punishment, regulations of various sorts, proper duties of

soldiers, etc.

27753 * Since discipline was the backbone of the army ,
the forces as well as the central authorities concentrated
their efforts on its enforcement. A1l division commanders

in the homeland, as well as staff chiefs and officers of
home forces, wWere annually called to Tokyo for instructions
through the three heads of the Army, who always laid special
stress On discipline. sometimes stafil chiefs were called

+o a specilal meetineg. Primary importance was attached to
strengthening command power as the basis of discipline. By
emphasizing this it was possible to keep the army from
possible misbehavior and to improve the characters of those
committing such acts.

In wartime, moTe immediate and concrete measures

. were taken to prevent misconduct resulting from abnormal

27754 circumstances *x at the front, as well as lowered moral

standards of the troops from the i{ncrease 1in personnel.
The enforcement of discipline and raising of morale were
emphasized 1n all manuals. The training manual requires
soldiers, from +heir start for the front, to be careful
about discipline and set an example to the natives in
fighting areas, to heighten Japanese prestige. Both
officers and men were glven necessary training in inter-
national law and regulations. Teaching concerning the
Red Cross Treaty was given in Manual No. 60, and the law-
text for the M{litary Academy Preparatory School dealt
with Land Warfare Regulations.

27755 * So that laws and regulations would be observed,
concrete jnstructions were given on the action of a sentry,
instructions concerning billeting, requisitioning of

materials, and the treatment of POWs. The central author-
jties did not receive formal information concerning cases
appearing before military tribunals. Consequently, their
measures WwWere not usually adequate for the actual cases to
wrich they were aotually applied.
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27757

27758

In view of the prolonged warfare and declined
character and intellicence of the troops, the principles
regarding education, control and guidance were given, and
attention was called to them and other measures taken. The
Wartime Service Manual was distributed to offlcers as a
reference and guide book during front line service. 1Its
compilation was carried out in 1938 by the Inspector-
General on the basis of experience gained through service

abroad.

Military Discipline and Morale Investigation
Corps were sent out for investigation and guidance. Staff
members of the central authorities were ordered in 1939 to
make ar inspection tour in Ckina for two months. On their
return, central authorities gave all units a guide to
enforcement of discipline and morale, and adopted measures
to enhance recreation facilities and replacements.

Articles brourht from abroad on the return of
soldiers and civilians were strictly inspected by every
unit at every port of embarkati-n, as well as the home
unit. to discover and prevent h-eaches of discipline and

plunder.

* Copies of instructions to the men at the front
were distributed in 1941 to heighten morality. As the war
was prolenged, the fear of the decline of morality and
possible plundering and violations came to be felt. To
meet the situation, the instructions was compiled and
distributed in the name of the War Minister. A copy was
carried by every man always, and by respectfully reading it
he exerted himself to comply with its teachlngs.

In 1942, part of the Army Criminal Code was
revised, and necessary provisions were added in relation
to military offenses to strengthen discipline. In this
change. the crime of rape at the front was prescribed as a
erime for which prosecution may be instituted without
complaint by the injured party Central authorities gave
strict warnings against private punishment, and applied
it to the treatment of POWs and the natives, as well as to

Japanese.

* Care was taken to prevent offenses and crimes
against natives. A special term for this was invented, and
a statistical study of such crimes and misdeeds made, to
which the attention of every unit was called.
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27759

The Military Administrative Order was revised in
August, 1943. An 1ltem was added that the order applied to
forces at the front and regiment commanders, and it was
stated they should give lessons and guidance to subordin-
ates about the treatment of natives.

To improve the minds of soldlers who had become
dissipated through long service and dangers, adequate
consideration was taken to afford convenliences for the
forwarding of letters from their homes, the sending out of
entertainment and comforts, and the promotion of recreation

facilities.
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY COLONEL MORNANE.

* The witness stated that tte punishment of POWs
was in the province of the Military Affairs Bureau. The
Service Rureau had no conrection with it. He had no positive
recollection whether the camp commander had authority to
punish POWs. By saying his duties covered matters concerning
military discipline, the witness meant that when punishment
was dealt out for violation of regulations, reports made to
the Forei-n Minister passed through his section.




